# UC Merced UC Merced Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

Role of HCV F/ARF protein and NAD(P)H oxidases in the RIG-I/MDA5-mediated interferon response in hepatocytes

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0ct40789

Author Park, Seung Bum

**Publication Date** 2015

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, MERCED

### ROLE OF HCV F/ARF PROTEIN AND NAD(P)H OXIDASES IN THE RIG-I /MDA5-MEDIATED INTERFERON RESPONSE IN HEPATOCYTES

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Quantitative and Systems Biology

by

Seung Bum Park

Committee in charge:

Professor Patricia LiWang

Professor David Ojcius

Professor Masashi Kitazawa

Professor Kirk Jensen

2015

Copyright

Seung Bum Park, 2015

All rights reserved

The dissertation of Seung Bum Park, titled Role of HCV F/ARF protein and NAD(P)H oxidases in the RIG-I/MDA5-mediated interferon response in hepatocytes, is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication on microfilm and electronically:

Chair		Date
	Professor Patricia LiWang	J
	Professor David Ojcius	Date
Advisor		Date
	Professor Masashi Kitaza	wa
		Date
	Professor Kirk Jensen	

University of California, Merced

2015

Dedicated to My Parents

For Their Unconditional Support and Love

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	viii
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xi
List of Abbreviations	xii
Acknowledgements	xvi
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 HCV History	1
1.2 HCV Biology	3
1.2.1 HCV Genotypes	3
1.2.2 HCV Genome Organization	4
1.2.3 HCV Replication Cycle	
1.2.4 HCV Transmission	12
1.2.5 HCV Treatment	13
1.2.6 Translational Frameshifting	15
1.3 Type I Interferons	16
1.3.1 Type I Interferon Gene Induction	17
1.3.2 Induction of Interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs)	17
1.3.3 Role for Adaptive Immune Response	18
1.3.4 Antiviral Pattern Recognition Molecules	19
1.3.5 HCV Factors for Inhibiting Type I Interferons	22
1.4 Frameshift / Alternate Reading Frame Protein (F/ARFP)	
1.4.1 Discovery of Alternate Reading Frame Protein	24
1.4.2 Different Forms of Alternate Reading Frame Protein	
1.4.3 Conservation of ARFP among HCV Strains	
1.4.4 Properties of Alternate Reading Frame Protein	
1.5 Nox/Duox Enzymes	28
1.5.1 Nox/Duox History	

1.5.2 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	. 31
1.5.3 Biological Functions of Nox/Duox Enzymes	. 33
1.5.4 General Mechanisms of Oxidant Signaling	. 36
1.5.5 Antiviral or Proviral Activities of ROS	. 37
CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 38
2.1 HCV Constructs and Mutagenesis	. 38
2.2 Transfection, Virus infection, and Tissues	. 41
2.3 Determination of Viral and Cellular RNA Levels	. 42
2.4 Western blot, ELISA, and Immunofluorescence Staining	. 45
2.5 Frameshift Reporter Assays	. 45
2.6 Nox Enzyme Activity Assays	. 47
2.7 Luciferase assays	. 47
2.8 Subcellular Fractionation	. 47
2.9 Small Interfering RNA (siRNA)	. 48
2.10 Statistics	. 48
CHAPTER 3 ROLE OF HCV F/ARF PROTEIN IN THE RIG-I/MD MEDIATED IFN RESPONSE IN HEPATOCYTES	)A5- . 49
3.1 Introduction	. 49
3.2 Results	. 51
3.2.1 Suppression of Type I IFN Responses by HCV F/ARFP	. 51
3.2.2 Type I IFN Induction by HCV PAMP through RIG-I	. 53
3.2.3 Suppression of Interferon Stimulated Genes (ISGs), Pro-inflamma Cytokines by HCV F/ARFP	itory . 54
3.2.4 Suppression of Type III IFN by HCV F/ARFP	. 56
3.2.5 Effects of HCV Core versus F/ARFP on IFNβ1 mRNA Elevation by HUTR	1CV 57
3.2.6 Detection of HCV F/ARFP in Human Liver	58
3.2.7 F/ARFP Level Comparison between Human Liver Samples and pH/ transfected Huh7 Cells	А-F- . 60
3.2.8 NS2, NS4B Expression in Huh7.5 Cells with HCV WT and Mutants	. 61

3.2.9 Full-length JFH1 Alternate Frame Mutants and the Stability of Stem L V and VI	oop 62
3.2.10 JFH1 $\Delta$ and $\Delta$ 4 Replication Measured by Intracellular HCV RNAs	. 64
3.2.11 JFH1 $\Delta$ and $\Delta$ 4 Replication Measured by Minus Sense HCV RNAs	. 66
3.2.12 F/ARFP Signal Comparison between JFH1wt and Mutant	. 68
3.2.13 IFN Induction by the Full Length JFH1 F/ARFP Mutants	. 69
3.2.14 IFN Induction in Huh7 Cells Infected by the JFH1 Mutants	. 70
3.2.15 Role of RIG-I Signaling Pathway	. 71
3.2.16 Antiviral Function of IFN and the JFH1 F/ARFP Mutants	. 73
3.2.17 Trans-complementation of JFH1Δ4 with HCV F/ARFP	. 74
3.2.18 HCV F/ARFP Translocation by Poly(IC) Stimulation	75
3.3 Discussion	. 76
CHAPTER 4 ROLE OF NAD(P)H OXIDASES IN THE RIG-I/MD MEDIATED IFN RESPONSE IN HEPATOCYTES	A5- . 79
4.1 Introduction	. 79
4.2 Results	. 81
4.2.1 Nox/Duox mRNA Induction by Poly(IC)	. 81
4.2.2 Nox4 Protein Induction by Poly(IC)	82
4.2.3 IFN $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ mRNA Level in DPI Treatment	. 83
4.2.4 IFN $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ mRNA Level in Nox1 siRNA Transfected Huh7 Cells	. 84
4.2.5 Nox5 mRNA Level in HCV Transfected Huh7 Cells Treated with IF IFNγ	Να, 86
4.2.6 Upregulated HCV Replication by Nox1, Nox4 Knockdown	87
4.3 Discussion	. 88
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION & FUTURE DIRECTIONS	. 90
5.1 Conclusion & Future Directions	90
5.2 References	. 93

### Abstract

### ROLE OF HCV F/ARF PROTEIN AND NAD(P)H OXIDASES IN THE RIG-I /MDA5-MEDIATED INTERFERON RESPONSE IN HEPATOCYTES

Seung Bum Park

Doctor of Philosophy

University of California, Merced

2015

#### Advisor: Prof Masashi Kitazawa

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a major health problem which is affecting more than 170 million people worldwide. About 80% of HCV-infected patients develop chronic infections because they cannot clear the virus. Chronic infections increase the risks of progressing to severe liver diseases such as cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. HCV has several strategies to evade host interferon (IFN) responses. In this study, we hypothesize that a novel HCV viral protein, frameshift/alternate reading frame protein (F/ARFP) from HCV -2/+1 frame, contributes to the suppression of retinoic-acidinducible gene-I (RIG-I)-mediated IFN induction. We found that F/ARFP suppressed type I IFN induction stimulated by HCV RNA pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP) and synthetic double stranded RNA poly(IC). This suppression occurred independently of other HCV viral factors such as nonstructural protein NS3/4A. Point mutations in the full-length HCV sequence for introducing premature termination codons in the -2/+1 frame enhanced type I IFN induction. Taken together, we suggest that HCV F/ARFP suppresses type I IFN responses mediated by RIG-I. Additionally, we investigated the role of NAD(P)H oxidases (Noxs) in type I IFN pathway. Nox family enzymes function as important sources of regulated production of reactive oxygen species in cell signaling and regulation of gene expression. However, much remains to be investigated how Nox enzymes contribute to the immune response against virus infection. In this study, among seven members of Nox family, we hypothesize that Nox1 has a role in type I IFN pathway. We observed that the mRNA levels of Nox enzymes including Nox1, Nox4, Nox5, Duox1, and Duox2 were elevated by poly(IC). We showed that poly(IC)-triggered IFNB1 mRNA induction was suppressed by DPI, a flavoprotein inhibitor, in Huh7 hepatoma cells. Further study suggested that Nox1 siRNA-transfected Huh7 cells decreased poly(IC)stimulated IFNB1 mRNA induction in Huh7 cells. Moreover, HCV replication was increased by Nox1 and Nox4 knockdown by corresponding siRNAs. Taken together, these data suggest that Nox1 may modulate type I IFN pathway. Therefore, our study may provide new insights into how HCV evades the host innate immune response and how Nox enzymes function as antiviral agents and points to possible new drug target for therapy.

# List of Figures

3 4
4
11
23
24
28
31
39
52
53
s in 55
ells. 56
by 57
59
-IA- 60
nts. 62
nts. 62 em 63
nts. 62 em 63 As. 65
nts. 62 em 63 As. 65 As. 67
nts. 62 63 As. 65 As. 67 68
nts. 62 em 63 As. 65 As. 67 68 70

Figure 3-15. Role of RIG-I in the modulation of IFNβ1 by HCV -2/+1 frame mutants. 72
Figure 3-16. Antiviral function of IFN and the JFH1 F/ARFP mutants 73
Figure 3-17. Effects of HCV core versus F/ARFP on IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA elevation by JFH1 $\Delta$ 4. 74
Figure 3-18. HCV F/ARFP translocation by poly(IC) stimulation
Figure 4-1. Nox/Duox mRNAs are increased by poly(IC)
Figure 4-2. Nox4 protein is increased by poly(IC) in Huh7 cells
Figure 4-3. IFN $\beta$ mRNA level is decreased with DPI treatment
Figure 4-4. Type I IFN and proinflammatory cytokine modulation by Nox1 protein
Figure 4-5. Nox5 mRNA induction in JFH1 transfected Huh7 cells treated with IFN $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$
Figure 4-6. HCV replication is increased by Nox1, Nox4 knockdown

# List of Tables

Table 2-1. JFH1 constructs.	40
Table 2-2. List of qRT-PCR	43
Table 2-3. Frameshift signal sequences in frameshift reporter constructs	46

## **List of Abbreviations**

HCV: Hepatitis C virus;

IFN: Interferon;

F/ARFP: Frameshift/alternate reading frame protein;

RIG-I: Retinoic acid-inducible gene I;

PAMP: Pathogen-associated molecular pattern;

Nox: NAD(P)H oxidase;

FDA: Food & Drug Administration;

CDC: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention;

AIDS: Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome;

HIV: Human immunodeficiency virus;

SVR: Sustained virological response;

DAA: Direct-acting antiviral drug;

IRES: Internal ribosome entry site;

UTR: Untranslated region;

SL: Stem loop;

RdRp: RNA dependent RNA polymerase;

NLS: Nuclear localization signal;

SR-BI: Scavenger receptor class B type I;

HVR: Hypervariable region;

ER: Endoplasmic reticulum;

TRIF: TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-β;

PKR: Protein kinase RNA-activated;

DC-SIGN: Dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing nonintegrin;

ICAM-3: Intercellular adhesion molecule-3;

L-SIGN: Liver/lymph node-specific ICAM-3-grabbing integrin;

LDL-R: Low-density lipoprotein receptor;

ASGP-R: Asialoglycoprotein receptor;

CLDN1: Claudin-1;

OCLN: Occludin;

eIF: Eukaryotic initiation factors;

ELISA: Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay;

RIBA: Recombinant immunoblot assay;

NAT: Nucleic acid testing;

IDU: Injection drug use;

ALT: Alanine transaminase;

NIH: National Institutes of Health;

RF2: Release factor 2;

NK: Natural killer;

PRR: Pattern recognition receptors;

MDA5: Melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5;

cGAS: Cytosolic GAMP synthase;

IRF: IFN-regulatory factor;

IKKε: IκB kinase-ε;

TBK1: TANK-binding kinase 1;

JAK1: Janus kinase 1;

TYK2: Tyrosine kinase 2;

STAT1: Signal transducer and activator of transcription 1;

ISGF3: Interferon-stimulated gene factor 3;

ISRE: IFN-stimulated response elements;

ISG: IFN-stimulated gene;

MHC: Major histocompatibility complex;

LCMV: Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus;

MCMV: Mouse cytomegalovirus;

RLR: RIG-I-like receptor;

CARD: Caspase recruitment domains;

- IPS-1: IFN-β-promoter stimulator 1;
- TLR: Toll-like receptor;
- LRR: Leucine-rich repeats;
- TIR: Toll/IL-1R homology;
- cDC: Conventional dendritic cell;
- pDC: Plasmacytoid dendritic cell;
- IRAK: IL-1R-associated kinase;
- TRAF6: TNFR-associated factor 6;
- NF-κB: Nuclear factor-κB;
- DAI: DNA-dependent activator of IRF;
- STING: Stimulator of interferon genes;
- NLR: NOD-like receptors;
- SOCS3: Suppressor of cytokine signaling-3;
- ATP: Adenosine triphosphate;
- ABC1: ATP-binding cassette transporter subfamily A;
- ROS: Reactive oxygen species;
- Duox: Dual oxidase;
- Phox: Nox of phagocytes;
- SOD: Superoxide dismutase;
- MPO: Myeloperoxidase;
- PTP: Protein tyrosine phosphatases;
- PTEN: Phosphatase and tensin homolog;
- MAPK-P: Mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatase;
- NOS: Nitric oxide synthase;
- FPR: Formyl peptide receptor;
- fMLF: N-formyl methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine;
- TNF: Tumor necrosis factor;
- EGF: Epidermal growth factor;

VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor;

FGF-β: Fibroblast growth factor-β;

FA: Focal adhesion;

FAK: Focal adhesion kinase;

CGD: Chronic granulomatous disease;

GSH: Glutathione;

Keap1: Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1;

Nrf2: Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2

VSV: Vesicular stomatitis virus;

EF: Elongation factor;

HA: Hemagglutinin;

qRT-PCR: Quantitative real time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction;

GAPDH: Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase;

RIPA: Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer;

PI: Propidium iodide;

HDAC1: Histone deacetylase 1;

siRNA: Small interfering RNA;

NLRC5: Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptor family CARD domain containing 5;

FH: Fetal hepatocyte;

DPI: Diphenylene iodonium;

AEC: Airway epithelial cells;

RSV: Respiratory syncitial virus;

DENV: Dengue virus;

## **Acknowledgements**

I would like to thank Prof. Marjorie Zatz (Vice Provost and Graduate Dean) and Prof. Juan Meza (Dean, School of Natural Sciences) for the support for my graduation. I thank Prof. David Ojcius, Prof. Masashi Kitazawa, Prof. Patricia LiWang, and Prof. Kirk Jensen for the support for my graduation and for serving as my committee members. I thank Prof. Jinah Choi for the financial support and advice. I also thank Calvin Ly for technical assistance in the lab. Finally, I would like to thank all the professors and my colleagues who supported me in the University of California, Merced.

## CHAPTER 1

### INTRODUCTION

My research during my Ph.D is divided into two main projects. In the first project, we hypothesize that F/ARFP may contribute to the suppression of the type I IFN induction. The study objective is to determine the biological function of the HCV -2/+1 frame, focusing on F/ARFP, using virus-producing JFH1 cell culture system. In the second project, we hypothesize that Nox1 functions as an antiviral regulator in type I IFN pathway. The study objective is to determine the biological function of the Nox enzymes, focusing on Nox1, using virus-producing JFH1 cell culture system. Therefore, as background information, HCV history and biology will be discussed in the beginning. Then, type I interferons will be covered because the first project is about the role of viral factor, HCV F/ARFP, in the type I IFN pathway and the second project is about the role of host factor, Nox1 enzyme, in the type I IFN pathway. Next, F/ARFP and Nox enzymes will be discussed in turn.

#### 1.1 HCV History

In the 1970s, it was noticed that there is an unidentified agent causing transfusion-associated non-A, non-B hepatitis. [1] However, the cause of the non-A, non-B hepatitis was not defined until 1989 when Choo et al. isolated a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. [2] This group constructed random-primed complementary DNA library from non-A, non-B agent containing plasma. They showed that the complementary DNA clone was not derived from host chromosomal DNA, but from an RNA molecule in non-A, non-B hepatitis patient's blood samples.

After HCV was discovered, the Food & Drug Administration (FDA) approved the first HCV treatment in 1991. [3] Although interferon alpha (IFN- $\alpha$ ) was already used for treatment of chronic non-A, non-B hepatitis in 1986 [1], the first-ever treatment for HCV was approved in 1991 and this was not an effective method to clear the virus from patients.

The two major avenues for HCV infection world-wide are associated with contaminated blood products through blood transfusions and drug injections. The United States began screening the blood supply from 1990 to prevent HCV from spreading further and believes that the HCV was removed from all blood banks by 1992.

According to Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), HCV infections have continuously declined since the HCV was discovered in 1989. In less than 10 years after the discovery, the annual number of new HCV infections had decreased by more than 80 percent. [4] The CDC pointed out that the reason for the dramatic decline in less than 10 years was due to new infection control practices and Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) education. Although HCV infection rates continuously declined, deaths due to HCV outnumbered deaths due to human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in 2007 in the United States. [5]

Until 2011, the standard of care was a combination of pegylated interferon alpha and ribavirin. The combination of pegylated interferon alpha and ribavirin achieved a sustained virological response (SVR) of about 50%. However, SVR rates are dependent on different genotypes thus having differing values. For this reason, there has been a high demand for improving SVR rates. [6] From 2011, in addition to pegylated interferon alpha and ribavirin, two NS3-4A protease inhibitors (PIs) were added to the standard of care (Figure 1-1). Telaprevir and boceprevir are first-generation NS3-4A protease inhibitors that are effective against genotype 1. This increased SVR up to 60-70%. [6] Recently, new direct-acting antiviral drugs (DAAs) targeting not only HCV nonstructural protein, NS3, but also nonstructural proteins such as NS5A and NS5B were introduced as a new HCV treatment and this shows promising results. Daclatasvir, ledipasvir, and ombitasvir are examples of NS5A inhibitors. Sofosbuvir and dasabuvir are examples of NS5B inhibitors. [6]



Figure 1-1. Changes in standard of care for HCV.

#### 1.2 HCV Biology

#### 1.2.1 HCV Genotypes

In the early 1990s, it was noticed that there was genetic heterogeneity of HCV and a number of different methods were employed to classify different variants of HCV. [7], [8] To study the epidemiology, evolution, and pathogenesis of HCV, it is important to classify the HCV genotypes. For instance, different genotypes react differently to interferon alpha treatments. Therefore, knowing genotype-specific differences is the beginning to understand and deal with HCV.

Currently, HCV is divided into six major genotypes. There are four determination factors to classify genotypes of HCV. 1. To identify three coding regions, core, E1, and NS5B of HCV 2. To align sequences with representative sequences from each genotype 3. Highest percentage of similarity gives tentative clade assignment 4. To analyze using DNADIST of Phylip (Kimura 2-parameter), bootstrap to confirm. [9]



Figure 1-2. HCV genotypes and distribution.

Genotypes differ from each other by about 30% at the nucleotide level. Although there is some extent of heterogeneity of HCV, there are also conserved regions of the HCV genome within genotypes. The 5' untranslated region and the terminal 99 bases of the 3' untranslated region are the most conserved regions. However, the most variable region of the HCV genome is the hypervariable region of E2. [10] The VIIIth Report of the International Committee for the Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) classifies HCV and GB virus B as members of the *Hepacivirus* genus in the virus family, *Flaviviridae*. [11] ICTV divides 6 different groups of HCV and designates them as clades.

As for the geographical distribution of HCV genotype, genotype 1a is widely distributed in Northern Europe and USA (**Figure 1-2**). Genotype 1a distribution is believed to be associated with injection drug use. On the other hand genotype 1b is the most common genotype worldwide. It is found from older age people. Genotype 2a, 2b, 2c is found predominantly in older HCV infected individuals from Mediterranean countries and Far East. Like genotype 1a, genotype 3a is also widely distributed in injection drug users from Europe. Genotype 4a is found in Middle East and the distribution of this genotype is believed to be strongly associated with past medical treatment against the parasitic disease. Genotype 5a is found commonly only in South Africa. Finally, genotype 6a is distributed in injection drug users in Hong Kong, Vietnam, and more recently in Australia. [11]



#### 1.2.2 HCV Genome Organization

**Figure 1-3. Hepatitis C virus genome organization.** The 5' UTR contains an internal ribosome entry site (IRES). The structural proteins are core, E1, and E2. The non-structural proteins are NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B. HCV open reading frame encodes the single long polyprotein which is cleaved by cellular signal peptidases (indicated by black triangle) and by viral proteases (indicated by red and blue triangles). Core needs to be cleaved by cellular signal peptide peptidase for maturation. The junction between NS2 and NS3 is cleaved by NS2 autoprotease, while rest of the other junctions are cleaved by NS3 and NS4A. The core-coding region also produce alternate reading frame proteins by ribosomal +1 frameshifting. UTR: untranslated region.

HCV belongs to the flaviviridae family which is divided into three genera: flavivirus, pestivirus, and hepacivirus. Yellow fever virus is the type virus of flavivirus genus. On the other hand, bovine virus diarrhea and hepatitis C virus are the type viruses of pestivirus genus and hepacivirus genus, respectively. [12]

Flaviviridae family share basic structural features. They all have envelopes which are composed of a lipid bilayer. Inside the lipid bilayer envelope is the nucleocapsid which is composed of capsid protein. The flaviviridae genome is a positive stranded RNA found inside the nucleocapsid. The genome size of the flaviviridae family viruses ranges from 9.6kb to 12.3kb. [13]

HCV is a 9.6kb positive-stranded RNA virus which encodes about 3,000 amino acids polyprotein precursor. HCV RNA genome is flanked by untranslated regions (UTR), 5' UTR and 3' UTR which are important for polyprotein translation and RNA replication (**Figure 1-3**). [14] The 5' UTR of HCV is 341 nt long and is the most conserved region of the genome. [15] The 5' UTR contains six secondary structure domains which are termed stem loops (SLs). Among these, SLII, SLIII, and SLIV make up an internal ribosome entry site (IRES) which is important for the translation of HCV RNA. [16] In addition, a liver-specific microRNA, miRNA-122, is known to bind to SLI so that the interaction regulates HCV replication and translation. [17]–[20]

The 3' UTR is approximately 225 nt long and is composed of three different regions; a variable region of approximately 30-40 nt, a long poly(U/UC) tract, and a highly conserved 98 nt long 3' X tail. [21] The 3' UTR is also known to be essential for HCV replication. [22]–[25] Cheng et al. showed that the 3' UTR interacts with the NS5B RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) and this result suggests the potential role for RNA replication. [26] Specifically, the 3' X tail region and the 52 upstream nucleotide of the poly(U/UC) tract were considered to be important for RNA replication and the remaining sequence of the 5' UTR seems to be involved in viral replication enhancement. [22], [24], [25], [27]

HCV RNA encodes 3,000 amino acids long polyprotein precursor which is encoded by the single open reading frame. During and after translation, the long polyprotein precursor is processed by cellular and viral proteases to form three structural proteins (core, E1, and E2), p7, and six nonstructural proteins (NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B). The cleavage sites for host signal peptidases are located in between core-E1, E1-E2, E2-p7, and p7-NS2. The viral protease, NS2/NS3, cleaves in between NS2-NS3 and another viral protease, NS3/NS4A, cleaves in between NS3-NS4A, NS4A-NS4B, NS4B-NS5A, and NS5A-NS5B. For core maturation, the host signal peptide peptidases cleave the C terminus of core sequence to make 21kDa protein. [28]

Core is 191 amino acids long and is 23 kDa. Although core size varies from 17 kDa to 23 kDa, the form considered the predominant one is 21 kDa. [29] Core is a nucleocapsid protein and is important for the production of Core is involved in RNA binding, infectious viral particle. [30], [31] oligomerization. Core protein contains three distinct domains, an N terminal hydrophilic domain (120 amino acids), a C terminal hydrophobic domain (50 amino acids), and a signal peptide for the downstream envelope protein E1. [32]–[34] The N terminal hydrophilic domain contains many positive charges so that it can bind to negatively charged HCV RNA. It has been shown to have the nuclear localization signal (NLS) which allows core proteins to translocate into the nucleus. [35]-[37] The core proteins localized in the nucleus interact with nuclear molecules and may regulate the expression of cellular genes. It was shown that HCV core protein interacts with p300/CBP and enhances NF-AT1 transcriptional activity. [38] A C terminal hydrophobic associates with endoplasmic reticulum membranes, domain outer mitochondria membranes, and lipid droplets. [35], [39] Core protein has been suggested to interact with many cellular proteins that are important for the viral lifecycle. [40] It promotes hepatocyte growth in Huh7 hepatoma cells by transcriptional upregulation of growth-related genes. [41] It may also be involved in tissue injury and fibrosis progression. [42] The ARFP is encoded and produced by ribosome shifting within the core sequence. [43]

E1 and E2 are 33-35 kDa and 70-72 kDa glycoproteins, respectively. [44] E1 and E2 are on the HCV viral envelope and function as ligands for host cell receptors such as CD81, scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI) [45], [46] They both are heavily glycosylated with up to 5 and 11 glycosylation sites, respectively, and form a heterodimer. In addition, E2 contains hypervariable regions which differ up to 80% between HCV genotypes and subtypes in a same genotype. [47] Hypervariable region 1 (HVR1) is considered as a major neutralizing epitope. [48], [49] Although the HVR1 sequence is varied from different genotypes, the overall properties and conformation of the HVR1 are highly conserved. This suggests that HVR1 is a critical component for HCV lifecycle. [50] E2 has an important role in the early stages of virus infection since E2 is implicated in the interaction with one or more host receptors. [51], [52] Compared to E2, much more research is required for E1 to understand its biological functions. E1 is believed to play an important role in intracytoplasmic virus membrane fusion. [51], [52]

p7 is a 63 aa long integral membrane protein. [53] The p7 protein is a hydrophobic calcium ion channel protein which has two transmembrane domains spanning the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane. [53] It is known that p7 protein is not required for HCV RNA replication, but it is important for producing infectious viruses which demonstrates a possible role of p7 in viral assembly and release. [54]–[56]

NS2 is 21-23kDa protein which is anchored in the ER membrane. [57] NS2 contains two internal signal sequences required for ER membrane association. [57], [58]. The C terminal of NS2 and the N terminal of NS3 contains protease domain that comes together to form a catalytically active

protease that cleaves in between NS2-NS3. [59], [60] NS2 has a short halflife and loses its protease activity soon after it is cleaved from NS3. NS2 is degraded by the proteasome in a phosphorylation-dependent manner. [61] NS2 can also interact with host cellular proteins such as the liver-specific proapoptotic CIDE-B protein, but little is known about its biological function with or without host cellular proteins. [62] Like p7, NS2 is not required for HCV RNA replication, but is important for producing infectious viral particles. [56], [63]

NS3 is a 69kDa protein and functions as a serine protease. Together with NS4A, NS3 cleaves in between NS3-NS4A, NS4A-NS4B, NS4B-NS5A, and NS5A-NS5B. A serine protease domain of NS3 is approximately a third N terminal and a helicase/NTPase domain is about two-thirds C terminal. [64]-[66] NS4A is a cofactor of NS3 protease activity. The central region of NS4A functions as a cofactor and allows its stabilization, localization at the ER membrane, etc. [67]-[69] In addition to the protease activity for HCV polyprotein itself, NS3/NS4A cleaves out the critical mediator of retinoic acidinducible gene I/melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 pathway, MAVS, from the mitochondria. It also suppresses the toll-like receptor 3 pathway by degrading of another important mediator, TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- $\beta$  (TRIF). [70]–[72] Therefore, NS3/NS4A protease functions not only for HCV polyprotein itself, but also for the critical host cellular mediators in innate immune pathway. The 442 C terminal amino acid region of NS3 protein functions as a helicase/NTPase. The NS3 helicase/NTPase has several activities such as RNA-stimulated NTPase activity, RNA binding activity, unwinding of RNA secondary structure. [73], [74] As a result, unlike p7 and NS2, NS3 is required for HCV RNA replication. [75], [76] In addition, it is involved in viral assembly. [77]

NS4B is an integral membrane protein which is 261 amino acids long and is localized in an ER or ER-derived membrane. [78], [79] NS4B contains at least four transmembrane domains and an N-terminal amphipathic helix which is involved in membrane association [78]–[80] NS4B serves as a membrane anchor for the replication complex and is responsible for the production of the membranous web which is considered to be the HCV RNA replication site. [80]–[82] It also appears to suppress cellular syntheses and modulate HCV NS5B RdRp activity. [83]–[85]

NS5A is a 56-58 kDa phosphorylated zinc-metalloprotein that has a critical role in virus replication and regulation of various cellular pathways. The first 30 amino acids of NS5A N-terminal region contains an amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helix that is involved in membrane localization as well as in assembly of the HCV replication complex. [86]–[88] The fact that mutations in the NS5A sequence suppresses HCV replicon RNA replication suggests the critical role of NS5A in HCV RNA replication. [87], [89] Evans et al. showed that NS5A hyperphosphorylation disrupts the interaction with hVAP-33 and suppresses HCV RNA replication in the replicon model system. [90] Another study suggests that the NS5A phosphorylation status has an crucial role for the HCV life cycle through regulating replication complex from replication to assembly,

whereby hyperphosphorylated NS5A maintains the replication complex in an assembly-incompetent state. [91] In addition, NS5A can bind to NS5B, but the underlying mechanism how NS5A regulates NS5B RdRp activity remains to be elucidated. [92] Like NS3/NS4A protease, NS5A appears to suppress interferon pathway through binding to and inhibiting protein kinase RNA-activated (PKR) which is a critical antiviral molecule in the type I IFN pathway. [93]

NS5B is a 68kDa protein and is a RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. The C-terminal region of NS5B has an  $\alpha$ -helical transmembrane domain. This domain is important for post-translational targeting to the cytosolic side of the ER, where the functional part of the protein is exposed. [94], [95] Like NS5A, NS5B also interacts with a number of cellular proteins. The C-terminal region of NS5B can bind to the N-terminal region of hVAP-33, and this interaction results in the formation of the HCV replication complex. [95], [96] In addition, NS5B appears to bind cyclophilin B, a cellular peptidyl-prolyl cistrans isomerase that is critical for the efficient HCV replication. NS5B interacted with cyclophilin B shows efficient replication activity through enhanced its RNA binding activity. [97]

#### 1.2.3 HCV Replication Cycle

HCV virion contains a single-stranded RNA genome inside the nucleocapsid which is composed of core protein. HCV virion size varies from 50 to 80 nm in diameter. The nucleocapsid is surrounded by the lipid bilayer which is embedded with E1 and E2 glycoprotein. [98], [99] The schematic flow of HCV replication cycle is shown in **Figure 1-4**.

There are several cell surface molecules that have been suggested to mediate HCV attachment and entry. CD81 is the most extensively studied cell surface molecule that is a 25 kDa and belongs to the tetraspanin or transmembrane 4 superfamily. [46] HCV E2 glycoprotein is believed to interact with CD81. Flint et al. showed that aa 480-493 and 544-551 in the truncated soluble form of E2 is involved in the binding to CD81. [100] In addition, another study suggested that aa 613-618 and the two HVRs (aa 384-410 and 476-480) are responsible for the binding. [101]

The scavenger receptor B type I has been proposed as another receptor for HCV attachment and entry. [45] SR-BI is a 509 as glycoprotein and is expressed at high levels in hepatocytes and steroidogenic cells. [102], [103] A recombinant E2 glycoprotein of HCV genotypes 1a and 1b were shown to interact with HepG2 human hepatoma cells that do not express CD81. [45] However, antibody neutralization against SR-BI did not result in complete suppression of binding. This suggested that SR-BI is not the only cell surface molecule involved in HCV attachment. [104] The dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN) and the liver/lymph node-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3 (ICAM-3)-grabbing integrin (L-SIGN) are another candidates for HCV entry. [105]–[108] Ludwig et al. showed that both DC-SIGN and L-SIGN capture HCV pseudo-particles through E2 binding and induce a rapid internalization of virus-like particles. [109] However, this was not observed from another study. [107]

The low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R) delivers lipoproteins into cells via receptor-mediated endocytosis. [110] It has been reported that virus-like particles bound with LDLs entered into cells via the LDL receptor. [111], [112] This suggested the potential role of LDL-R for HCV attachment and entry.

Besides the previous receptors, the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGP-R) has been also proposed to mediate binding and internalization of structural HCV proteins expressed in a baculovirus system. [113] A ubiquitously expressed cell surface molecule, glycosaminoglycan, claudin-1 (CLDN1), and occludin (OCLN) are also known to function as receptors for HCV entry. [114]–[116]

Once HCV virion is bound to its corresponding receptors, clathrinmediated endocytosis occurs. [117] For fusion, a low pH is required in endosomes. [118], [119] HCV envelope glycoprotein E1 may function as a fusion triggering peptide because sequence analysis predicts the existence of a fusion peptide in its ectodomain. [51], [52] Although E1 is a good candidate for a fusion peptide, E2 is suggested as another candidate for a fusion peptide because it also shares structural homology with class II fusion proteins. [120], [121]

HCV RNA is translated from an IRES located in 5' UTR after HCV RNA is liberated into the cytoplasm. [122] IRES spans domains II to IV of the 5' UTR and the first nucleotides of the core-coding sequence. The IRES mediates cap-independent internal translation of HCV polyprotein by cellular proteins such as eukaryotic initiation factors (eIF) 2 and 3 and viral proteins. [123]–[125] The IRES forms a stable pre-initiation complex with 40S ribosomal subunit without several translation initiation factors that are necessary for canonical translation. [126], [127] HCV proteins appear to downregulate IRES translational efficiency. Core, NS4A, and NS4B are the examples. [84], [128] Additionally, the HCV 3' UTR may also affect IRES-dependent translation, but this is controversial. For example, one study showed that the IRES-mediated translation efficiency could be enhanced by the HCV 3' UTR, while another study suggested that the IRES-mediated translation efficiency was unaffected by the HCV 3' UTR. [129], [130]

HCV RNA encodes a 3,000 amino acids long precursor polyprotein that is targeted to the ER membrane. The internal signal peptide located between the core and E1 sequences guides the precursor polyprotein to the ER membrane. A host signal peptidase first cleaves the signal peptide and generates the immature form of the core protein. [131] The signal peptide is

then further processed by a host signal peptide peptidase that is located in the ER membrane to yield the mature form of the core protein. [89] The host signal peptidase also cleaves the junctions in between E1-E2, E2-p7, and p7-NS2 in the ER lumen. The NS2/NS3 autoprotease cleaves out NS3 from NS2. NS3 and NS4A form a serine protease to catalyze cis-cleavage at the junction of NS3-NS4A and trans-cleavage at all the following downstream junctions. [132] The cleavage at the junction of NS2-NS3 cleavage is required for producing infectious viral particle. [133], [134]

It is known that a positive-stranded RNA virus rearranges intracellular membranes to form a replication complex. The HCV NS4B protein appears to induce the generation of a membranous web which is believed to be the HCV replication complex. [81], [82] The membranous web is derived from ER membranes. Shi et al. showed that HCV replication occurs in detergentresistant membranes such as lipid raft domains. [135] Supporting this, lipid rafts are suggested to be implicated with the HCV replication complex. [96], [135], [136] The membranous web contains a number of small vesicles embedded in a membranous matrix, forming a multiprotein complex that has all of the nonstructural HCV proteins inside. [81] HCV replication is catalyzed by the NS5B RdRp. The positive strand RNA serves as a template to generate a negative strand RNA. The negative strand RNA then serves as a template to produce a number of the positive strand RNAs that are used for translation and progeny virus particle assembly. It is known that domain I of the 5' UTR, the 3' UTR, and the 3' end of the HCV NS5B-coding region are involved in the HCV RNA synthesis. [137] During HCV RNA replication, the NS3 protein is believed to function as a helicase to separate nascent and template RNA strands and unwind of RNA secondary structures. In addition, it is also capable of nucleic acid binding and 3' to 5' translocation coupled to hydrolysis of ATP. [138] The NS5A phosphoprotein consists of three domains. [139] Domain I and II are important for RNA replication and domain III is involved in viral assembly. [140], [141] Besides viral factors, liver-specific host microRNA miR-122 is shown to be implicated in efficient HCV RNA replication. [17], [142] Also, miR-122-HCV RNA complex is suggested to protect the 5' UTR from recognition by pattern recognition receptors such as RIG-I. [143]

HCV particle packaging seems to be induced by interaction of the core protein with HCV RNA. Supporting this, core is shown to bind positive-stranded RNA via stem-loop domains I and III and nt 23-41. [144], [145] Therefore, it may be possible that the core-RNA interaction plays an important role to turn on the HCV life cycle switch from replication to packaging, and vice versa. The N-terminal region of the core protein is responsible for capsid assembly, particularly the two clusters of basic residues. [146]–[150] Kunkel et al. showed that the core proteins efficiently self-assembled in the presence of a nucleic acid in bacterial systems. [149] In addition, the fact that the HCV envelope glycoproteins E1 and E2 associate with ER membranes suggests that virus assembly happens in the ER. [151] In the later steps, both ER and Golgi apparatus are involved in the HCV assembly because HCV structural proteins were found both in the ER and the Golgi apparatus. [152]



**Figure 1-4. HCV replication cycle.** HCV particle first interact with host receptors at the cell surface and enters into the cell by the receptor-mediated endocytosis. The HCV RNA is then released into the cytoplasm after HCV glycoprotein-mediated membrane fusion. The HCV RNA is translated to produce a single long polyprotein that is processed into 11 mature viral proteins. The HCV RNA is replicated and newly synthesized RNA is packaged into nucleocapsids. The mature virion is released from the cell.

#### 1.2.4 HCV Transmission

Even after the discoveries of the hepatitis A virus and hepatitis B virus, not all of the strains of viral hepatitis were explained by these two viruses. Originally the third form of viral hepatitis was termed as non-A, non-B hepatitis. Later, it turned out that the major cause of non-A, non-B hepatitis resulted from HCV. After HCV was identified, methods for screening HCV in the blood supplies were developed. Initially, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) was used until the introduction of recombinant immunoblot assay (RIBA) to screen for HCV in blood supplies. [153] These newly developed methods of screening resulted in the decrease of infection risk in 2002 from 7.7% to a 1 in 276,000 in blood transfusion. [154]

During an acute phase of infection, HCV RNA is present up to 6 weeks before anti-HCV antibodies are generated. Therefore, the screening tests using antibodies during this period show false negatives. Due to this, nucleic acid testing (NAT) was developed and used in developed countries to screen HCV in the early 2000s. [154] Newer screening methods with better approaches have dramatically lowered transmission of HCV after blood transfusions.

Transmission of HCV in low-income countries is still high in contrast to the rate of transmission in developed countries. [155] HCV transmission can be caused not only by whole blood transfusion, but also by blood products such as anti-D immune globulin. For example, administration of contaminated batches of anti-D immune globulin to Irish women caused hepatitis infection outbreaks with known dates of transmission, which enabled long-term evaluation. [156]

In resource-limited countries, iatrogenic HCV transmission is one of the main routes of HCV transmission. For example, Egypt has the highest HCV prevalence worldwide at 14.7% among people aged from 15 to 59. [157] It is widely believed that HCV transmission during the 1960s and 1970s were due to reusable syringes and multiple dose vials used to treat schistosomiasis, a parasitic disease. [158] Even now in present day, the main important route of HCV transmission is due to reusable syringes in countries where resources for disposable materials are limited. [159]–[161]

Worldwide, approximately 16 million people practice injection drug, a practice that is universally considered an important route of HCV transmission. [162] Conversely, iatrogenic and blood transfusion HCV transmission rate has declined as the rate of HCV transmission via injection drug use has become the main source of HCV transmission in developed countries.

In European Union countries, the prevalence of HCV ranged from 30 to 95% among injection drug use (IDU) males and 48 to 94% among IDU females. In addition, for gender unspecified group, the prevalence ranged from 33 to 98%. [163]

HCV transmission among heterosexual couples is rare, but it is now increasingly recognized among homosexual couples who have sex with men. [164]–[168] Terrault et al. studied 500 HCV-positive, HIV-negative individuals and suggested that the risk of heterosexual HCV transmission is about 1 per 190,000 sexual contacts. [169] However, the risk of HCV transmission in homosexual male couples were at a higher percentage.

The risk of HCV transmission from infected mothers to their child has been estimated to approximately 4-7%. However, mothers who are co-infected with HIV have a two to four fold higher risk when compared to HCV infection only. [169]–[171]

#### 1.2.5 HCV Treatment

In the early period of HCV treatment history, IFN $\alpha$  alone was used to treat HCV infected patients. However, IFN treatment had some disadvantages such as side effects and the relatively low rate of SVR. The SVR rate to 24 weeks of IFN $\alpha$  only treatment was 6% and 48 weeks of IFN $\alpha$  only treatment slightly increased the SVR rate to 13-19%. [172], [173] The SVR rate showed some level of variation between HCV genotypes. HCV genotype 1 was harder to treat because the SVR rate for HCV genotype 1 was 2% with 24 weeks treatment and 7-11% with 48 weeks treatment. Therefore, people tested to increase the dose of IFN $\alpha$  and extend the treatment period to have a better SVR rate. However, trials for improving the SVR rate were not promising and encouraging, which resulted in the increasing demand for another antiviral agent. The nucleoside analogue ribavirin was started to use because of low effectiveness of IFN $\alpha$  only treatment.

In the early 1990s, some Swedish scientists tested ribavirin for the patients with chronic hepatitis C and observed that serum alanine transaminase (ALT) levels were significantly decreased for the patients with ribavirin only treatment. However, within 6 weeks of stopping treatment, ALT levels returned to baseline levels. [174] There was another study from National Institutes of Health (NIH) testing the effect of ribavirin treatment on HCV patients. [1] The patients with chronic hepatitis C were administered with ribavirin for 6 months and showed that serum ALT levels were decreased like in the Swedish study. But the ALT levels gradually returned to baseline levels with the exception of one patient. It was shown later that ribavirin has a modest temporary antiviral effect on HCV when it is treated alone. [175]

The result of ribavirin monotherapy led Swedish and Italian scientists to test combination therapy of both IFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin for patients with chronic hepatitis C. [1] The combination therapy was definitely effective because both patients who did not respond to IFN $\alpha$  monotherapy and who relapsed after cleared HCV RNA and achieved SVR after 24 weeks of the combination treatment. [1] As a result, the combination of IFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin was approved as the standard-of-care treatment for chronic hepatitis C in 1999.

Soon after the combination therapy was administered, the need for longlasting IFN $\alpha$  rose because IFN $\alpha$  could not maintain as an active molecule in a body for long time. [175] Therefore, a polyethylene glycol moiety was attached to IFN $\alpha$  molecule and generated two kinds of pegylated-IFNs (IFN $\alpha$ 2a and IFN $\alpha$ 2b). These showed approximately 75 and 30 hours halflives, respectively. The combination of pegylated-IFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin then became the new standard-of-care treatment for chronic hepatitis C.

Development of cell culture systems for productive infection of HCV has significantly advanced the field of molecular virology of HCV. The resolution analysis of the three-dimensional structure of HCV enzymes also allowed to identify the multiple steps of the HCV lifecycle as well as the multiple targets for drug discovery. As a result, two first-generation HCV NS3/4A protease inhibitors, telaprevir and boceprevir, were approved by FDA in 2011. These drugs were approved to use with pegylated-IFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin for the treatment of chronic HCV genotype 1. [176], [177]

Both telaprevir and boceprevir are oral drugs and act on HCV NS3/4A protease. [1] They both covalently binds to NS3/4A, but boceprevir forms a covalent but reversible complex with NS3/4A. Subsequently, both drugs potently suppress HCV replication, but chances to have resistance-associated variants rise when either drugs is used alone. Therefore, both agents are used with pegylated-IFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin, but regimens for telaprevir and boceprevir are different. Telaprevir is administered to patients for the first 12 weeks with pegylated-IFNa and ribavirin, followed by 12 to 36 weeks of pegylated-IFNα and ribavirin without telaprevir. However, for the case of boceprevir, patients are treated with pegylated-IFN $\alpha$  and ribavirin alone for the first 4 weeks, followed by up to 44 weeks of boceprevir, pegylated-IFNa, and ribavirin. Both agents, on the other hand, have some side effects such as anemia. It may be due to the combined effects of pegylated-IFNa, ribavirin and telaprevir (or boceprevir) on erythropoiesis. However, further studies should be performed to better define the effects of the NS3/4A protease inhibitors. [178] Soon after, second-generation NS3/4A protease inhibitors were developed to use for all genotypes. These second-generation NS3/4A protease inhibitors are not only effective against all genotypes, but also have less chances to have resistance-associated variants compared to first-Simeprevir and paritaprevir, the second-generation generation agents. NS3/4A protease inhibitors, were approved by the FDA in 2014. [6]

Another type of drugs such as nucleotide analogues, non-nucleoside inhibitors, and NS5A inhibitors emerged as alternatives for the NS3/4A protease inhibitors. [1] Nucleotide analogues are incorporated into the newly synthesizing HCV viral RNA and terminate the elongation acting on the HCV RdRp. Nucleotide analogues are effective against all genotypes and show less chances of rising resistance-associated variants. An example of nucleotide analogues is sofosbuvir which was approved by the FDA in 2014. [6] Non-nucleoside inhibitors for HCV RdRp bind to the enzyme and thus blocking its catalytic function. Currently, non-nucleoside HCV RdRp inhibitors are limited to use against genotype 1 and have a low barrier to resistance. Dasabuvir is an example of non-nucleoside HCV RdRp inhibitors. [6] Finally, NS5A inhibitors bind to NS5A protein and block its function to regulate HCV replication. [179] NS5A inhibitors not only suppress HCV replication, but also inhibit assembly and release of viral particles. [180], [181] Daclatasvir, ledipasvir, and ombitasvir are examples of NS5A inhibitors. [6]

#### 1.2.6 Translational Frameshifting

Translational frameshifting is an alternative translation process that occurs rarely. In a conventional translation process, a protein is translated from the 5' end of an mRNA to the 3' end of the mRNA continuously. As a result, the protein is translated from the mRNA template with continuous blocks of 3 nucleotides that are read as one amino acid each. However, in some cases, ribosome changes the frame either 1 or 2 nucleotides in the leftward or rightward direction. This event can be programmed by the specific mRNA nucleotide sequences. The secondary or tertiary structures of mRNA may also affect to the translational shifting.

Compared to frameshift resulting from mutation, frameshift resulting from ribosomal frameshifting is controlled by a number of mechanisms. The most prevalent ribosomal frameshifting is the simultaneous slippage mechanism of -1 frameshifting. Sequence comparisons analysis revealed that there is a common structural motif for this mechanism. This is a heptameric sequence with X-XXY-YYZ (X, Y, Z can be any nucleotide), shown as codons in the upstream zero sequence. The simultaneous slippage frameshifting does not happen efficiently at all at the heptameric sites because the ribosome does not stall long enough for frameshifting to occur. In this frameshifting by forcing the ribosome pause at the heptameric sites. [182]–[184] It is shown that pseudoknots appear 6 nt downstream of the heptamer. [184] Although some pseudoknots can pause the ribosome, they do not stimulate frameshifting. [182]

Frameshifting reading +1 direction occur less common compared to -1 frameshifting. This +1 frameshifting by tRNA slippage, however, is found in many different species such as bacteria, yeast, and mammalian cells. [185]–[188] The prfB gene is the typical model of +1 frameshifting. This

frameshifting happens when a peptidyl-tRNA is bound to the ribosomal P site and the A site is empty, and the ribosome needs to pause at the frameshifting site. In prfB gene translation, if peptide release factor 2 (RF2), the protein product of prfB, is limiting, a UGA termination codon is not recognized at a high rate so that +1 frameshifting occurs. On the other hand, if RF2 is abundant, the UGA termination codon is recognized at a high rate so that translation terminates at the site and the +1 frameshifting does not happen. This is how RF2 level is autogenously controlled by frameshifting. [187], [189], [190]

There is another +1 ribosomal frameshifting. In this +1 frameshifting independent of tRNA slippage, frameshifting occurs during AGU codon decoding. The frameshifting site is the seven nucleotide sequence GCG-AGU-U. [186] In this frameshifting, instead of reading AGU codon, GUU codon is read after +1 frameshifting occurs. tRNA slippage is not involved in this mechanism since the tRNA to decode GCG could not base pair with the CGA codon. [186] This suggests that this frameshifting mechanism must not be related to peptidyl-tRNA slippage. [186] On the other hand, the frameshift mechanism for the production of the mammalian ornithine decarboxylase antizyme seems to be similar to this +1 ribosomal frameshifting. [185]

Another unusual frameshifting mechanism is translational hopping. This occurs during the bacteriophage T4 topoisomerase gene expression. [191], [192] When a peptidyl-tRNA<sup>Gly</sup> dissociates from a GGA codon and reassociates with a second GGA codon 50 nt downstream, translational hopping happens. [192] Three conditions are necessary for this frameshifting to occur, an in-frame UAG termination codon, a hairpin loop right next to the GGA codon, and a 14-amino acids sequence of the hopping site. The role of an in-frame UAG termination codon appears to be pausing the ribosome with the GCA in the P site. The other two conditions may be required to detach and/or reassociate the peptidyl-tRNA.

#### 1.3 Type I Interferons

Among three distinct interferon families, the type I IFN family is composed of 13 IFN $\alpha$  subtypes (14 in mice), 1 IFN $\beta$  subtype, and other poorly defined type I IFN subtypes such as IFN $\epsilon$ , IFN $\tau$ , IFN $\kappa$ , IFN $\omega$ , IFN $\delta$ , and IFN $\zeta$ . [193] The type II IFN family encodes one gene product, IFN $\gamma$ , which is mostly produced by T cells and natural killer (NK) cells. On the other hand, the type III IFN family includes four distinct subtypes, IFN $\lambda$ 1 (IL-29), IFN $\lambda$ 2 (IL-28A), IFN $\lambda$ 3 (IL-28B), and IFN $\lambda$ 4. [194], [195] These are known to function like the type I IFNs, but their activity is limited because their receptor is predominantly expressed only on the epithelial cells. [196] Therefore, immune cells are not responsive to IFN $\lambda$ . [196], [197] The type I IFN family is best characterized by their antiviral activity. This comprises inducing an antiviral state in both virus-infected cells and uninfected neighboring cells. Besides this, the type I IFNs mediate the innate and adaptive immune responses controlling viruses as well as bacterial infection.

#### **1.3.1 Type I Interferon Gene Induction**

Most of cells in the body produce the type I IFNs and the type I IFN gene induction results from the recognition of pathogens such as viruses and bacteria by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). PRRs such as RIG-I and melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5 (MDA5) recognize RNAs derived from pathogens in the cytosol. Other cytosolic receptors that recognize foreign DNAs also induce the type I IFNs. These include DNA-dependent activator of IFN-regulatory factors and the recently identified cytosolic GAMP synthase (cGAS). [198], [199] In addition, NOD1 and NOD2 can also detect nucleic acids and induce the type I IFN genes. [200]–[203] TLRs, on the other hand, are localized on the cell surface or in the endosomal compartments. TLR3, TLR7/8, and TLR9 recognize dsRNA, ssRNA, and unmethylated CpG DNA, respectively. [204]

Downstream pathways from the PRRs mentioned above, all deliver signals to a couple of important transcription factors such as the IFN-regulatory factor (IRF) family. IRF3 and IRF7 are the fundamental transcription factors that stimulate the expression of the type I IFNs. The early stage of the type I IFN gene induction, IFNβ and IFNα4 genes are induced by IRF3. Subsequently, IRF7 is activated by the initial IFN production such as IFNβ and IFNα4 and results in the expression of more potent IFNα subtypes. [205], [206] It is believed that NF-κB is required as a cofactor in this pathway. [206] For the phosphorylation of IRF3 and IRF7, which is necessary for their activation, the kinases IkB kinase-ε (IKKε) and TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) are responsible. Upstream of IKKε and TBK1, IPS-1 mediates signals from the cytoplasmic PRRs such as RIG-I and MDA5 to activate TBK1, whereas STING delivers signals from the cytosolic DNA sensors. [199] TLR3 uses TRIF to activate TBK1, but other TLRs such as TLR7 and TLR9 rely on another adaptor molecule MyD88 instead of TRIF.

#### 1.3.2 Induction of Interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs)

All the type I IFNs bind to a receptor that is composed of the subunits IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. Once activated, IFNAR signals to the receptorassociated protein tyrosine kinases Janus kinase 1 (JAK1) and tyrosine kinase 2 (TYK2). Activated JAK1 and TYK2 phosphorylate signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) and STAT2 molecules resulting in the dimerization and nuclear translocation after interacting with IRF9. The heterotrimeric complex of STAT1, STAT2, and IRF9 is called the interferonstimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) complex. ISGF3 then translocates and binds to IFN-stimulated response elements (ISRE) in IFN-stimulated gene (ISG) promoters to induce the expression of ISGs. [207] In addition to the STAT1-STAT2 heterodimer pathway, there is another pathway mediated by the STAT1-STAT1 homodimer. STAT1 homodimer binds to  $\gamma$ -activated sequences. [207] Moreover, IFN $\alpha/\beta$  can also utilize other STATs such as STAT3, STAT4, STAT5A, and STAT5B. This diverse downstream pathway may result from the need to induce the broad range of genes including genes that encode not only antiviral effectors, but also antibacterial effectors, proapoptotic and anti-apoptotic molecules, and so on. [208]

#### 1.3.3 Role for Adaptive Immune Response

The role of IFNa/ $\beta$  is not restricted to the intracellular antiviral response. IFNa/ $\beta$  function on both the innate and adaptive immune response. IFNa/ $\beta$  influence myeloid cells, B cells, T cells, and NK cells that ultimately support to resolve viral infection through enhancing immune response. It is shown that IFNa/ $\beta$  are involved in the adaptive immune responses by either activating dendritic cells or inhibiting these cells upon different circumstances. [209]–[212] Specifically, IFNa/ $\beta$  may activate immature dendritic cells by inducing the cell-surface expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules and co-stimulatory molecules. These include CD80 and CD86 that are required for T cell stimulation. [213]–[215] IFNa/ $\beta$  also help dendritic cells to cross-present antigens from viruses such as vaccinia virus and lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV). [216]–[218] In addition, IFNa/ $\beta$  promotes the migration of dendritic cells to lymph nodes, leading to T cell activation. [219], [220]

IFN $\alpha/\beta$  can also directly affect to both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. Their functions include inhibition or stimulation for T cell proliferation, IFN $\gamma$  production, and memory development. It seems that these effect is controlled by differential activation of STAT molecules.

NK cells are also regulated by IFN $\alpha/\beta$ . IFN $\alpha/\beta$  stimulate the function of survival of NK cells similarly to T cells. During both influenza virus and vaccinia virus infections, IFN $\alpha/\beta$  are necessary for the production of cytolytic effector molecules and IFN $\gamma$ . [221], [222] However, during mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection, IFN $\gamma$  is not produced by IFN $\alpha/\beta$  stimulation, while cytolytic effector molecules are expressed. [223]

B cells are important for the production of neutralizing antibodies that help resolving a number of different viral infections. Although some studies suggest that IFN $\alpha/\beta$  seem to impair the survival and development of B cells, IFN $\alpha/\beta$  may benefit B cells for many of their functions. [224]–[226] IFN $\alpha/\beta$  promote the activation of B cells and antibody responses. IFN $\alpha/\beta$  increase B7-2 expression in B cells and enhance antibody production in part by inducing B cell activation through B7-2. B7-2 is a co-stimulatory molecule

expressed in antigen presenting cells such as dendritic cells, macrophages, and B cells. It was shown that within the first 48 hours of influenza virus infection, B cell activation in the early stage results in upregulation of activation markers and change of the transcriptional response. [227]–[229]

IFNα/β, on the other hand, have detrimental effects during viral infection although they are important for antiviral immune response by ISG induction and adaptive immunity enhancement. IFNα/β induce immunosuppressive effects as well as inflammation and tissue damage during virus infection. [230], [231] Two studies suggest the harmful effects of IFNα/β. Both studies describe that IFNα/β increase the expression of immunosuppressive molecules such as PD-L1 and IL-10 which inhibit T cell activation and proliferation. In the studies, CD4+ and CD8+ T cell-mediated immune responses are improved when IFN-mediated signaling is blocked. [232], [233]

Taken together, IFN $\alpha/\beta$  have an important antiviral role during virus infections. However, they also contribute to immunosuppression as well as immunopathology.

#### **1.3.4 Antiviral Pattern Recognition Molecules**

There are a number of different antiviral pattern recognition molecules such as the RIG-I-like receptors, the Toll-like receptors, and the NOD-like receptors. They are located in different compartments of the cell, but ultimately results in the induction of type I IFNs.

The RIG-I-like receptor (RLR) family is composed of three cytoplasmic receptors, RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2. [234], [235] RLRs share structural features such as two N-terminal caspase recruitment domains (CARDs), a central DEAD box helicase/ATPase domain, and a C-terminal regulatory domain.

The ligand of RIG-I is short dsRNA (up to 1kb). [236] Previously, it was considered that 50 triphosphate ssRNA was a RIG-I ligand [237], [238], but recent studies showed that 50 triphosphate ssRNA failed to stimulate RIG-I. [239], [240] This suggests that dsRNA, not ssRNA, is a ligand for RIG-I. In addition, a 50 triphosphate end is not required to activate RIG-I because both chemically synthesized dsRNAs with a 50 monophosphate end and those without a 50 phosphate end can stimulate RIG-I. [236], [241] It has been postulated that HCV RNA untranslated region with poly(U)- or poly(A)-rich sequences is responsible for the activation of RIG-I, but further studies are required to confirm whether specific RNA sequences are involved in the activation of RIG-I. [242]

MDA5 recognizes long dsRNA (more than 2kb). [236] A study using a dsRNA-specific nuclease confirmed that shortening the length of the poly(IC) converts the poly(IC) from a MDA5 ligand to a RIG-I ligand.
In contrast to RIG-I and MDA5, LGP2 lacks a CARD domain. Although the function of LGP2 is controversial, it has been considered that LGP2 functions as a negative regulator of RIG-I and MDA5 by reducing dsRNA accessibility or inhibiting RIG-I conformational changes. [243]–[245]

RIG-I and LGP2 have a large basic surface in the C-terminal regulatory domain which is responsible for the binding to dsRNAs. [241], [246], [247] However, MDA5 binding activity is much weaker than that of RIG-I and LGP2 although MDA5 has a large basic surface in the C-terminal regulatory domain. The weaker binding activity results from the extensively flat C-terminal domain of MDA5.

The RIG-I conformation is suggested to be regulated by ubiquitination. Both TRIM25 and Riplet function as E3 ubiquitin ligases that determine the K63-linked polyubiquitination of RIG-I. [248], [249] This K63-linked polyubiquitination activates RLR signaling pathway in contrast to the K48-linked polyubiquitination of RIG-I by RNF125. The K48-linked polyubiquitination of RIG-I results in the degradation of RIG-I by the proteasome. [250]

Finally, the CARD damain of RLRs interact with the N-terminal CARDcontaining adaptor IFN- $\beta$ -promoter stimulator 1 (IPS-1) for triggering downstream signaling cascades. [251] IPS-1 is located on the outer mitochondrial membrane and is known to be cleaved from the mitochondria by an HCV NS3/4A protease.

The Toll-like receptor (TLR) family recognizes pathogens outside of the cell and in intracellular endosomes and lysosomes. [252] TLRs share structural features such as N-terminal leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) and а transmembrane region followed by a cytoplasmic Toll/IL-1R homology (TIR) domain. Until now, ten TLRs have been discovered in humans and twelve have been identified in mice. TLRs have their own corresponding ligands derived from the molecular patterns of pathogens. Among TLRs, TLR3, TLR7, TLR8, and TLR9 recognize nucleic acids derived from viruses and bacteria. [252] Once activated, TLRs induce the type I IFNs as well as proinflammatory cytokines.

TLR3 detects virus-derived dsRNAs in the endolysosome. The crystal structure analysis of TLR3 complexed with dsRNA showed that dsRNA interacts with the regions in the TLR3 LRRs and this binding stimulates the dimerization of two TLR3 molecules. [253], [254] In contrast to TLR3, human TLR7 and TLR8 recognize ssRNA from RNA viruses. Besides ssRNA, human TLR7 and TLR8 also detect small purine analog compounds. In addition, human TLR7 recognizes RNAs from bacteria in conventional dendritic cells (cDCs). [255] TLR9, on the other hand, senses unmethylated DNA with CpG motifs derived from bacteria and viruses, although there is a study suggesting that the DNA sugar backbone of 20 deoxyribose also stimulate TLR9. [256]

TLR7 and TLR9 are highly expressed in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) which produce large amounts of type I IFNs upon virus infection. To avoid negative effects of type I IFNs, TLRs are compartmentalized in the cell. TLRs such as TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9 that can recognize self-nucleotides are localized in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. TLR1, TLR2, TLR4, TLR5, and TLR6 are present on the plasma membrane. [257] Upon virus infection, TLR3, TLR7, and TLR9 are recruited from the endoplasmic reticulum to endolysosomes, but the mechanism how they translocate remains to be elucidated. [258], [259] RNA ligands from invading viruses are recognized by TLR7 and TLR9 in pDCs after they are endocytosed or delivered to the endolysosome in the cytoplasm.

TLR signaling pathway is divided into two downstream pathways depending on the presence of MyD88 or TRIF. MyD88 is utilized by most of MyD88 interacts with IL-1R-associated kinase TLRs except for TLR3. (IRAK)-4 which activates other IRAK family members such as IRAK-1 and IRAK-2. [260] Then the IRAKs translocate from MyD88 to TNFR-associated factor 6 (TRAF6). TRAF6 functions as an E3 ubiquitin protein ligase. TRAF6 together with an E2 ubiguitin-conjugating enzyme complex results in a lysine 63 (K63)-linked polyubiquitin chain on TRAF6 itself as well as the production of an unconjugated free polyubiquitin chain. [261] The unconjugated free K63 polyubiquitin chain activates downstream signaling molecules and subsequently translocates nuclear factor-KB (NF-KB) into the NF-kB translocation induces proinflammatory cytokine genes nucleus. expression. In case of TLR7 and TLR9, type I IFNs are also produced in a MyD88-dependent manner.

In contrast to most of other TLRs, TLR3 and TLR4 utilize TRIF-dependent signaling pathway. Upon stimulation with dsRNA, TLR3 recruits TRIF instead of MyD88. TLR4, on the other hand, triggers both MyD88-dependent and TRIF-dependent signaling pathway. TRIF interacts with TRAF3 and TRAF6. TRAF3 is necessary for inducing two IKK-related kinases, TBK1 and IKK-i (also known as IKK $\epsilon$ ) [262], [263] Subsequently, TBK1 and IKK-i phosphorylate IRF3 and IRF7. IRF3 and IRF7 dimers then translocate into the nucleus and stimulates expression of type I IFNs. [264]

Cytoplasmic pattern recognition receptors that recognize DNA is important for the expression of type I IFNs upon DNA virus infection. Infection with intracellular bacteria also induces type I IFNs. [265] It is shown that poly (dA:dT) is transcribed into dsRNA by polymerase III and the dsRNA is then detected by RIG-I resulting in the induction of IPS-1 pathway. [266]–[268] Besides this, a cytoplasmic DNA-binding protein, DNA-dependent activator of IRF (DAI), binds with TBK1 and promotes the expression of type I IFNs upon interaction with its DNA ligand. [269] Moreover, another cytoplasmic DNAbinding protein, stimulator of interferon genes (STING), is known to be located in the ER and translocates from the ER to the Golgi apparatus in response to dsDNA recognition. [270]–[272] The nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain receptors (NOD-like receptors or NLR) family is composed of a central nucleotide-binding domain and C-terminal leucine-rich repeats. [273] The N-terminal regions have protein-binding motifs such as CARDs, a pyrin domain, and so on. Although most of NLRs and CLRs recognize ligands derived from bacteria, NOD2 is shown to be involved in the induction of type I IFNs upon 50-triphosphate RNA ligand recognition. [274]

#### 1.3.5 HCV Factors for Inhibiting Type I Interferons

Although HCV can be recognized by several PRRs to alert an antiviral immune response, HCV has strategies to evade host immune response (**Figure 1-5**). Subsequently, about 80% of patients with acute HCV infection fail to clear the virus and develop a chronic infection. [275] In order to evade host innate immune response, HCV may have developed several mechanisms.

The best known viral protein that is responsible for innate immune evasion is the NS3/4A protease. NS3/4A protease cleaves IPS-1 at the outer membrane of mitochondria which is important mediator of type I IFN pathway activated by the RIG-I. [70], [276] The cleavage of IPS-1 by NS3/4A protease was also observed in the patients with chronic HCV infection. [70]. [277] The IPS-1 cleavage affects not only RIG-I pathway but also PKR pathway because the dsRNA-dependent protein kinase PKR is activated by the binding of HCV dsRNA to PKR and IPS-1 plays a role in the PKR pathway which ultimately induces type I IFNs and early ISGs. [278]–[280] The role of PKR activation, however, is controversial because the phosphorylation of eIF2a by PKR kinase inhibits the translation of cellular mRNAs that contains host factors for HCV replication and at the same time IFNs and ISGs. [281], [282] NS3/4A also cleaves TRIF which is an important mediator for TLR3 signaling pathway. Like RIG-I pathway, TLR3 pathway also triggers the induction of type I IFNs. In addition, it is known that the cleavage site by NS3/4A, Cys372, contains high sequence homology to the NS4B-5A cleavage site of HCV polyprotein. [71], [283] Finally, NS3/4A inhibits the K63-linked polyubiquitination of RIG-I through targeting the E3 ubiquitin ligase Riplet. As a result, the interaction between RIG-I and TRIM25, TBK1 is suppressed. [284]

Two other viral proteins, E2 and NS5A, targets PKR and inhibits its downstream pathway though direct interaction. [285], [286] However, the detailed mechanism how E2 and NS5A inhibit PKR pathway remains largely unknown. NS5A also directly binds to 2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthase to block the subsequent antiviral response. [287] In addition, NS5A interacts with MyD88 in macrophages and suppresses the TLR pathway except for TLR3 pathway. Since it is believed that HCV does not infect macrophages, it remains to be explained the significance of this result. [288] It is shown that HCV E1 and E2 glycoproteins suppress the expression of RIG-I and TLR3, which again downregulate the expression of IFNs and ISGs that are induced by the two pattern recognition receptors, RIG-I and TLR3. [289]

On the other hand, the HCV core protein decreases the expression of ISGs by blocking JAK/STAT signaling pathway. [290] The HCV core protein directly binds to STAT1 to suppress its phosphorylation, resulting in the blocking of downstream pathway. [291]–[293] Moreover, the HCV core negatively regulate the JAK/STAT pathway by inducing the expression of the suppressor of cytokine signaling-3 (SOCS3). [294]

In addition, HCV NS4B is suggested to suppress the RIG-I pathway. Moreover, HCV NS2 protease is recently shown to inhibit host cell antiviral response by inhibiting IKKɛ and TBK1 functions. [295], [296] However, it needs to be confirmed by other studies to show the effect of NS2 and NS4B for the downregulation of IFN expression.



Figure 1-5. HCV factors for inhibiting type I interferons. HCV NS3/4A protease cleaves both IPS-1 and TRIF, resulting in the suppression of type I IFN expression. NS5A physically binds to MyD88 to inhibit TLR signaling. In addition, NS5A as well as E2 inhibits PKR activation. NS5A also interacts with 2'-5' OAS to block the subsequent antiviral pathways. Core induces the expression of SOCS3 to suppress the JAK/STAT pathway. IRF, IFN regulatory factor; ISG, IFN-stimulated gene; IPS-1, IFN- $\beta$  promoter stimulator 1; MyD88, myeloid differentiation pro-inflammatory response 88; PKR, dsRNA-dependent protein kinase R; SOCS3, suppressor of cytokine signaling 3; STAT, signal transducer and activator of transcription; TRIF, TIR domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN- $\beta$ .

## 1.4 Frameshift / Alternate Reading Frame Protein (F/ARFP)



## 1.4.1 Discovery of Alternate Reading Frame Protein

**Figure 1-6. Variants of the alternate reading frame protein.** White bar represents the protein product generated by 0 frame. Grey bar represents the protein product generated by -2/+1 frame. Number shows the codon number.

HCV encodes a long precursor polyprotein which is processed by cellular and viral proteases into 10 structural and nonstructural proteins. Besides this 10 viral proteins, a novel HCV protein has been identified in 1998 by Walewski et al. Although this protein has been discovered more than 10 years ago, little has been revealed about the biological role of this protein. This protein is known as F (Frameshift), ARFP (Alternate Reading Frame Protein), or core+1 protein (**Figure 1-6**).

In 1998, Walewski et al. identified a functional alternate open reading frame which is overlapping inside the core sequence at +1 frame. [43] This discovery resulted from a bioinformatics study of eight different HCV RNA sequences. In this study, specific nucleotide positions where mutations would occur due to the natural selection process were identified, but mutations were suppressed by restrictions. This suggests that HCV requires a conserved sequence at +1 frame within core region. [297] Walewski et al. also provided an evidence of the ARFP expression by designing ARFP peptides and using the peptides as antigens for the detection of certain antibodies in HCV patient serum samples. [43], [297] In 2000, Vassilaki et al. and Xu et al. independently reported the ARFP expression in a cell-free system, rabbit reticulocyte lysate or wheat germ extracts, and the discovery of a 16 kDa protein which is encoded from the alternate reading frame. In order to identify the mechanism of ARFP generation, site-directed mutagenesis and radioactive sequencing experiments were performed and revealed that this 16 kDa protein is translated from the AUG initiator codon, followed by a -2/+1 ribosomal frameshift in an adenosine-rich sequence within core codons from 8 to 11. [298], [299]

## 1.4.2 Different Forms of Alternate Reading Frame Protein

Since ARFP was discovered in 1998, there have been studies to identify the nature of the ARFP. However, there is no consensus on the nature of the ARFP because alternate translation initiation sites and different mechanisms for the expression of ARFP have been proposed. [300]–[303] This may result from the use of different HCV strains for the studies. In the early studies for ARFP, Vassilaki et al. and Xu et al used HCV-1 core coding sequences that have 10 consecutive adenosine-rich region within codons 8-11. Compared to this HCV strain, other HCV strains do not show corresponding frameshift-prone sequence within core codons 8-11. This may be the reason for the discrepancies for the ARFP expression studies as other HCV strains may not have a frameshift event at core codons 8-11.

Independent of a frameshift event at codons 8-11, another study revealed the existence of novel frameshifting starting from the internal AUG codons at 85/87. [304], [305] The initiation of internal translation at 85/87 produces shorter ARFP compared to the ARFP generated by frameshifting at codons 8-11. This shorter ARFP is known as core+1/S (short). In addition, codon 26 is also identified as the internal translation initiation site. [302] Finally, Boulant et al. discovered another form of ARFP generated from E. coli by using HCV-1b strain core coding sequence. [301] This protein uses two different frameshift mechanisms independent of the frameshift event at codons 8-11. First +1 frameshifting occurs at codon 42 followed by -1 frameshifting at the stop codon 144. These studies suggest that there may be several translation initiation sites within the core coding sequence. It remains unclear whether all these different ARFP have same or similar functions or not.

## 1.4.3 Conservation of ARFP among HCV Strains

The length of the ARFPs differs from different genotypes, varying from 126 and 162 amino acids. HCV genotype 1a, 1b, 2a generate 162 aa, 144 aa, 126 aa ARFP, respectively. Other HCV genotypes show 126-155 aa long ARFP. [299] Compared to the core protein, ARFP amino acid sequence shows less conserved sequences among different HCV genotypes. [306]–[308] However, it is as well conserved as the E1 and NS2 proteins. [306]

Vassilaki et al. discovered that ARFP amino acid sequence from position 72 to 115 shows statistically significant similarity compared to the transmembrane domain of the adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-binding cassette transporter subfamily A (ABC1, aa 27–69) [305], [309] ABC1 is known to translocate cholesterol and phospholipids out of macrophages. Therefore ABC1 is responsible for lipoprotein metabolism in macrophages. [310] In addition, Shesheer Kumar et al. showed the existence of a binding site for LDL receptor class B in ARFP. [311] Further study for the role of ARFP in lipid metabolism may be interesting because HCV replication is associated with the modulation of lipid metabolism-related genes. [312]

## 1.4.4 Properties of Alternate Reading Frame Protein

ARFPs are highly basic with an isoelectric point of about 11.5. The isoelectric point of HCV-1a core protein is 11.46. [297] In addition, ARFPs are unstable as their half-lives are about 10 min. This was shown by the pulse-chase experiments in vitro or in cultured Huh7 human hepatoma cells. [313], [314] However, degradation of ARFP is strongly inhibited by proteasome inhibitors such as MG132 and lactacystin. Vassilaki et al. showed that core+1/S protein was detectable in the presence of proteasome inhibitors as well as in the absence of core proteins. [305] This suggests that not only proteasome inhibitor, but also core protein regulate the intracellular core+1/S level. Wolf et al. also confirmed the negative role of core protein on core+1/S level. [315] The fact that the introduction of core protein both in cis and in trans negatively impacts on core+1/S level suggests that this negative effect may not result not only from translation initiation competition, but also from posttranslational regulation.

The core+1/F protein generated from frameshifting at core codons 8-11 in genotype 1a has been detected in the cytoplasm of Huh7, HepG2 human hepatoma cells and in the perinuclear or in the endoplasmic reticulum membrane. [313], [314], [316] One study reported that the core+1/F is located in the nucleus in HEK293 human embryonic kidney cells. In addition, ARFP generated from internal translation initiation at codon 26 was proposed to be located in the mitochondrial area. [317]

In terms of functional properties of ARFP, subgenomic HCV replicon system studies suggested that the ARFP is not necessary for viral replication because subgenomic HCV replicon lacks the entire structural region including ARFP encoding sequence. [318], [319] However, a role for ARFP in the natural hepatocyte infection cannot be excluded because current HCV infectious systems are using Huh7 or Huh7.5 cells that are recovered from curing the cells with interferon gamma or an RdRp inhibitor. [320], [321] The biological role of ARFPs may be overlapped with core protein because most of the experiments for studying core functions cannot exclude the possibility of ARFP production. Therefore, some of the core functions revealed so far may need to be attributed to the function of ARFP or the combined function of both ARFP and core protein.

In order to identify the biological role of ARFP, there have been studies to reevaluate the functions of the core protein in the absence of ARFP production. Basu et al. suggested that the core+1/F is associated with host growth regulation as ARFP is involved in the p21 cdk inhibitor gene promoter repression. [322] Wu et al. showed that the core+1/F protein from HCV-1b (J4) increases the transcription and translation of c-Myc and decreases the transcription and translation of p53 in HepG2 cells. [323] The ARFP may also be involved in the production of fibrogenic chemokines such as IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1 because higher prevalence of anti-ARFP antibodies is detected in HCV-infected patients with advanced liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma. [324] Tsao et al. demonstrated that the core+1/F protein from HCV-1a (RH) interacts with the cellular prefoldin 2 protein, which results in the disturbance of the normal function of prefoldin complex. Consequently, nascent polypeptide chains cannot be folded properly. For example, an aberrant organization of the tubulin cytoskeleton was observed in the yeast two-hybrid system and in HEK293 cells. [325]-[327] This suggests that core+1/F may be involved in the establishment of viral persistence and chronic infection because microtubule formation may result in the decrease of HCV replication. [328]

The high conservation of the ARFP encoding sequence suggests that the function of the ARFP may be important for the virus survival and propagation. However, the biological role and significance of ARFP is not completely elucidated.

## 1.5 Nox/Duox Enzymes

## 1.5.1 Nox/Duox History

N-terminal C-terminal





Nox1, Nox2, Nox3, Nox4



**Figure 1-7. Structures of Nox/Duox family.** NADPH oxidases have similar structural components that are necessary for transmembrane electron transfer from the cytosol to molecular oxygen. These oxidases have six (Nox1, Nox2, Nox3, Nox4, Nox5) or seven (Duox1, Duox2) transmembrane segments anchoring two heme groups and the C-terminal region contains NADPH and FAD binding sites. Nox5, Duox1, and Duox2 have an N-terminal region containing calcium binding domain. In addition, Duox1 and Duox2 have an extracellular N-terminal peroxidase homology domain.

It was discovered that cells utilize enzymes that produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) to regulate cellular ROS levels. These enzymes are designated to generate ROS as their sole biochemical function. [329], [330] The enzymes are called NADPH oxidases that are composed of seven members, Nox1, Nox2, Nox3, Nox4 Nox5, dual oxidase 1 (Duox1), and Duox2 (**Figure 1-7**). The enzymes generate ROS in a regulated manner in response to cytokines, growth factors, and calcium.

The first discovered Nox enzyme is the Nox of phagocytes (Phox) that processes the respiratory burst. [331] This oxidase is activated by the presence of microorganisms or inflammatory mediators mainly in neutrophils and macrophages. It is composed of the catalytic subunit gp91phox (alternatively known as Nox2) regulatory subunits p22phox, p47phox, p40phox, p67phox, and the small GTPase Rac. This enzyme requires the electron-donating pyridine nucleotide NADPH. It transfers electrons from NADPH to molecular oxygen to produce superoxide and other ROS.

There had been obstacles to measure ROS levels in various cell types other than phagocytes because many of the assays have the non-quantitative nature. Moreover, there is another problem that ROS levels in nonphagocytes are very low compared to the levels in an activated neutrophil. However, during the 1990s, sensitive assays were developed and allowed investigators to detect low amounts of ROS in various cell types.

In 1999, the first of the Nox homologues of gp91phox was identified and was named as Nox1. [329] When this enzyme was expressed in cells, it produced low levels of ROS, however, it generated high levels of ROS in the presence of novel regulatory subunits. Soon after Nox1 was discovered, the other Nox enzymes in the same family were found. It is now considered that many cell types express Nox enzymes that are responsible for a variety of cellular activity. ROS produced by these Nox enzymes are likely to participate in a limited range of reactions with biomolecules instead of having broad range of oxidations that may affect to inflamed tissues. It was shown that deliberate mechanisms were developed to harness the oxidations in specific manners at low levels of ROS. In these specific ways, the oxidations can be reversed and occur at certain residues like catalytic cysteine in the active site of tyrosine phosphatase and PTEN. [332], [333] The oxidations inhibit the function of these enzymes, however specific ways have also been evolved to reverse the oxidation. An example is that an oxidation in the active site of protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B can be reversed by cellular thiols such as glutathione and thioredoxin, resulting in the reactivation of the enzymes. [334]

The Nox enzymes can be categorized into three groups based on the presence of domains except for the gp91phox domain. [330] Nox1, Nox3, and Nox4 have similar size and structure to gp91phox. These enzymes oxidize NADPH in the cytoplasmic part of the membrane and reduces oxygen across the membrane to produce superoxide. In the next reaction, two molecules of superoxide generate hydrogen peroxide that can function as a substrate for peroxidases. On the other hand, Nox5 uses the basic structure of gp91phox, but has an additional amino-terminal calmodulin-like domain that contains four binding sites for calcium. As expected, Nox5 is activated by the calcium ionophore ionomycin. [335] Finally, the Duox enzymes have not only a calmodulin-like domain, but also an amino-terminal peroxidasehomology domain. Although this peroxidase-homology domain has an amino acid replacement at critical residues for enzymatic activity, it was shown that it can catalyze H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-dependent peroxidative reactions. [336], [337] Therefore, Duox seems to be able to both generate ROS and use its peroxidase-homology domain for enzymatic function. Its name, dual oxidase, came from its possible dual activity.

## 1.5.2 Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)



**Figure 1-8. Reactive oxygen species.** Superoxide  $(O_2^{-})$  can be generated from the NADPH oxidase enzymes. Then, hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  is produced from dismutation reaction with two molecules of superoxide, which is facilitated by superoxide dismutase (SOD). When there is iron, hydroxyl radical (HO<sup>-</sup>) is generated from the reaction with superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. In inflamed areas, hypochlorous acid (HOCI) is formed from hydrogen peroxide and chloride by the myeloperoxidase (MPO). The color indicates the reactivity of the molecule. Blue, relatively unreactive; yellow, limited reactivity; brown, moderate reactivity; red, high reactivity.

ROS are highly electrophilic molecules such as superoxide  $(O_2^-)$ , hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$ , and hydroxyl radical  $(HO^-)$ . ROS also includes secondary metabolites such as lipid peroxides, peroxynitrite  $(ONOO^-)$ , and hypochlorous acid (HOCI) (**Figure 1-8**). ROS are short-lived and are produced by the reduction of oxygen. The overproduction of ROS results in oxidative stress which is involved in some kinds of diseases.

ROS can be divided into two groups in terms of reactivity, a radical group and a mild group. Superoxide, hydroxyl radical, hypochlorous acid, and peroxynitrite are examples of highly reactive ROS, while hydrogen peroxide is an example of mildly reactive ROS. Superoxide, on the other hand, can function as both a mild oxidant and a reductant upon different circumstances. Radical forms of ROS are considered to cause damage to macromolecules, interfering biochemical function. This unstable form of ROS can bring a chain reaction that negatively modifies macromolecules such as certain proteins and nucleic acids. This feature can be used beneficially when it is confined well. A good example of this is that the radical forms of ROS mediate microbicidal killing in a phgolysosome. However, if it is not contained well, it can cause DNA strand breaks and oxidative damage to DNA bases, which will result in mutagenesis and cancer. Moreover, it is known that peroxidation of unsaturated lipids changes membrane structure, resulting in disrupting membrane properties and affecting cellular components recognition by immune system.

A physiological role for ROS has been suggested to be involved in many cellular activities such as cell signaling and transcriptional regulation. For example, hydrogen peroxide is generated in response to growth signals, suggesting its role for cell signaling. [338], [339] Consistently, hydrogen peroxide can be overproduced in transformed cells with mutated Ras. [340] Taken together, it is now clear that ROS are generated in response to a number of different ligands such as cytokines and growth factors. [341] ROS can also interfere with several signaling pathways which include ERK1, ERK2, NF- $\kappa$ B, AP-1, and JAK/STAT. [342]

The way how ROS affect cellular signaling pathways may be indirect in many cases, but there is a direct target for ROS on certain cysteine-containing proteins. [343] Certain cysteines can be targets for oxidative modification by ROS when proteins with the cysteines have exceptionally low pKa or specialized structural features that make them reactive. [344] An example of these cysteines are thiolate anions (Cys-S<sup>-</sup>) at physiological pH. They can be easily oxidized by hydrogen peroxide. [345] However, an additional protein like peroxiredoxin may be needed because the direct reaction of hydrogen peroxide with the cysteine residues takes too much time to function for cellular signaling pathways. [346] Therefore, cysteine oxidation happens within the time required for the cellular signaling regulation. Moreover, it is shown that reactive cysteines reside in the enzyme's active site, where oxidation by ROS positively or negatively affects to its function. [345], [347]-[349] Examples of oxidation-regulated proteins are protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs), phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), mitogenactivated protein kinase phosphatases (MAPK-Ps), and so on. [348]-[350] Oxidation of the thiol residues by hydrogen peroxide is reversible, which is defaulted by thioredoxin or glutathione. This allows for the oxidation by ROS to control a variety of cellular signaling pathways. On the other hand, unusually elevated ROS under pathological circumstances interfere with redox-sensitive signaling pathways.

In addition to direct effect on signaling pathways, unusually high ROS levels result in the production of highly reactive peroxynitrite that is generated by the reaction between nitric oxide and superoxide. This highly reactive peroxynitrite can directly react with a number of different biomolecules, which causes molecular damages to the biomolecules.

It has been considered that ROS are mainly produced by accidental mechanisms. The examples are ingestion of drugs or toxins that produces ROS through redox reaction. [351] In addition, gamma and UV irradiation as well as enzymatic processes can also initiate free radical reactions that produce ROS. An example of ROS production by enzymatic processes occurs in mitochondria during normal respiration. ROS production in mitochondria happens at several sites such as at sites of coenzyme Q reduction in complexes I and III. Recent studies suggest that respiring mitochondria release very low levels of ROS. [352] Although normal mitochondria produce low levels of ROS, it is believed that control of mitochondrial ROS level is important for preventing diseases. [353] In addition to mitochondria, there are a number of different redox enzymes such as xanthine oxidase, cytochrome p450, cyclooxygenase, lipoxygenase, and nitric oxide synthase (NOS).

#### 1.5.3 Biological Functions of Nox/Duox Enzymes

The G protein-linked receptor, the formyl peptide receptor (FPR), is identified as a key modulator for Nox2 activation in phagocytes. FPRs recognize bacterial proteins that are posttranslationally modified at their N termini with a formyl group. It was tested that the tripeptide N-formyl methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLF) can be a model ligand for FPRs. FPR1 seems to have a high affinity to fMLF, while FPR2 may have a lower affinity to fMLF. [354] Consistently, FPR1-null mice were more susceptible to bacterial infection, suggesting the immune role of the receptor. [355]

FPRs are also expressed on non-phagocytic cell types. A study using mouse colonic epithelia confirmed that Nox1 activation is responsible for the production of ROS. A ligand for FPR1, annexin A1, was used to stimulate FPR1 in this study. When the ligand was treated for the Nox1-deficient mice, the ROS production was abolished. This suggests that Nox enzymes are involved in the production of ROS in non-phagocytes. [356]

In addition, there are other types of receptors that are able to stimulate ROS production. These receptors respond to various kinds of ligands such as a variety of hormones, cytokines, and growth factors. [357], [358] For example, one of the inflammatory cytokines, tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ , can stimulate the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptors that physically interact with Nox1, subsequently generating ROS and triggering necrotic cell death pathways. [359] Moreover, TLRs and NLRs can also activate Nox-dependent ROS generation in the presence of pathogen-associated ligands.

During the 1990s, investigators have demonstrated that ROS are associated with cell division. Bae et al showed that Nox1 mediated the production of hydrogen peroxide by a mechanism involving PI3K and Rac1 in response to the epidermal growth factor (EGF). [360] In addition, hydrogen peroxide clearly stimulated mitotic pathways because it was demonstrated

that hydrogen peroxide generated by EGF stimulation could lead to reversible inactivation of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B. Oxidative inactivation of various protein tyrosine phosphatases seems to be a common biochemical reaction in the cells and is normally related to mitotic growth. [334] For example, oxidative inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN has been suggested to be related to growth and survival, especially in cancer. [333] Moreover, Nox1 overexpression seems to affect to the cell cycle and subsequently mitotic growth in lung epithelia. [361]

Nox-derived ROS seem to have a role in cell differentiation and development. In plants, ROS levels decide whether to pursue proliferation or differentiation in the root by a mechanism involving the transcription factor, UPBEAT1 (UPB1). [362] UPB1 can also directly control the expression of a range of peroxidases that regulate the balance of ROS. The control of UPB1 happens between the regions of cell proliferation and elongation where differentiation occurs. Therefore, if the UPB1 activity is disrupted, then it changes ROS level, which subsequently leads to a delayed cellular In an invertebrate model study, similar result could be differentiation. observed. ROS in a Drosophila model induce hematopoietic progenitors to pursue for differentiation. [363] Additional study in a Drosophila model demonstrated that control of the cellular redox state by the Nrf2/ARE complex induces proliferation in the midgut in response to oxidative stress. [364] Moreover, Keap1-null mice show a proliferative phenotype in squamous epithelia because Nrf2 is constitutively active. [365] Similar studies have been performed in mammalian systems. It was shown that Nox1 is associated with generation of the angiogenic vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), leading to the development of blood vessels. [366] In addition, Nox4 is involved in cardiomyocyte differentiation. [367] Moreover, both Nox1 and Nox4 are implicated in the vascular smooth muscle growth and differentiation that happen after arterial injury. [368]

Nox enzymes function for cytoskeletal reorganization and cell migration by several mechanisms. It is demonstrated that Nox1-produced ROS lead colon adenocarcinoma cells to migrate on collagen by controlling  $\alpha 2\beta 1$  integrin availability at the membrane. [369] Nox1 is also involved in vascular smooth muscle cell migration stimulated by fibroblast growth factor- $\beta$  (FGF- $\beta$ ). [370] In lung endothelial cells, hyperoxia stimulates Nox4-derived ROS generation. When Nox4 is suppressed, cell migration and formation of capillary tubes in response to hyperoxia are inhibited. [371]

Cell migration requires the sophisticated mechanism to orchestrate remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton. This mechanism also needs changes in the proximity of the membrane edge to the extracellular matrix at specialized points termed focal adhesions (FAs). FA assembly is controlled by focal adhesion kinase (FAK) that is maintained in a dephosphorylated form by the redox-sensitive tyrosine phosphatases LMW-PTP and SHP-2. [372] Several endogenous stimulations such as growth factors and integrin binding with the epithelial basement membrane promote Nox1-derived ROS production at the FA, resulting in oxidative inactivation of the redox-sensitive

tyrosine phosphatases LMW-PTP and SHP-2 and ultimately initiation of cellular motility. [373] When mice are in a germ-free environment, they show decreased migration of intestinal epithelial cells along the crypt-villus axis. This suggests that intestinal microorganisms seem to be important for modulating epithelial growth and development. Therefore, taken together, ROS generation by intestinal microbiota causes reversible oxidation of redox-sensitive cysteines in LMW-PTP and SHP-2, FAK phosphorylation, and an increase of FAs, resulting in enhanced epithelial migration. [374]

Nox-derived ROS is also involved in programmed cell death. Some of the Nox isoforms and their regulatory subunits are known to be implicated with apoptosis. In pancreatic cells and endothelial cells, p47phox, p22phox and Nox1 are involved, respectively. [375], [376] In the presence of bacteria, Nox enzymes are responsible for the activation of autophagy. [377] Physical interaction between Nox1 and the TNF receptor mediate necrotic cell death in vitro. [359] On the other hand, Nox4-derived ROS in pancreatic cells and Nox1-derived ROS in colon adenoma and carcinoma are implicated in inhibiting apoptosis. [378], [379] Therefore, depending on the cell type and the Nox isoforms, Nox-derived ROS participate in either proapoptotic or antiapoptotic pathways.

Studies in non-mammalian organisms have revealed a role of Nox enzymes in the extracellular matrix modification. Peroxidases such as myeloperoxidase, lactoperoxidase, and the peroxidase domain of C. elegans Duox1 catalyze the cross-linking of tyrosine residues by hydrogen peroxide. [351], [359], [380], [381] In C. elegans, cross-linking by Duox1 leads to the stabilization of the nematode cuticle structure. [359] In sea urchin eggs, a Duox isoform catalyzes the cross-linking of the fertilization envelope initiated upon fertilization. [382] This cross-linking makes the fertilization envelope hard so that the access of additional sperm is blocked. Until now, Nox-stimulated tyrosine cross-linking of the extracellular matrix has not been reported in mammals. However, di- and trityrosine residues have been documented in regions of inflammation and in atherosclerotic plaques. [380]

The role of Nox enzymes in host immune defense is not only observed in animals including humans, but also in plants. Although the exact mechanisms how Nox enzymes function in host immune system are different, its immune role is evolutionarily conserved among plants and animals. For example, ROS generated by the Nox2 in phagocytes mediate microbicidal function by deriving toxic secondary products such as hypochlorous acid and peroxynitrite. [351] The importance of Nox-dependent ROS generation is clearly explained by chronic granulomatous disease (CGD). [383] CGD is a genetic disorder that has a defect in the catalytic or regulatory subunits of the Nox2 enzyme complex. As a result, phagocytes fail to produce ROS, leading to recurrent pyogenic infections and a failure to resolve inflammation that causes typical granulomatous lesions. Granuloma may be caused by the absence of anti-inflammatory ROS signaling in CGD, which results in changes of gene expression in neutrophils. [384]

The defensive role of Nox enzymes in lower animals appears to provide clues for studying the functions of Nox-derived ROS. In C. elegans, ROS derived from C. elegans Duox1 has a defensive role in the gut in presence of pathogens. [385] In the fly, Duox-derived ROS generation in the gut epithelia inhibits the proliferation of commensal microbes as well as happens upon pathogen infection. [386], [387] In addition, Nox1 and Duox2 are commonly observed in intestinal and respiratory epithelia in mammals. [357], [358], [388] In mammalian gastrointestinal and respiratory tracts, Nox enzymes generate hydrogen peroxide for lactoperoxidase in order to fight against pathogen infection. [389] The mechanism in which ROS from the epithelial Nox1 and Duox1 mediate an antimicrobial function is utilizing an oxidative inactivation of bacterial enzymes, inhibition of microbial signaling pathways, and the disruption of structural integrity of bacterial capsule. [390] Therefore, this suggests that Nox-derived ROS generation in epithelial barrier of the gut has been evolved to fight against microbes and their products.

On the other hand, plants have a different Nox-dependent defensive system because they lack circulating immune cells or epithelial barrier. When the host tissue is invaded by pathogens, calcium-dependent Nox enzymes are activated and trigger cross-linking of plant cell wall proteins, resulting in the enclosure of the invader. [391] In addition, Nox enzymes contribute to systemic signaling in response to damage. [392]

#### 1.5.4 General Mechanisms of Oxidant Signaling

ROS were associated with the increase in phosphorylation of Tyr after growth factor-stimulated ROS burst which serves as evidence supporting the role of ROS in signal transduction. [338], [360] This increase of intracellular ROS was suggested to be necessary for downstream signaling. The ligandstimulated ROS generation appears to depend on the activation of the Nox enzymes. [393] Moreover, the increase of Tyr phosphorylation after growth factor stimulation seems to be involved in the redox-dependent inactivation of protein Tyr phosphatases. [334] The PTPs act on a conserved reactive Cys residue that is located within the active site of the enzyme. Therefore. oxidation of the Cys residue leads to the inactivation of the enzyme. [394] In addition, ROS can also directly influence kinase signaling. [395] The Cys residue oxidation can be reversed by several molecules such as thioredoxin and glutathione (GSH). [396] Because of the reversibility of the Cys residues, specific Cys residues can function as redox-dependent switches. In addition, another amino acid residues, Met residues, can be oxidized and reduced like Cys residues and function as redox-dependent switches. [397]

The mammalian Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (Keap1)-nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) pathway is another evidence that shows Cys oxidation as a means of signaling regulation. [398] This pathway senses and responds to an intracellular increase of ROS levels. In this pathway, Nrf2 transcription factor is not the target of oxidation. The

interacting molecule with Nrf2, Keap1, has several reactive Cys residues and they are oxidized by increased intracellular ROS levels. Eventually, the Cys residue oxidation releases Nrf2 from Keap1 and leads to its translocation to the nucleus. [398]

#### **1.5.5 Antiviral or Proviral Activities of ROS**

The role of ROS regarding virus infection is controversial. The general role of ROS is considered to combat against intracellular pathogens such as bacteria and fungi. In line with this notion, there are evidences that ROS are used to combat against virus infection. In 1982, Rager-Zisman et al. showed that the respiratory burst was involved in vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) clearance in a monocyte cell line. [399] In 1992, Huang et al. evaluated the role of superoxide anions in the establishment of antiviral state of the VSV-infected cells by transfecting with CuZnSOD. This study shows that superoxide anions participate in determining the sensitivity to type I IFN. [400] In 2006, Indukuri et al. suggested that IRF3 is activated by Nox enzyme(s) during respiratory syncitial virus infection. [401] In 2014, Olagnier et al. described that Dengue virus infection accumulated ROS generated by Nox enzymes to mount innate immune responses in DENV-infected dendritic cells. [402]

There are also evidences suggesting the proviral role of ROS. For example, in 1990, Roederer et al. showed that phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate promoted HIV replication and N-acetyl-L-cysteine inhibited it in human peripheral blood or T cell lines. Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate is used for inducing oxidative burst and N-acetyl-L-cysteine is used as an antioxidant. [403] In 2010, Geiler et al. described that N-acetyl-L-cysteine reduced influenza A virus replication in human lung carcinoma. N-acetyl-L-cysteine inhibited production of CCL5, CXCL8, IL-6, and monocyte migration. [404] In 2011, Ye et al. showed that hydrogen peroxide promoted Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus replication by activating ERK1/2 quinase, JNK, and p38. [405]

Therefore, depending on the viruses, cell types, and experimental conditions, the role of ROS regarding virus infection may be observed differently. As more data accumulate, the role of ROS in virus infections will be more understood.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 HCV Constructs and Mutagenesis

JFH1 wild-type sequence and its replication-defective mutant, JFH1GND, were used. [406] Like H77c sequence, JFH1 wild-type sequence also contains the same frameshift signal which generates alternate reading frame proteins. The frameshift signal is at nt. 376 and 382 and contains other frameshift signals and internal translational initiation sites. [300]–[303]

Plasmids that are designed to code for JFH1 core sequence were generated. pCore $\Delta$ , pCore $\Delta$ , and pCore $\Delta$ 4 all code for JFH1 core sequence. However, pCore $\Delta$ , and pCore $\Delta$ 4 contain premature termination codon(s) in the F/ARFP frame. In addition, pF and pF $\Delta$  were also generated to code for JFH1 F/ARFP sequence. (Figure 2-1, Table 2-1) These plasmids were generated by standard polymerase chain reaction (PCR) cloning followed by The pcDNA3.1 plasmid vector was used to site-directed mutagenesis. generate the plasmids mentioned above. This plasmid is under the control of eukaryotic elongation factor (EF) 1a promoter. PCR product from nt. 263-913 containing the JFH1 core sequence was inserted into the plasmid vector via *HindIII* and *XbaI* restriction sites (underlined). The primer sequences are as followed: Forward: 5'-CATGTAATCAATAAGCTTGGGTTGCGAAAGGCC-TT-3'; reverse: 5'-ATATTGCTAACGTCTAGATTAAGCAGAGACCGGAACGGT -3'. The core sequence is italicized and a stop codon introduced is shown in bold letters. Premature terminations in the -2/+1 frame do not affect to the amino acid sequence of core protein of the zero frame.

Core variant plasmids (Figure 2-1, Table 2-1) were generated by site directed mutagenesis of pJFH1-core using QuikChange XL Site-Directed The primer sequences for site-directed Mutagenesis kit (Agilent). are as followed: Core $\Delta$  forward: 5'- CCCGGGCGGmutagenesis CGGCCAGATAGTAGG- CGGAGTATACTTGTTGCC-3', core∆ reverse: 5'-GGCAACAAGTATACTCCGCCTACTATCTGGCCGCCGCCGGG-3'. Core∆4 5'-CGCCCAGAAGACGTAAAGTTCCCGGGCGGC-3', forward: core∆4 5'-GCCGCCCGGGAACTTTACGTCTTCTGGGCG-3'. reverse: Nucleotide substitutions are shown by underlined and bold letters. pF was also generated via site directed mutagenesis and it has a single nt. deletion at codon 10 (nt. 370) which makes the pF unable to express core protein. The primer sequences are as followed: Forward: 5'-CCTCAAAGAAA ACCAAA-AGAAACACC-3', reverse: 5'-GGTGTTTCTTTTGGT TTTCTTTGAGG-3'. Underline indicates the location of deletion. pHA-F contains hemagglutinin (HA) sequence combined with JFH1 core sequence harboring a single nt. deletion at codon 9 (nt. 366). In order to prevent core expression by -1/+2 frameshift, a premature termination codon in the core frame was introduced at codon 53, which substituted TCG with TAG. [300]



**Figure 2-1. JFH1 constructs with mutations.** Putative RNA elements necessary for F/ARFP expression and nt. substitutions introduced in JFH1 constructs are indicated. Numbers show nucleotide positions.

Construct	Mutation	Core	F/ARF	ARF/DS	Core+1/S	ARF/26(+1)	INATS
JFHlwt & Core	None	ŧ	+ (by -2/+1 frameshift)	Normal	Normal	Normal	Normal
JFH1∆ & Core∆	<ul> <li>-2/+1 frame stops at codons 30, 31</li> </ul>	ŧ	None (truncated at 29 <sup>th</sup> codon)	Normal	Normal	None (truncated at 29 <sup>th</sup> codon)	Base of SLVI altered
JFH1∆4 & Core∆4	-2/+1 frame stop at codon 22	‡	None (truncated at 21st codon)	Normal	Normal	Normal	Normal (Loop of SLV altered)
ы	1 nt. deletion at codon 10	+ (by -1/+2 frameshift)	‡	Normal	Normal	Normal	Normal
FΔ	1 nt. deletion at codon 10, & 0 frame stop at codon 29, 33	None (truncated at 28 <sup>th</sup> codon)	ŧ	None (truncated at 28 <sup>th</sup> codon)	Normal	Normal	Base of SLVI altered
HA-F	1 nt. deletion at codon 9, & 0 frame stop at codon 53	None (truncated at 52 <sup>nd</sup> codon)	ŧ	Normal	Normal	Normal	Base of SLVI altered

**Table 2-1. JFH1 constructs.**Location of nt. substitutions and expectedeffects on protein synthesis.+++ shows normal or relatively high expression,while + indicates reduced expression.

Along with core variant plasmids, JFH1 -2/+1 frame mutants (pJFH1 $\Delta$  and pJFH1 $\Delta$ 4) were also generated. These contain premature termination codons in the -2/+1 frame that do not affect to the core amino acid sequence of the zero frame. (Figure 2-1, Table 2-1) The pGEM (Promega) plasmid vector was used to generate pJFH1Δ. PCR products from nt. 153 to 1349 were inserted into the plasmid vector via HindIII and XbaI restriction sites. followed: The primer sequences used are as Forward: 5'-5'-ATCAAAGCTTaccggtGAGTACACCGGAA-3', reverse: GTTCGTCTAGAcgtacgCCAGGATCATGGT-3'. Underlined sequences indicate restriction sites. For pGEM-JFH1core generation, Agel and BsiWI sites were used and indicated by underlined and lower case letters. HCV core sequences are italicized. To introduce premature termination codons in the -2/+1 frame at codons 30 and 31, QuikChange XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis kit (Agilent) was used. This produces the pGEM-JFH1coreA. Forward: primer sequences used followed: - <u>5</u>' The are as CCCGGGCGGCGGCCAGATAGTAGGCGGAGTATACTTGTTGCC-3', 5'-GGCAACAAGTATACTCCGCCTACTATCTGGCCGCCGCCCGreverse: GG-3'. Bolded letters indicate the location of two point mutations. Next, nt. 153 - 1349 from pGEM-JFH1 $\Delta$  using Agel and BsiWI restriction sites are inserted into the full-length pJFH1. pJFH1 $\Delta$ 4, which has the same nt. substitution as core $\Delta 4$ , was generated by site directed mutagenesis using QuikChange XL Site-Directed Mutagenesis kit. The primer sequences are as followed: Forward: 5'-CGCCCAGAAGACGTAAAGTTCCCGGGCGGC-3', reverse: 5'-GCCGCCCGGGAACTTTACGTCTTCTGGGCG-3'. Nucleotide substitutions are shown by underlined bold letters. Sequences explained above were confirmed by DNA sequencing from UC Berkeley DNA Sequencing Facility. The software Mfold was used to predict the RNA secondary structures of stem loops V and VI. [407] The predicted structures were consistent with the structure of stem loops V and VI shown by Tuplin et *al.* [408]

## 2.2 Transfection, Virus infection, and Tissues

Full-length genomic HCV RNA was transcribed in vitro as described. [409] T7 RNA polymerase (Promega) with RNase-free DNase I (GE Healthcare or Ambion) or using MEGAscript T7 High Yield Transcription Kit (Invitrogen) was used for in vitro transcription. The amount of JFHwt and mutant RNAs were measured by Nanodrop (Agilent Technologies) and the quality of in vitro transcribed RNAs were teste by formaldehyde agarose gel electrophoresis. In vitro transcribed RNAs with 7 - 10  $\mu$ g were then electroporated into Huh7 and Huh7.5 human hepatoma cells in Opti-MEM or Dulbecco's minimum essential medium (Invitrogen) and the electroporated cells were cultured as described to generate infectious virus particles. [321], [409]–[411]

Plasmids were prepared by endo-free plasmid maxi kit (Qiagen, Inc.) and  $0.025 - 10\mu g$  of plasmid DNA were used for transfection. For plasmid transfection, ProFection® Mammalian Transfection System (Promega) or

Lipofectamine LTX with Plus reagent (Invitrogen) was employed. For polyinosinic:polycytidylic acid (poly(IC)) and HCV RNA PAMP transfections, 5  $\mu$ g of poly(IC) (GE Healthcare) using Lipofectamine LTX with Plus reagent (Invitrogen) was transfected. HCV RNA PAMP, 5' UTR (nt. 1 – 367) of Con1 (genotype 1b) sequence, was generated by primer-ligated polymerase chain reaction. [412]

Nox4 enzyme expressing Huh7-Nox4 cells were generated by the Huh7 cells which were transfected with human Nox4 complementary DNA via Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). 0.5 mg/mL of G418 (Invitrogen) was used for stable cell clone selection. Huh7-pcDNA cells were generated as control cells which were transfected with an empty plasmid vector. In order for continuous selection, 0.25 mg/mL of G418 was used while the cells were being maintained. The day before the experiment, G418 was not employed for the cell culture medium.

Infectious virus particles were collected from genomic HCV RNAtransfected cells and 1 – 2 mL of the cell culture medium containing infectious virus particles were inoculated into naïve Huh7 cells. [409] For control infection, mock transfections without any RNA or JFH1GND RNA transfection were employed and the cell culture medium from mock- or JFH1GND RNAtransfected cells were used for infection. The cells were cultured and collected at different times as shown in Results.

Human liver tissues with or without HCV infection (n=3 and 2, respectively) were obtained from the National Disease Research Interchange. These tissue samples are negative for immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis B virus. The liver tissue donors were between the ages of 49 and 65 and they did not have any liver-related deaths. [409] The study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory and University of California, Merced.

#### 2.3 Determination of Viral and Cellular RNA Levels

Trizol Reagent (Invitrogen) was used for total intracellular RNA extraction from cells. Then, RNA concentrations was determined by Nanodrop. Quantitative real time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) was followed to quantify mRNA levels. Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) or EXPRESS One-Step SYBR® GreenER™ Universal (Invitrogen) was used. Data were calculated by ΔΔCt method and shown as fold difference based on the controls. Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) mRNA level was employed to normalize target gene RNA level. Primer sequences are shown in **Table 2-2**.

# Table 2-2. List of qRT-PCR

Set	Gene	Direction	Sequence (5' to 3')
1	JFH1	Sense	TCTGCGGAACCGGTGAGTA
		Antisense	TCAGGCAGTACCACAAGGC
2	JFH1	Sense	CGGGAGAGCCATAGTGG
		Antisense	AGTACCACAAGGCCTTTCG
3	IFNB1	Sense	CATTACCTGAAGGCCAAGGA
_	1 <sup>-</sup>	Antisense	CAATTGTCCAGTCCCAGAGG
4	IFNB1	Sense	CCAACAAGTGTCTCCTCCAAA
	1 <sup>-</sup>	Antisense	CCTCAGGGATGTCAAAGTTCA
5	IFNα2	Sense	TGAAAACTGGTTCAACATGG
-		Antisense	TAATGGATCAGTCAGCATGG
6	IFNα21	Sense	GCCCTGTCCTTTTCTTTACTG
_		Antisense	TCCTTTGTGCTGAAGAGATTG
7	IFNα8	Sense	CTTCAACCTCTTCAGCACAAA
		Antisense	AGGATGGAGTCCTCGTACATC
8	IFNλ1	Sense	GCTGGTGACTTTGGTGCTA
_		Antisense	GAGATTTGAACCTGCCAATGTG
9	IFNλ2/3	Sense	CCACATAGCCCAGTTCAAGT
		Antisense	GCGACTCTTCTAAGGCATCTT
10	RIG-I	Sense	CTCTGCAGAAAGTGCAAAGC
		Antisense	GGCTTGGGATGTGGTCTACT
11	MDA-5	Sense	GTTTGGCAGAAGGAAGTGTC
		Antisense	GCTCTTGCTGCCACATTCTC
12	ISG56	Sense	GCTGATATCTGGGTGCCTAAGG
		Antisense	CTTGAGCCTCCTTGGGTTCG
13	TNFα	Sense	CCATGTTGTAGCAAACCCTCAA
		Antisense	GCTGGTTATCTCTCAGCTCCA
14	GAPDH	Sense	GGTGGTCTCCTCTGACTTCAA
		Antisense	GTTGCTGTAGCCAAATTCGTT

Set	Gene	Direction	Sequence (5' to 3')
15	Nox1	Sense	TTAACAGCACGCTGATCCTG
		Antisense	CTGGAGAGAATGGAGGCAAG
16	Nox2	Sense	GAACGTCTTCCTCTTTGTCTGG
		Antisense	GTGATGACAACTCCAGTGATGC
17	Nox3	Sense	AGGCCCTGTGGTCTTGTATG
		Antisense	ACATCTGTCAGGGCAGTTCC
18	Nox4	Sense	CCACAGACTTGGCTTTGGAT
		Antisense	GGCAGAATTTCGGAGTCTTG
19	Nox4	Sense	GAATCAATCAGCTGTGTTATGC
		Antisense	AGAGGAACACGACAATCAGCCTTAG
20	Nox4	Sense	CTGGAGGAGCTGGCTCGCCAACGAAG
20 1		Antisense	GTGATCATGAGGAATAGCACCACCACCATGCAG
21	Nox5	Sense	CAGGATCTTTGCCTCTGAGC
		Antisense	GAAGAAGACCTGCACCTTGC
22	Duox1	Sense	GGACTCACTTCTCCCACCATTA
		Antisense	GAAGAGGAGGAGGTATGGGAGT
23	Duox2	Sense	AGCTGGCTGAGAAGTTCGAC
		Antisense	AAGGCAGGATACTGGAAGCA

On the other hand, HCV RNA level was also measured by qRT-PCR, but the RNA copy number was calculated by standard curve prepared with in vitro transcribed JFH1 RNA. [409], [411] Taqman One-Step RT-PCR Master Mix Reagent Kit (Applied Biosystems) was used. For minus sense HCV RNA quantification, only the forward primer was used in the reverse transcription step. Then, qPCR reactions were followed with the addition of reverse primer. Minus sense JFH1 RNA standards were generated by SP6 promoter insertion into the pJFH1 via Xbal restriction site. The plasmid was linearized with EcoRI restriction site and was transcribed by SP6 RNA polymerase (Promega) per manufacturer's protocol. [411] As negative controls, reactions without RNA and without reverse transcriptase were used. Northern blots confirmed intracellular HCV RNA titers. DNA probes for Northern blots were obtained from nt. 4128 – 8273 or 358 – 2816 of JFH1 by Scal and APaLI restrictions sites, respectively. Northern blot images were taken by Cyclone Phosphorimager (Perkin Elmer).

#### 2.4 Western blot, ELISA, and Immunofluorescence Staining

For Western blot. cells were collected directly with radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer (RIPA) or Laemmli buffer or sonicated with RIPA buffer or Laemmli buffer as previously described. [409] β-Actin level was used as a control. Western blot images were obtained by Kodak Digital Science Image Station 440CF or LI-COR Odyssey Infrared Imaging System. Monoclonal F/ARFP antibody was prepared against recombinant JFH1 F protein and kindly provided by Dr. James Ou from University of Southern California. IFNB protein level in the cell culture medium was measured by ELISA using Human IFNB ELISA kit from Interferon Source, Inc. For immunofluorescence staining, samples were fixed with 3.5% formaldehyde for 5 minutes and incubated with phosphate-buffered saline containing 1% (wt/vol) bovine serum albumin, 0.05% (wt/vol) NaN3, and 0.02% (wt/vol) saponin. Then, samples were incubated with primary and fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies in order and imaged by confocal laser scanning microscopy (C1, Nikon). [409] 100 µg/mL of RNase A was added when propidium iodide (PI) was used for nuclear staining. ImageJ was used for the quantification of images taken from confocal laser scanning microscopy.

## 2.5 Frameshift Reporter Assays

For the generation of frameshift reporter constructs, sense and antisense nucleotide sequences corresponding to the first 14 codons of the JFH1 core sequence were synthesized. (**Table 2-3**) Then, these sequences were fused into the zero frame, -2/+1 frame, and -1/+2 frame of the firefly luciferase-coding sequence via EcoRI restriction site. [299] The zero frame construct expresses the luciferase gene, while the -2/+1 frame construct expresses the luciferase gene when -2/+1 frameshift occurs. Negative controls which contained stop codons between the frameshift signal and the luciferase sequence were generated. (**Table 2-3**) All the sequences were confirmed by UC Berkeley DNA Sequencing Facility. These constructs were transfected into Huh7 cells and measured for frameshift efficiencies by Luciferase Assay System (Promega) and Sirius Single Tube Luminometer. [299]

Set	Gene	Direction	Sequence (5' to 3')
-	pJFH1FS-Luc(-1/+2, 0, -	Sense	<u>AATTC<sup>3</sup>aagett<sup>5</sup>AACCTCAAACAGACACACATGAGCACAAATCCT</u> AAACCTCAAAGAAAAACCAAAAGGAAAC <u>G<sup>3</sup></u>
-	2/+1)	Antisense	<u>AATTC</u> <sup>a</sup> GTTTCTTTIGGTTTTCTTTGAGGTTTAGGATTTGTGC TCATGGTGTCTGTTTGAGGTTaagett <sup>e</sup> G <sup>a</sup>
c	borric	Sense	<u>AATTC</u> <sup>a</sup> aagett <sup>c</sup> AACCTCAAACAGACACACATGAGCACAAATCCT AAACCTCAAAGAAAAACCAAAAGGAAACG <b>TAA<sup>b</sup>G</b> <sup>a</sup>
4	() VITTIS-) STITIS	Antisense	$\underline{AATTC}^{a}TTAC^{b}GTTTCTTTGGTTTTCCTTGAGGTTTAGGATTTGTGCTCATGGTGTCTGTTTGAGGTTTagctt^{\underline{G}}^{a}$
	der strand	Sense	<u>AATTC<sup>a</sup>aagett<sup>c</sup>AACCTCAAACAGACACACATGAGCACAAATCCT</u> AAACCTCAAAGAAAAACCAAAAGGAAACGA <b>TAA<sup>b</sup>G<sup>a</sup></b>
n	pirmits(-1/+2NC)	Antisense	<u>AATTC</u> <sup>a</sup> TTA <sup>b</sup> TCGTTTCTTTTGGTTTTCCTTTGAGGTTTAGGATT TGTGCTCATGGTGTCTGTTTGAGGTTaagett <sup>°</sup> G <sup>a</sup>

## Table 2-3. Frameshift signal sequences in frameshift reporter constructs.

<sup>a</sup> EcoRI sites used in the cloning are underlined.

<sup>b</sup> Modified sequences are bolded.

<sup>c</sup> Other restriction sites (HindIII) are shown in lower case letters.

<sup>d</sup> NC denotes negative control.

#### 2.6 Nox Enzyme Activity Assays

For Nox enzyme activity measurement, Huh7 cells were first permeabilized in intracellular-like buffer (140 mM KCl, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM glucose, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM EGTA, 0.193 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> for 100 nM free [Ca2+]i; pH to 7.4 using KOH) containing 40  $\mu$ M digitonin at 30°C for 5 min. Then, SOD (200  $\mu$ g/ml)-inhibited reduction of cytochrome c in an intracellular-like buffer containing 100  $\mu$ M NADPH, 100  $\mu$ M ATP, and 100  $\mu$ M GTP was measured after 10 min pre-incubation with 5 - 30  $\mu$ M DPI or DMSO. [413] 80  $\mu$ M of cytochrome c was used for the reaction and the reaction occurred for 30 min at 37°C. Then, the reduction of cytochrome c (A550nm – A540nm) was analyzed. Data were normalized by total protein level. To determine the role of Nox1 and Nox4, Huh7 cells were transfected with Nox1, Nox4, and control siRNA for 72 hrs and then, they were proceeded for Nox activity assay.

#### 2.7 Luciferase assays

pGL4.45[luc2P/ISRE/Hygro] Vector (Promega) and pIgK-IFN-luc (Addgene) were transfected into Huh7 cells to measure luciferase activities for the interferon-sensitive response element and IFN $\beta$  promoter, respectively. These cells were lysed with 1x Reporter Lysis Buffer and analyzed by Luciferase Reporter Assay Kit (Promega). [414] Luciferase activities were normalized by total protein level.

## 2.8 Subcellular Fractionation

Subcellular fractionation of nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions was performed to observe the localization of target proteins such as p-IRF3. NE-PER kit (Pierce) was used for the subcellular fractionation. Then, the fractions were further analyzed for Western blots. Calnexin and GAPDH were employed as cytoplasmic markers and lamin A/C and histone deacetylase 1 (HDAC1) were used as nuclear markers.

#### 2.9 Small Interfering RNA (siRNA)

For the knockdown of several target genes, small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) were used. Huh7 cells were transfected with 40 nM of RIG-I siRNA 5'-GGAAGAGGUGCAGUAUAUUUU-3', (sense: antisense: 5'-AAUAUACUGCACCUCUUCCUU-3', Dharmacon), MDA-5 siRNA (sense: 5'-UAUCAUUCGAAUUGUGUCAUUUU-3', 5'antisense: AAUGACACAAUUCGAAUGAUAUU-3', Dharmacon) or control siRNA Then, the cells were (Dharmacon) using RNAiMax (Invitrogen). [409] stimulated with HCV PAMP or poly(IC). Control and HCV-replicating cells were transfected with Nox1, Nox4, or control siRNA (40 nM, Smartpool siRNAs, Dharmacon) using RNAiMax (Invitrogen).

## 2.10 Statistics

Data were analyzed using Student's t test or one-way analysis of variance with post hoc comparisons, using SigmaPlot 11.0 (Jandel Scientific). A p value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  standard error of the mean. Experiments were performed in duplicates or triplicates and repeated up to six times.

## **CHAPTER 3**

## ROLE OF HCV F/ARF PROTEIN IN THE RIG-I/MDA5-MEDIATED IFN RESPONSE IN HEPATOCYTES

#### 3.1 Introduction

HCV is a major health problem which is affecting more than 170 million people worldwide. [415] About 80% of HCV-infected patients cannot clear the virus and develop to chronic infection, which increases the risk for progressing to severe liver diseases such as cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Until 2011, the standard of care was a combination of subcutaneous pegylated interferon alpha and oral ribavirin, which showed limited efficacy and severe side effects. The introduction of DAAs, two protease inhibitor drugs approved in 2011, has shown strong promise and marks a new era of HCV treatment. [173], [416]–[418] Newer DAAs are now being released and more DAAs are in various stages of preclinical and clinical development for new treatment options for HCV infected patients. [6]

HCV is an enveloped positive-strand RNA virus of the Flaviviridae family. The RNA genome of HCV is about 9.6kb and is flanked by nontranslated regions which are conserved and highly structured. The HCV RNA genome encodes a single polyprotein precursor of about 3,000 amino acids. [419] The HCV RNA genome contains PAMPs that are detected by RIG-I. [242] PAMP recognition by PRR results in the activation of RIG-I pathway, which eventually produces type I IFNs. HCV has several strategies to evade host IFN responses. [420] One example is that HCV NS3/4A protease cleaves IPS-1 and TRIF to suppress type I IFN signaling. However, the complete mechanisms how HCV evades hot IFN responses are not delineated.

In 1998, Walewski et al. identified a functional alternate open reading frame which is overlapping inside the core sequence at +1 frame. [43] Since ARFP was discovered in 1998, there have been studies to identify the biological role of the ARFP. Many of them suggest that ARFP may be involved in the establishment of chronic infection and hepatocellular carcinoma through different approaches. However, the biological function of HCV ARFP still remains largely unknown. The biological role of ARFPs may be overlapped with core protein because most of the experiments for studying core functions cannot exclude the possibility of ARFP production. Therefore, some of the core functions revealed so far may need to be attributed to the function of ARFP. The immune modulatory role of core protein led us to suspect that F/ARFP may be involved in the innate immune response. We then hypothesize that F/ARFP may contribute to the suppression of the type I IFN induction. Because several HCV proteins were shown to suppress the type I IFN response, we suspected that there may be more viral proteins suppressing the type I IFN response for the persistence of the viral life cycle.

Therefore, the study objective is to determine the biological function of the HCV -2/+1 frame, focusing on F/ARFP, using virus-producing JFH1 cell culture system. In order to study the role of F/ARFP, JFH1 strain, HCV genotype 2a (AB047639), was used. JFH1 strain produces infectious virus particles in cell culture, which provides us opportunity to study the role of F/ARFP in a relation to the host, Huh7 cell. In this project, we present evidence for a novel mechanism of interferon suppression by HCV F/ARFP. We suggest that HCV F/ARFP suppresses type I IFN responses mediated by RIG-I and affects the progression toward chronic infection which ultimately increases the risk for the hepatocellular carcinoma. Therefore, our study may provide new insights into how HCV evades the host innate immune response and points to possible new drug target for therapy.

#### 3.2 Results

#### 3.2.1 Suppression of Type I IFN Responses by HCV F/ARFP

Among many proposed functions of the HCV -2/+1 frame, we focused on the possible role for host immune response. [324], [421], [422] To test whether F/ARFP expression regulates type I IFN response, Huh7 human hepatoma cells were transfected with pHA-F, pFLAG-NS3/4A, and empty control plasmid (pcDEF or pEF). pHA-F has hemagglutinin (HA) tag followed by HCV F/ARFP sequence. pFLAG-NS3/4A has FLAG tag fused with HCV NS3/4A sequence. Western blot confirmed the expression of HA-F and FLAG-NS3/4A expression in the transfected cells through HA and FLAG tag proteins. (**Figure 3-1 (A**))

Then, these cells were again transfected with in vitro synthesized HCV RNA PAMP (HCV 5' UTR or HCV 5' untranslated region) or synthetic dsRNA poly(IC). As we expected, Huh7 cells transfected with control plasmid (pcDEF or pEF) increased IFNβ1 mRNA. (Figure 3-1 (B), (C), (D)) However, Huh7 cells transfected with pHA-F significantly decreased IFNB1 mRNA expression which was stimulated by poly(IC) and HCV UTR. (Figure 3-1 (B), pFLAG-NS3/4A, a positive control, suppressed IFNB1 mRNA (C), (D)) expression as expected. For the cells transfected with both pHA-F and pFLAG-NS3/4A, further decrease of IFNβ1 mRNA was seen. (Figure 3-1 (B), (C)) pF also suppressed IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA induction which was stimulated by pF does not have the HA tag or single nt. poly(IC) and HCV UTR. substitution in the core-coding zero frame which gives stop codon and is present in pHA-F sequence. (Figure 3-1 (D)) These data indicate that F/ARFP can suppress type I IFN induction in human hepatoma cells when it is expressed alone or in combination with NS3/4A.



**Figure 3-1. Suppression of type I IFN induction by HCV F/ARFP.** (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with pEF (empty plasmid), pHA-F, pFLAG-NS3/4A, or pHA-F as well as pFLAG-NS3/4A. Then, Western blot tested whether HA, FLAG, and actin proteins were present in the transfected cells by anti-HA, FLAG, and actin antibodies. (B - D) Huh7 cells were transfected with indicated plasmids. After 48 hrs, the cells were again transfected with 5  $\mu$ g of HCV UTR or poly(IC). Samples were collected 24 hrs after PAMP stimulation and were analyzed by qRT-PCR. For (B - D), star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from corresponding controls (-PAMP group). Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding pEF control for each -PAMP or +PAMP group. Lines with P values also indicate statistically significant difference between those samples. (For (B – D), n = 3)

#### 3.2.2 Type I IFN Induction by HCV PAMP through RIG-I

To confirm the type I IFN induction stimulated by HCV PAMP through RIG-I signaling pathway, RIG-I siRNA or MDA5 siRNA was transfected in Huh7 cells. After 48 hrs, these cells were again transfected with HCV PAMP for 24 hrs to observe the IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA. Western blot confirmed the knockdown of RIG-I protein level in RIG-I siRNA transfected Huh7 cells. (**Figure 3-2 (A**))

RIG-I siRNA transfected cells showed decreased level of IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA induction by HCV UTR as expected, while MDA5 siRNA transfected cells did not show significant change of IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA compared to the one of control siRNA transfected cells. (**Figure 3-2 (B**)) MDA5 siRNA, on the other hand, decreased IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA induction by poly(IC) (data not shown). These data suggest that HCV PAMP activates RIG-I signaling pathway which can be modulated by HCV F/ARFP as well as HCV NS3/4A.



**Figure 3-2. Type I IFN induction by HCV PAMP through RIG-I.** (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with RIG-I or MDA5 siRNA and RIG-I protein level was analyzed by Western blot. (B) After 48 hrs, these cells were transfected with 5  $\mu$ g of HCV RNA PAMP and analyzed for IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA after 24 hrs. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from corresponding - PAMP control groups. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) for each -PAMP or +PAMP. All mRNA data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA and shown as percentage of controls. (n=3)

## 3.2.3 Suppression of Interferon Stimulated Genes (ISGs), Proinflammatory Cytokines by HCV F/ARFP

We also tested whether F/ARFP suppressed interferon stimulated genes and proinflammatory cytokines which were induced by RNA PAMPs. F/ARFP decreased ISGs including ISG15, ISG56, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-like receptor family CARD domain containing 5 (NLRC5), RIG-I, and PKR (also known as protein kinase R, interferon-induced, double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase) which were stimulated by HCV RNA PAMP or poly(IC). (**Figure 3-3 (A)-(E)**) F/ARFP also suppressed proinflammatory cytokines such as TNFα induced by poly(IC). (**Figure 3-3 (F)**)



Figure 3-3. HCV F/ARFP suppresses ISGs and proinflammatory cytokines in Huh7 cells. (A - F) Huh7 cells were transfected with designated plasmids. After 48 hrs, they were transfected with 5  $\mu$ g of HCV RNA PAMP or poly(IC). Samples were collected 24 hrs after stimulation by qRT-PCR. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA and shown as percentage of controls. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from corresponding -PAMP controls. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding pEF control groups for each -PAMP or +PAMP. Lines with P values also indicate statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) between those samples. (n=3)
### 3.2.4 Suppression of Type III IFN by HCV F/ARFP

The biology of type III IFNs has recently started to be explained. Although there have been studies showing that type III IFNs are induced through mechanisms identical to the ones driving type I IFN expression, more recent studies have suggested that there are some important differences. [423]

We, therefore, examined whether F/ARFP suppressed type III IFN induction by RNA PAMPs. F/ARFP decreased IFN $\lambda$ 1 (or interleukin 29) and IFN $\lambda$ 2/3 (or interleukin 28A/B) mRNA elevation by poly(IC). (**Figure 3-4**). These data suggest that HCV F/ARFP participates in the suppression of type I IFN as well as type III IFN responses to intracellular RNA PAMPs in hepatocytes.



**Figure 3-4. HCV F/ARFP suppresses type III IFN responses in Huh7 cells.** (A - B) Huh7 cells were transfected with pHA-F or pFLAG-NS3/4A plasmids and, after 48 hrs, transfected with 5  $\mu$ g of poly(IC). Samples were analyzed 24 hrs after poly(IC) stimulation by qRT-PCR. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA and shown as percentage of controls. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from respective minus PAMP controls. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding pEF controls for each -PAMP or +PAMP group. Lines with P values also indicate statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) between those samples. (n=3)

# 3.2.5 Effects of HCV Core versus F/ARFP on IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA Elevation by HCV UTR

We tested whether F/ARFP suppression on type I IFN pathway was not due to HCV core protein which may have been produced by -1/+2 reverse frameshift in F/ARFP sequence. Data showed that the HCV UTR-stimulated IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA induction was significantly suppressed in Huh7 cells transfected with pHA-F, pF, or pFLAG-NS3/4A compared to pCore $\Delta$ 4. (**Figure 3-5**). This suggest that HCV RNA PAMP-stimulated type I IFN induction is mainly regulated by HCV F/ARFP and HCV core effect is minimal or negligible.



**Figure 3-5. Effects of HCV core versus F/ARFP on IFNβ1 mRNA elevation by HCV UTR.** Huh7 cells were transfected with pCoreΔ4, pHA-F, pF, and pFLAG-NS3/4A and analyzed for IFNβ1 mRNA by qRT-PCR. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from respective minus PAMP controls. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from pCoreΔ4. (n=3)

#### 3.2.6 Detection of HCV F/ARFP in Human Liver

We then evaluated HCV-infected human liver samples for HCV F/ARFP expression. As F/ARFP is derived from HCV core coding sequence and core may be produced by -1/+2 or -2/+1 frameshifts from the F/ARFP construct, we generated core and F constructs that only express core or F/ARFP. (**Table 2-1**) Therefore, pCore $\Delta$ 4 is designed to express only core without producing F/ARFP by introducing a stop codon in -2/+1 frame which does not affect to the amino acid sequence of the core coding zero frame. (**Table 2-1, Figure 3-6 (A)**) On the other hand, pF $\Delta$  is destined to express only F/ARFP without generating core protein by introducing stop codons in the zero frame which does not affect to the amino acid sequence of the F/ARFP coding -2/+1 frame.

As shown in **Figure 3-6** (**A**), core protein was easily detected in Huh7 cells transfected with pCore $\Delta$ 4 using anti-core antibody. However, core protein was not observed in Huh7 cells transfected with pF $\Delta$  as well as pEF using anti-core antibody. F/ARFP, on the other hand, was detected in Huh7 cells transfected with pF $\Delta$ , but not with pCore $\Delta$ 4 as well as pEF. This suggests that core and F/ARFP antibodies did not cross-react significantly with F/ARFP and core, respectively. Using these antibodies, we evaluated HCV-infected human liver samples for HCV F/ARFP expression. HCV-infected human liver samples (n = 3) showed significant levels of F/ARFP compared to control human liver samples (n = 2) which were not infected with HCV (P < 0.05). (**Figure 3-6 (B**))



**Figure 3-6. F/ARFP detection in human liver samples.** (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with 2  $\mu$ g of pEF, pCore $\Delta$ 4, or pF $\Delta$  and analyzed for HCV core and F/ARFP proteins by immunofluorescence using corresponding antibodies. (B) HCV-infected and HCV-uninfected human liver samples (n = 3 for infected, n = 2 for uninfected) were analyzed for HCV core, F/ARFP, and actin proteins by immunofluorescence using corresponding antibodies.

# 3.2.7 F/ARFP Level Comparison between Human Liver Samples and pHA-F-transfected Huh7 Cells

We compared the levels of F/ARFP in human liver samples and the ones in pHA-F-transfected Huh7 cells to identify the physiological level of F/ARFP expression in human liver infected with HCV. As shown in **Figure 3-7** (**A**), the average F/ARFP intensity measured by ImageJ software in human liver samples was comparable with the average F/ARFP intensity in Huh7 cells transfected with 0.5  $\mu$ g of pHA-F. On the other hand, the core intensity calculated by ImageJ software in human liver samples was similar to the level in Huh7 cells transfected with 0.5  $\mu$ g of pCore $\Delta$ 4. This gives us an idea of how much core protein and F/ARFP may be present in human liver infected with HCV.

We also tested whether F/ARFP suppressed type I IFN responses in a concentration dependent manner and whether these levels were comparable to the levels of F/ARFP in human liver samples. Data showed that F/ARFP suppressed type I IFN responses as a function of dose. (**Figure 3-7 (B**)) F/ARFP levels that suppressed poly(IC)-induced IFN response (i.e., 0.1 - 0.5  $\mu$ g of pHA-F, per 3 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells) were comparable to the levels of F/ARFP oberved in human livers infected with HCV (P > 0.05, **Figure 3-7 (A), (B)**). Taken together these data suggest that HCV F/ARFP can decrease type I IFN responses at levels not significantly different from F/ARFP detection in vivo.



Figure 3-7. F/ARFP level comparison between human liver samples and pHA-F-transfected Huh7 cells. (A) HCV-infected and HCV-uninfected human liver samples (n = 3 for infected, n = 2 for uninfected) were analyzed for HCV core, F/ARFP proteins by immunofluorescence using corresponding Immunofluorescence images were analyzed by ImageJ and antibodies. shown as change in average intensities for each tissue. Lines with P values indicate statistically significance (P < 0.05) or no difference (P > 0.05) between the groups. (B) Huh7 cells (3 x 10<sup>5</sup>) were transfected with different amounts of pHA-F plasmids. After 24 hrs, these cells were stimulated with poly(IC) and analyzed for IFNβ1 mRNA after another 24 hrs by qRT-PCR. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the control group. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding pEF control for each -poly(IC) or +poly(IC) group. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA. (For (B), n=3)

# 3.2.8 NS2, NS4B Expression in Huh7.5 Cells with HCV WT and Mutants

To test whether F/ARFP expression affect to the levels of HCV NS2 and/or NS4B, Huh7.5 cells were first electroporated with HCV wild-type (JFH1wt) and three mutants (JFHGND, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4). These were analyzed for HCV core, NS2, and NS4B proteins by Western blot using corresponding antibodies. JFH1GND is a mutant defective in replication and is used as negative control. JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 are mutants that only express core protein in core-coding sequence without producing F/ARFP by -2/+1 frameshifting in the same region.

As NS2 and NS4B were suggested to suppress IFN responses, the expression level or stability by F/ARFP expression would be important factors to evaluate. [295], [296] Data showed that NS2 and NS4B levels in Huh7.5 electroporated with JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 were comparable between groups. (**Figure 3-8**) This suggests that F/ARFP expression does not affect to the expression or stability of HCV NS2 and/or HCV NS4B.



Figure 3-8. NS2, NS4B expression in Huh7.5 cells with HCV WT and mutants. (A) Huh7.5 cells were electroporated with HCV wild-type (JFH1wt) and three mutants (JFHGND, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4) and were analyzed for HCV core, NS2, NS4B, and actin proteins by Western blot using corresponding antibodies. This represents the results of two independent experiments. (B) The band intensity from the two independent experiments (n=2) was measured by ImageJ. Data are expressed as percentages with respect to JFH1wt controls. There is no statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) compared to corresponding controls.

# 3.2.9 Full-length JFH1 Alternate Frame Mutants and the Stability of Stem Loop V and VI

Next, we examined whether F/ARFP can regulate type I IFN pathway in the context of natural F/ARFP expression from full-length HCV in cell culture. As F/ARFP appears to be unessential for HCV replication, we generated fulllength JFH1 mutants that F/ARFP frame was disrupted. The predicted frameshift site (codons 8 - 14) and putative -2/+1 frameshift products of the JFH1 strain are shown in **Figure 1-5** and **Figure 2-1**. JFH1 $\Delta$  has premature termination codons in the -2/+1 frame at codons 30 and 31 (UCG:UAG and UUG:UAG, respectively, Figure 2-1) that are designed to truncate F/ARFP at codon 29 without affecting the amino acid sequence of the zero frame. (Figure 2-1, Table 2-1) The nt. substitutions did not influence the synthesis of ARF/DS and Core+1/S, but affected the expression of ARF/26(+1). Although the nt. substitutions did not disrupt the overall structure of stem loops V and VI, there was slight destabilization of the base of SLVI which decreased  $\Delta G$  of SLVI from -36 kcal/mol in the JFH1wt sequence to -30.40 kcal/mol in JFH1Δ based on RNA secondary structure prediction via Mfold. (Figure 3-9) On the other hand,  $JFH1\Delta4$  contained a single stop codon (UUA:UAA) in the -2/+1 frame at codon 22 which only disrupt the synthesis of F/ARFP without affecting to the synthesis of core, ARF/DS, Core+1/S, ARF/26(+1) or other potential protein products of the -2/+1 frame. (Figure 2-1, **Table 2-1**). JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 did not destabilize SLV or SLVI which is supported by the fact that  $\Delta Gs$  of SLV for both JFH1wt and JFH1 $\Delta 4$  were not changed by the nt. substitution. ( $\Delta G$  of -19.70 kcal/mol for both JFH1wt and JFH1 $\Delta 4$  SLV by Mfold)



Figure 3-9. Full-length JFH1 alternate frame mutants and the stability of stem loop V and VI. To test whether the nt. substitutions for the JFH1 mutants affected the stability of SLV and SLVI,  $\Delta$ Gs for SLV and SLVI of JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , or JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 were measured by Mfold.

# 3.2.10 JFH1 $\Delta$ and $\Delta$ 4 Replication Measured by Intracellular HCV RNAs

To test whether the absence of F/ARFP affected the replication of JFH1 mutants, equal amounts of positive-sense JFH1wt or JFH1 mutant RNA transcripts were transfected into Huh7 cells. The cells were collected at different time points and analyzed for viral replication by qRT-PCR. Mock transfected cells or JFH1GND RNA-transfected cells were used as negative controls. JFH1wt replicated for at least 19 days in Huh7 cells. (**Figure 3-10** (**A**)) For mock transfected Huh7 cells, viral RNA levels were below detection limit. For JFH1GND transfected Huh7 cells, on the other hand, viral RNA levels were between approximately 3 x 10<sup>6</sup> copies/ $\mu$ g (~2 – 3 % of JFH1wt) and below the detection limit at 24 hrs. As shown in **Figure 3-10**, both JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$  retained the ability to replicate without significant difference compared to JFH1wt up to at least 19 days. For the evaluation of viral RNA levels, qRT-PCR as well as Northern blot were employed.



Figure 3-10. JFH1 $\Delta$  and  $\Delta$ 4 replication measured by intracellular HCV RNAs. (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4, or no RNA (mock) and analyzed for intracellular HCV RNAs by qRT-PCR. Data were shown as copies per  $\mu$ g total RNA. (B) Huh7 cells were transfected with JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4, or no RNA (mock) and analyzed for intracellular HCV RNAs by Northern blots. GAPDH mRNA was analyzed as control. (n=3)

# 3.2.11 JFH1 $\Delta$ and $\Delta4$ Replication Measured by Minus Sense HCV RNAs

We further tested the replication ability of both JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 by measuring intracellular minus sense HCV RNAs and intracellular HCV RNAs collected from the cells infected with the medium containing infectious viral particles. Both were the evidences to support the fact that active viral replication occurs in the cell.

As shown in **Figure 3-11**, both JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 showed the ability to replicate without significant difference compared to JFH1wt up to at least 19 days. For the evaluation of viral RNA levels, qRT-PCR was used. Together with the results from **Figure 3-10**, we found that JFH1wt and mutants generally replicated similarly except that the replication trends of JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 followed those of JFH1wt better than JFH1 $\Delta$  did. (**Figure 3-10**, **Figure 3-11**) JFH1 $\Delta$  showed slightly higher viral RNA levels than JFH1wt at earlier time points. (**Figure 3-10**, **Figure 3-11**) On the other hand, JFH1wt showed slightly higher levels of viral RNA than JFH1 mutants at later time points. When Huh7 cells were infected with JFH1wt and mutants, viral RNA levels were more similar between mutants than with JFH1wt. (**Figure 3-11 (B)**).



Figure 3-11. JFH1 $\Delta$  and  $\Delta$ 4 replication measured by minus sense HCV RNAs. (A) Huh7 cells were transfected with JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4, or no RNA (mock) and analyzed for intracellular minus sense HCV RNAs by qRT-PCR. Data were shown as copies per  $\mu$ g total RNA. (B) Huh7 cells were infected with medium collected from HCV RNA transfected cells at times indicated and measured for HCV RNA level after 48 hrs by qRT-PCR. Data were shown as HCV RNA copies per  $\mu$ g total RNA. (n=3)

#### 3.2.12 F/ARFP Signal Comparison between JFH1wt and Mutant

F/ARFP signal was measured in JFH1wt and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 to check the relative level of F/ARFP using immunofluoresence analysis. As expected, higher levels of F/ARFP signal were observed in JFH1wt compared to JFH1 $\Delta$ 4, while the core signal was comparable between JFH1wt and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4. (**Figure 3-12**) On the other hand, frameshift efficiencies, measured by frameshift reporter constructs containing only codons 1 – 14 of JFH1 sequence, were 0.88 ± 0.05 % for the -2/+1 frameshift (versus the negative control containing stop codon, 0.15 ± 0.03, P < 0.05) and 0.81 ± 0.07 for the -1/+2 frameshift (versus the negative control containing stop codon, 0.065 ± 0.002, P < 0.05). (**Table 2-3**) Frameshift rates ranged from ~0.3 to ~0.9 % for the -2/+1 frameshift.



Figure 3-12. F/ARFP signal comparison between JFH1wt and mutant. Huh7 cells electroporated with JFH1wt and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 were analyzed for core and F/ARFP proteins by immunofluorescence using corresponding antibodies and quantified using ImageJ. Lines with P values indicate statistically significant difference (P < 0.001) or no difference (P > 0.05) between samples. (For (A), n=5, for (B), n=3)

#### 3.2.13 IFN Induction by the Full Length JFH1 F/ARFP Mutants

Then, we observed whether JFH1wt and the mutants showed different abilities to induce type I IFNs. Huh7 cells were transfected with JFH1wt or JFH1 mutant RNA transcripts and analyzed for IFN $\beta$ 1 as well as IFN $\alpha$  mRNAs by qRT-PCR. JFH1wt did not increase IFN $\beta$ 1 or IFN $\alpha$ 8 mRNAs, however both JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 induced higher levels of IFN $\beta$ 1 and IFN $\alpha$ 8 mRNAs compared to JFH1wt. (**Figure 3-13 (A), (B)**) JFH1wt and mutants showed similar replication levels (**Figure 3-13 (A)**) and this was also observed in previous section. (**Figure 3-10, Figure 3-11**)

These experiments were mostly done within 48 - 72 hrs, but similar effects were shown at later time points. To measure the secreted IFN $\beta$ 1 protein level in cell culture medium harvested from JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4-replicating cells, ELISA was used. The result showed that there are modest increases in the amount of IFN $\beta$ 1 in cell culture medium from JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4-replicating cells compared to JFH1wt. (**Figure 3-13 (C)**) F/ARFP mutations, therefore, promoted the IFN response of Huh7 cells with replicating HCV and F/ARFP expression was sufficient to suppress IFN responses to HCV RNA PAMP in these cells. (**Figure 3-1, Figure 3-3**)



**Figure 3-13. Induction of type I IFNs by HCV -2/+1 frame mutants.** (A, B) Huh7 cells were transfected with JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4, or no RNA (mock) and analyzed for IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA, IFN $\alpha$ 8 mRNA, or HCV RNA by qRT-PCR. (C) Cell culture media were analyzed for secreted IFN $\beta$ 1 by ELISA. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from controls. (For (A – B), n=3, for (C), n=2)

### 3.2.14 IFN Induction in Huh7 Cells Infected by the JFH1 Mutants

We further tested whether the type I IFN induction by HCV -2/+1 frame mutants could be observed in the Huh7 cells infected by the mutants. Cell culture medium harvested from the JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , JFH1 $\Delta$ 4, or no RNA (mock) transfected Huh7 cells were collected and used to infect naïve Huh7 cells. Cells were analyzed for IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA by qRT-PCR. Increased levels of IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA were observed in Huh7 cells infected with JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 compared to JFH1wt. (**Figure 3-14**) Therefore, together with the data from **Figure 3-13**, F/ARFP mutations promoted the IFN response of Huh7 cells both transfected and infected with HCV. (**Figure 3-1**, **Figure 3-3**).



Figure 3-14. IFN induction in Huh7 cells infected by the JFH1 mutants. Cell culture medium harvested from the indicated viral RNA transcriptelectroporated Huh7 cells were used to infect naïve Huh7 cells. Cells were collected and analyzed for IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA by qRT-PCR. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA and expressed as percentage of controls. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from controls. (n=2)

### 3.2.15 Role of RIG-I Signaling Pathway

It is known that HCV RNA PAMP stimulates IFN pathway through RIG-I in Huh7 cells. (**Figure 3-2**) [410] To examine whether JFH1 mutants acted on this signaling pathway to promote IFN induction, we compared the IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA level of Huh7.5 cells, which are defective of functional RIG-I because of T55I mutation. [321], [410] Huh7.5 cells transfected with JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 showed the decreased IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA level compared to Huh7 cells. (**Figure 3-15 (A)**) We also used RIG-I siRNA to test whether the IFN response enhancement in Huh7 cells by the F/ARFP mutations in JFH1 $\Delta$  or JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 was dependent on RIG-I. Both IFN $\beta$ 1 and RIG-I mRNAs were increased in the Huh7 cells transfected with JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 compared to JFH1wt and RIG-I siRNA suppressed JFH1 $\Delta$ 4-associated IFN $\beta$  induction. (**Figure 3-15 (B**)) These data suggest that IFN modulation by alternate reading frame mutants are involved in the RIG-I signaling pathway.



**Figure 3-15.** Role of RIG-I in the modulation of IFNβ1 by HCV -2/+1 frame mutants. (A) Huh7 and Huh7.5 cells were transfected with JFH1wt, JFH1Δ, JFH1Δ4, or no RNA (mock) and analyzed for IFNβ1 mRNA after 72 hrs by qRT-PCR. (B) Huh7 cells were transfected with RIG-I siRNA for 48 – 72 hrs and then electroporated with JFH1wt, JFH1Δ4, or no RNA (mock). After 24 – 48 hrs, these cells were collected and analyzed for IFNβ1 and RIG-I mRNAs by qRT-PCR. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) compared to controls. Lines with P values indicate statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) between those groups. (n=3)

#### 3.2.16 Antiviral Function of IFN and the JFH1 F/ARFP Mutants

To examine whether the antiviral function of IFN $\alpha$  was influenced by the -2/+1 mutants, we evaluated the effects of exogenous IFN $\alpha$  on JFH1wt, JFH1 $\Delta$ , and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 replication in Huh7 cells. As shown in **Figure 3-16**, JFH1 $\Delta$  and JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 showed similar sensitivity to exogenous IFN $\alpha$  compared to JFH1wt. Both JFH1wt and JFH1 mutants were not resistant to exogenous IFN $\alpha$  as HCV RNA levels were decreased by IFN $\alpha$  treatment. (**Figure 3-16**) Northern blot also confirmed the decreases of HCV RNA levels. (data not shown)

Together with the data from **Figure 3-15**, HCV F/ARFP suppresses IFN production by aiming RIG-I pathway in Huh7 cells, without substantially affecting the antiviral functions of IFN $\alpha$ .





#### 3.2.17 Trans-complementation of JFH1∆4 with HCV F/ARFP

Next, we tested whether IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA induction by JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 was suppressed by adding F/ARFP back. Huh7 cells were transfected with pCore $\Delta$  or pF plasmid and analyzed for IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA after electroporating with either JFH1wt or JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 RNA. pCore $\Delta$  contained the same nt. substitutions (stop codon) in the F/ARFP frame as JFH1 $\Delta$ . JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 induced higher IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA level over JFH1wt, but the increase was significantly diminished by pF compared to pCore $\Delta$ . (**Figure 3-17**) Data were normalized by intracellular JFH1 RNA in **Figure 3-17** and showed similar trends when they were not normalized by JFH1 RNA (data not shown). The transcomplementation of JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 with F/ARFP strongly suggests that the enhancement of IFN induction by the F/ARFP mutant results from the absence of F/ARFP.



**Figure 3-17.** Effects of HCV core versus F/ARFP on IFNβ1 mRNA elevation by JFH1Δ4. Huh7 cells were transfected with pCoreΔ or pF and were electroporated with JFH1wt or JFH1Δ4 RNA. These cells were analyzed for IFNβ1 mRNA by qRT-PCR. Data are normalized by JFH1 RNA and GAPDH mRNA levels and shown as percentage of pCoreΔ / JFH1wt transfected control. Star indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from JFH1wt for each plasmid group. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from pCoreΔ. (n=4)

### 3.2.18 HCV F/ARFP Translocation by Poly(IC) Stimulation

Finally, we observed whether HCV F/ARFP was translocated into the nucleus by poly(IC) stimulation in Huh7 cells transfected with pHA-F or pFLAG-NS3/4A. Immunofluorescence analysis showed that F/ARFP translocated into the nucleus by poly(IC) in Huh7 cells transfected with pHA-F, while NS3/4A localization did not change by the poly(IC) stimulation in Huh7 cells transfected with pFLAG-NS3/4A. Immunofluorescence was performed using anti-HA or anti-FLAG antibodies. Previously, subcellular fractionation experiment showed that p-IRF3 level in the nucleus was not decreased in the pHA-F-transfected Huh7 cells by poly(IC) stimulation (data not shown). Taken together, this suggests that F/ARFP appears to translocate into the nucleus by HCV PAMP stimulation and may regulate the type I IFN response in the nucleus.



**Figure 3-18. HCV F/ARFP translocation by poly(IC) stimulation.** Huh7 cells were transfected with pHA-F or pFLAG-NS3/4A for 48 hrs and were again transfected with poly(IC). After 16 hrs, samples were analyzed for HA-F and FLAG-NS3/4A proteins using anti-HA or anti-FLAG antibodies by immunofluorescence.

#### 3.3 Discussion

In this project, we suggest that F/ARFP expression is sufficient to suppress type I and III IFN as well as proinflammatory cytokines responses to RIG-I/MDA5 PAMPs in Huh7 cells. Additionally, mutations affecting the HCV F/ARFP induced IFN responses in Huh7 cells. JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 which has a single nt. substitution promoted the IFN response to HCV and JFH1 $\Delta$  which has a couple of nt. substitutions also showed similar effects as JFH1 $\Delta$ 4. Moreover, the fact that trans-complementation of JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 with F/ARFP diminished the IFN response enhancement by JFH1 $\Delta$ 4 supported the suppressive role of F/ARFP on type I IFN signaling pathway. Taken together, these data suggest that F/ARFP involved in the suppression of the RIG-I/MDA5-mediated IFN responses in hepatocytes.

There are several viral factors that suppress RIG-I signaling pathway. These factors include NS3/4A, NS2, as well as NS4B. [295], [424]–[426] F/ARFP, therefore, is likely to cooperate with these factors to further downregulate IFN responses during HCV infection. The nt. substitutions introduced in pCore $\Delta$ , pCore $\Delta$ 4, and pF plasmids are located in outside the known HCV RIG-I PAMP regions. [410], [412] Therefore, the nt. substitutions we generated may not affect to the PAMPs. It was recently shown that the amino acids 4 – 14 deletion of HCV core abrogate the suppression of Newcastle disease virus-induced IRF-3 activation by HCV core [427] and further studies may require to confirm whether this was due to the deletion of frameshift signal.

F/ARFP is a basic protein and has been difficult to study because of its short half-life as well as low levels of frameshift rates. Also, the frameshift rates can change in terms of the metabolic context of the cell which is not explained well. [313], [428]-[430] For the unstability of F/ARFP, the secondary RNA structure region appears to be involved. The secondary RNA structure is known to regulate HCV frameshifting. [300], [429] Despite of its short half-life and low frameshifting level, F/ARFP expression has been reported from the majority of hepatitis C patients who showed F/ARFPreactive antibodies. In addition, in vitro translation of core and genomic HCV RNAs and frameshift assays using Huh7 cells also confirm the F/ARFP expression in the corresponding experimental models. [297], [299]-[301], [431] In this project, we detected F/ARFP expression using anti-F/ARFP antibody in the cells transfected with F/ARFP-expressing plasmid, HCVinfected human liver samples, and JFH1wt-replicating cells. (Figure 3-6, **Figure 3-12**) We showed that the cells transfected with F/ARFP-expressing plasmid produce F/ARFP within the range detected in HCV-infected patient liver.

Our mutational analysis suggests that F/ARFP regulation on the IFN response requires a sequence downstream of codon 29. (Figure 2-1, Table 2-1) The effects of  $\Delta 4$  mutation and F/ARFP production further suggest that other alternate reading frame protein products and SLV/VI are not involved in the suppression of IFN responses by F/ARFP we observed. However, additional studies may require to confirm whether these factors as well as unknown alternate reading frame protein products participate in the suppressive effects on IFN. [300]–[303], [432]

In this project, we showed that the HCV F/ARFP mutants replicated at similar or increased levels to JFH1wt. This allowed us to study the biological role of F/ARFP in terms of complete viral replication. Moreover, this is consistent with the previous studies reporting that the -2/+1 frame of HCV core coding region appeared to be unessential for HCV replication. [318], [433], [434] Small increase observed from JFH1A replication can be explained by slight change of SLVI base or absence of cytoskeletal disruption by alternate reading frame products in JFH1 $\Delta$ , but not JFH1 $\Delta$ 4. [326], [433], [434] Also, IFNs produced by Huh7 cells transfected with JFH1 mutants were not greatly higher than the ones produced by Huh7 cells harboring The amount of secreted IFN difference did not appear to be JFH1wt. significantly influential to the HCV replication because of the presence of multiple HCV viral factors that counteract against the functions of IFN. [420] In addition, standard dideoxy sequencing of fourteen RT-PCR clones produced from JFH1Δ4 RNA collected at day 26 showed no change from the  $\Delta 4$  mutation we introduced. This suggests that there were no revertants arisen. However, further studies would be required to examine HCV F/ARFP functions in type I IFN pathway modulation using systems that generate physiological levels of IFN besides generating HCV.

The mechanisms of how F/ARFP interferes with IFN responses are yet unknown. However, our study suggests that the step(s) affected by F/ARFP occur at or around IRF-3 in the RIG-I/MDA-5 signaling pathway. RIG-I/MDA-5 signaling pathways are modulated by several mechanisms such as ligand interactions, phosphorylation, ubiquitination, protein degradation, and change of signaling protein expression. IFN<sub>β</sub>1 mRNA transcription is regulated by the harmonious cooperation of IRF3, NFkB, and activating transcription factor 2 (ATF2)/c-Jun (alternatively AP-1). [435] Recently, it was shown that HCV alternate reading frame protein products decreased hepcidin transcription through an AP-1 binding site, suggesting that type I IFN as well as proinflammatory cytokine expression can be affected because of AP-1 participation for both the type I IFN and proinflammatory cytokine production. In our study, we observed that p-IRF3 levels in the nucleus had not decreased in the pHA-F-transfected Huh7 cells by poly(IC) stimulation in the subcellular fractionation experiment. (data not shown) Also, HCV F/ARFP was translocated into the nucleus by poly(IC) stimulation in Huh7 cells transfected with pHA-F. (Figure 3-18) Therefore, this suggests that F/ARFP appears to translocate into the nucleus by HCV PAMP stimulation and may regulate the type I IFN response in the nucleus by targeting an AP-1 binding site.

Moreover, there are other studies suggesting that F/ARFP modulates p21 expression and some of the NF $\kappa$ B-regulated gene expression. [322], [324] In addition, F/ARFP was shown to interact with the host proteasome [429], suggesting the possibility of the target protein degradation by F/ARFP. The suppression of type III IFNs, IFN $\lambda$ 1 and IFN $\lambda$ 2/3, mRNAs by F/ARFP (**Figure 3-4**) is consistent with the literature showing that type III IFNs are induced through mechanisms identical to the ones driving type I IFN expression. [423] Also, F/ARFP did not significantly affect to the amount of NS3/4A. (**Figure 3-1**).

F/ARFP decreased RIG-I mRNA (**Figure 3-3**) and the RIG-I mRNA level was not changed with F/ARFP expression. The RIG-I mRNA levels were similar in JFH1 F/ARFP mutants lacking PAMP stimulation, suggesting that this is likely due to the result of IFN suppression. Recently, it was shown that the presence of F/ARFP antibody was involved in decreased CpG-induced IFNα production by peripheral blood mononuclear cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in choronic HCV patients, suggesting the possible suppressive role of F/ARFP on another PRR signaling pathway. [436] Together, further studies are necessary to explain the precise mechanism of RIG-I/MDA-5 pathway suppression by F/ARFP.

This study suggests another mechanism utilized by HCV to evade host IFN responses and an important role of the alternate reading frame protein in the regulation of host innate immunity by HCV. It will be beneficial to know how HCV F/ARFP cooperates with other viral and host factors to counteract against the host IFN responses during HCV infection. Therefore, our study provides new insights into how HCV evades host innate immune response and points to possible new drug target for therapy.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# ROLE OF NAD(P)H OXIDASES IN THE RIG-I/MDA5-MEDIATED IFN RESPONSE IN HEPATOCYTES

### 4.1 Introduction

The first line of defense against viruses largely depends on restriction of virus replication by pathogen recognition receptors such as RIG-I and MDA5 that transmit signals to induce antiviral genes. Although recent studies have increased our understanding of how antiviral signaling mechanisms operate in various systems, much remains to be known concerning molecular mechanisms involved in the transduction of signals from viral recognition to antiviral gene expression. The activation of transcription factor IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B, and AP-1 prompts the cells to enter an antiviral state through the expression of type I IFN genes which modulate protein synthesis, growth arrest, and apoptosis. For IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B, and AP-1 activation, a set of phosphorylation events are required to occur, which results in the nuclear translocation of IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B, and AP-1.

ROS such as superoxide and hydrogen peroxide are considered to function as cellular switches for signaling cascades which regulates gene expression involved in cell proliferation, apoptosis, and immune responses. [437], [438] ROS control signaling cascades via redox-sensitive phosphorylation. Examples of oxidation-regulated proteins are protein tyrosine phosphatases, phosphatase and tensin homolog, mitogen-activated protein kinase phosphatases, and so on. [348]–[350] Oxidation of the thiol residues by hydrogen peroxide is reversible, which is defaulted by thioredoxin or glutathione.

There are seven members of this family, Nox1-5 and Duox1-2, which show tissue and cell-type specific expression patterns. [388] Nox2 was the first-identified member of this family and is well known for its defensive role against bacterial and fungal pathogens. [439] Aside from the established roles in innate immune functions of macrophages and other cells, NAD(P)H oxidase family enzymes function as an important source of regulated production of ROS in cell signaling and regulation of gene expression.

Previous studies in our lab indicate that Nox enzymes also play a role in HCV pathogenesis. However, the biological role in viral infections of Nox enzymes still remains largely unknown. Here, we hypothesize that Nox1 functions as an antiviral regulator in type I IFN pathway because the preliminary data showed that Nox1 gene expression was increased by poly(IC) stimulation. Therefore, the study objective is to determine the biological function of the Nox enzymes, focusing on Nox1, using virus-producing JFH1 cell culture system. In this project, we present evidence for an antiviral role of Nox1 enzyme in type I IFN pathway. We suspect that Nox1 enhances type I IFN responses initiated by RIG-I and ultimately decreases the HCV persistence in the infected cells. Therefore, our study may provide new insights into how Nox enzymes function as antiviral agents and points to possible new drug target for therapy.

### 4.2 Results



## 4.2.1 Nox/Duox mRNA Induction by Poly(IC)

Figure 4-1. Nox/Duox mRNAs are increased by poly(IC). Nox/Duox mRNA levels were measured in (A) Huh7 and (B) telomerase-reconstituted primary human fetal hepatocyte (FH) cells by qRT-PCR after stimulation with poly(IC) for (A) 48 hrs and (B) 24 hrs. Data are normalized by GAPDH mRNA. Star (\*) indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding control. (n=3)

To test the role of Nox/Duox enzymes in viral infection, we first measured Nox/Duox mRNA level in poly(IC) stimulated Huh7 human hepatoma cells. Results showed that poly(IC), a synthetic double stranded RNA which mimics viral PAMP, elevates Nox1, Nox4, Nox5, Duox1, and Duox2 mRNA levels in Huh7 cells (**Figure 4-1 (A**)). Similar effects were seen in non-hepatoma hepatocytes such as telomerase-reconstituted primary human fetal hepatocytes (FH) cells (**Figure 4-1 (B**)). This suggests that Nox/Duox enzymes can be induced during viral infection and have a role in viral innate immune response.

#### 4.2.2 Nox4 Protein Induction by Poly(IC)

We also measured Nox4 protein level in poly(IC) stimulated Huh7 human hepatoma cells. Results showed that poly(IC) elevates Nox4 protein level in Huh7 cells in early time points after poly(IC) stimulation (**Figure 4-2**). In another experiment, Nox4 protein elevation was also observed 6h and 24h after poly(IC) stimulation. This suggests that Nox4 enzyme can be induced during viral infection and have a role in viral innate immune response.



**Figure 4-2. Nox4 protein is increased by poly(IC) in Huh7 cells.** (A) Nox4 protein level was measured in Huh7 cells by Western blot after stimulation with poly(IC) for 30m, 1h, 2h, and 3h. Actin level was used as loading control. This is one representative result of two independent experiments. (B) The band intensity from (A) was measured by ImageJ. (n=1)



4.2.3 IFNβ, TNFα mRNA Level in DPI Treatment

**Figure 4-3. IFN** $\beta$  **mRNA level is decreased with DPI treatment.** IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA expression was assessed by qRT-PCR in Huh7 cells that were pretreated with DPI (diphenylene iodonium) for 30 min and then transfected with poly(IC). Star (\*) indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding partner. (n=3)

Then we measured poly(IC)-stimulated IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA level in DPI pretreated Huh7 cells in order to see whether Nox/Duox enzymes have a role in type I IFN signaling pathway. DPI is well known for its inhibitory effect on flavoproteins such as Nox/Duox enzymes. [440] If Nox/Duox enzymes function in type I IFN pathway as signal modulators, changes in IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA level would be observed. DPI suppressed the poly(IC)-triggered IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA induction (**Figure 4-3 (A**)). Similarly, DPI also downregulated the poly(IC)-induced TNF $\alpha$  mRNA elevation (**Figure 4-3 (B**)). TNF $\alpha$ , which is one of proinflammatory cytokines, is regulated by NF $\kappa$ B and/or AP-1 transcription factor(s). This suggests that Nox/Duox enzymes may modulate type I IFN pathway as well as NF $\kappa$ B and/or AP-1 pathway.

#### 4.2.4 IFNβ, TNFα mRNA Level in Nox1 siRNA Transfected Huh7 Cells

Since the effect of DPI treatment suggested possible role of Nox/Duox enzymes in type I IFN pathway as well as NF<sub>K</sub>B and/or AP-1 pathway, we then started to narrow down specific Nox/Duox proteins that may be involved in this pathway. We first tested Nox1 because our recent studies showed that both Nox1 and Nox4 enzymes play an important role in viral infections including HCV. Also, there are evidences that Nox1 may function as a host defense oxidase. [409]

We measured IFN $\beta$  mRNA level in Nox1 siRNA transfected Huh7 cells that are subsequently stimulated with poly(IC). Nox1 siRNA diminished poly(IC) stimulated IFN $\beta$  mRNA increase in Huh7 cells, compared to non-targeting control siRNA (**Figure 4-4 (A**)). Similarly, Nox1 siRNA suppressed poly(IC)triggered TNF $\alpha$  mRNA induction (**Figure 4-4 (B**)). Nox1 mRNA level was decreased by Nox1 siRNA (**Figure 4-4 (C**)). This suggests that Nox1 enzyme may function in the RIG-I/MDA5-mediated IFN signaling pathway as well as NF $\kappa$ B and/or AP-1 pathway and supports a role of Nox proteins in host innate immune response.



**Figure 4-4. Type I IFN and proinflammatory cytokine modulation by Nox1 protein.** (A, B) IFN $\beta$ 1 and TNF $\alpha$  mRNA level were quantified by qRT-PCR in Nox1 siRNA transfected Huh7 cells stimulated by poly(IC). (A) IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA, (B) TNF $\alpha$  mRNA, and (C) Nox1 mRNA levels are shown. Data were normalized by GAPDH mRNA. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding control siRNA for each -poly(IC) or +poly(IC) group. (n=3)

# 4.2.5 Nox5 mRNA Level in HCV Transfected Huh7 Cells Treated with IFN $\alpha,$ IFN $\gamma$

Then we tested the effect of IFN $\alpha$  or IFN $\gamma$  treatment in the presence of HCV in Huh7 cells. As it is known that Nox/Duox expression is regulated by IFN $\gamma$ , our result showed that Nox5 mRNA is increased by IFN $\gamma$ , but not by IFN $\alpha$ . In addition, the increase was amplified by the presence of HCV (**Figure 4-5**). This suggests that Nox5 can be induced during viral infection and have a role in viral innate immune response.



**Figure 4-5.** Nox5 mRNA induction in JFH1 transfected Huh7 cells treated with IFN $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$ . Nox5 mRNA was assessed by qRT-PCR in JFH1wt transfected Huh7 cells. These cells were incubated with IFN $\alpha$  or IFN $\gamma$  for 72 hrs before collection. Data are normalized by GAPDH mRNA. Letter "a" indicates statistically significant difference (P < 0.05) from the corresponding control. (n=3)

#### 4.2.6 Upregulated HCV Replication by Nox1, Nox4 Knockdown

We also measured HCV replication in Nox1, Nox4 siRNA transfected Huh7 cells. Nox1, Nox4 siRNA transfected Huh7 cells were electroporated with HCV JFH1 strain, and incubated up to day 5. Results showed that HCV replication was increased by Nox1, Nox4 knockdown (**Figure 4-6**). At day 2, HCV replication is 14 fold increased by Nox1 knockdown and 2.5 fold elevated by Nox4 knockdown. This suggests that Nox1 and Nox4 may function as antiviral factors since HCV replication is significantly increased by Nox1, Nox4 knockdown.





#### 4.3 Discussion

In this project, we suggest that Nox/Duox enzymes in Huh7 cells function in the RIG-I/MDA5-mediated IFN signaling during HCV infections. In our study, the mRNA levels of Nox/Duox enzymes including Nox1, Nox4, Nox5, Duox1, and Duox2 were elevated by poly(IC), a synthetic double stranded RNA which mimics viral PAMP. (**Figure 4-1**) This trend was consistent with the protein level of Nox4 which was increased by poly(IC) at early times. (**Figure 4-2**) Nox/Duox mRNA induction by poly(IC) was not only observed in Huh7 human hepatoma cells, but also in telomerase-reconstituted primary human fetal hepatocytes. Together, this led us to hypothesize that Nox/Duox enzymes can be induced during viral infection and may modulate type I IFN pathway.

Previously, numerous studies regarding innate immune role of Nox/Duox enzymes are mainly focused on Nox2. It was shown that Nox2 had an important antibacterial role by generating large amounts of ROS, known as oxidative burst, in phagocytic cells. [441] However, Nox/Duox involvement in antiviral innate immune defense has not been vigorously studied until recently. Previously, Nox2 was shown to mediate HIV Tat-induced JNK activation and cytoskeletal rearrangement in HUVEC. [442] Also, Nox2 was suggested to mediate Paramyxoviridae virus-induced NF-kB activation and downstream proinflammatory cytokines production in airway epithelial cells (AEC). [443] More recently, Soucy-Faulkner et al. suggested that Nox2 and ROS are required for the host cell to induce an efficient RIG-I-mediated IRF-3 activation and downstream antiviral IFNB1 and ISG56 (or IFIT1) gene expression. In addition to Nox2, Nox1 was also shown to be involved in the process of viral infection. Nox1 mediated Rhinovirus-induced barrier dysfunction in polarized airway epithelial cells. [444] Interestingly, Nox appears to be involved in IRF3 activation following TLR4 stimulation by LPS in U373/CD14. [445] In this study, Nox4 seems to play a role in an ASK1/p38 pathway that results in the accumulation of IRF3. Although it was not specified which Nox was involved, there have been studies suggesting that other Nox and/or Duox may also have a role during virus infection. Other reports suggested that IRF3 was activated by Nox enzyme(s) during respiratory syncitial virus (RSV) infection [401] and Dengue virus (DENV) infection accumulated ROS generated by Nox enzymes to mount innate immune responses in DENVinfected dendritic cells. [402]

In our study, we showed that poly(IC)-triggered IFNβ1 mRNA induction was suppressed by DPI, a flavoprotein inhibitor, in Huh7 cells. (**Figure 4-3**) Further study suggested that Nox1 siRNA-transfected Huh7 cells decreased poly(IC)-stimulated IFNβ1 mRNA induction compared to non-targeting control siRNA-transfected Huh7 cells. (**Figure 4-4**) Moreover, HCV replication was increased by Nox1 and Nox4 knockdown by corresponding siRNAs. (**Figure 4-6**) Taken together, these data suggest that Nox1 and/or Nox4 enzymes may modulate type I IFN pathway. Our study may provide new insights about antiviral roles of Nox/Duox enzymes because there have been few studies regarding Nox1 and Nox4.

Nox enzymes are well known sources for cellular ROS generation in response to a number of stimuli. Over the past years, there have been many studies to explain the biological function of Nox enzymes in the context of different biological processes including cell proliferation, apoptosis, proinflammatory responses, and cellular switches that regulate signal transduction pathways. [437], [438] In our study, except for the Nox1 and/or Nox4 participation in type I IFN pathway, these Nox enzymes are also involved in the NF $\kappa$ B and/or AP-1 pathway because Nox1 siRNA diminished poly(IC) stimulated IFN $\beta$ 1 and TNF $\alpha$  mRNA increase in Huh7 cells compared to non-targeting control siRNA. (**Figure 4-4**) Therefore, Nox/Duox enzymes appear to have a role in type I IFN pathway as well as proinflammatory cytokine pathway.

Although there are several evidences suggesting that Nox/Duox enzymes may regulate type I IFN pathway as well as proinflammatory cytokine pathway, much remains to be explained how these enzymes modulate the signaling pathways. Recently, a role of ROS in RIG-I/MDA5 signaling pathway was explained in Atg52/2 MEF cells that are defective in autophagy process. ROS increased RIG-I/MDA5-mediated cytokines production in these cells. [446] However, it is not yet clear how this ROS-dependent mechanism is associated with RIG-I/MDA5 signaling pathway regulation in detail. It was shown that Nox2 knockdown changed phosphorylation of multiple phosphoacceptor sites including Ser386, Ser396, and Ser398 in the Cterminal region of IRF3. Also, previous studies demonstrated that NOX2 was necessary for TBK1 catalytic activation and IKKε expression. [447], [448] Therefore, ROS generated by Nox/Duox enzymes may be directly or indirectly involved in the phosphorylation of multiple phosphoacceptor sites of IRF3 as well as other mediators to regulate IRF3, NFκB, and/or AP-1 pathways.

### **CHAPTER 5**

### **CONCLUSION & FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

#### 5.1 Conclusion & Future Directions

In this projects, we suggest that F/ARFP expression is sufficient to suppress RIG-I/MDA5-mediated type I IFN pathway in Huh7 cells and at least Nox1 enzyme among seven Nox/Duox family modulates RIG-I/MDA5-mediated type I IFN pathway in Huh7 cells. Additionally, F/ARFP was shown to suppress type III IFN as well as proinflammatory cytokine pathways and Nox1 was also suggested to participate in proinflammatory cytokine pathways.

There are several viral factors that suppress RIG-I signaling pathway. These factors include NS3/4A, NS2, as well as NS4B. [295], [424]-[426] In this project, therefore, we suggest that F/ARFP is likely to cooperate with these factors to further downregulate IFN responses during HCV infection. The mechanism how F/ARFP interferes with IFN responses are not yet known. However, our study suggests that the step(s) affected by F/ARFP occur at or around IRF-3 in the RIG-I/MDA-5 signaling pathway. Type I IFN expression is regulated by the harmonious cooperation of IRF3, NFkB, and AP-1. [435] Recent study showing that HCV alternate reading frame protein products decreased hepcidin transcription through an AP-1 binding site suggests that both type I IFN and proinflammatory cytokine expression can be affected by F/ARFP because AP-1 participates both the type I IFN and proinflammatory cvtokine production. We observed that p-IRF3 level in the nucleus was not decreased in the pHA-F-transfected Huh7 cells by poly(IC) stimulation in the subcellular fractionation experiment. Also, HCV F/ARFP was translocated into the nucleus by poly(IC) stimulation in Huh7 cells transfected with pHA-F. Taken together, we suggest that F/ARFP appears to translocate into the nucleus by HCV PAMP stimulation and may regulate the type I IFN response in the nucleus by targeting an AP-1 binding site.

This study suggests another strategy used by HCV to evade host IFN responses and an important role of the alternate reading frame protein in the regulation of host innate immunity by HCV. It will be beneficial to know how HCV F/ARFP cooperates with other viral and host factors to counteract against the host IFN responses during HCV infection. Therefore, our study provides new insights into how HCV evades host innate immune response and points to possible new drug target for therapy.

For future studies, luciferase assay will be used to measure transcriptional activity of IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B, and AP-1. Once a target pathway is determined, immunoblots using phospho specific antibody targeting a phosphorylated mediator in IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B, and AP-1 pathway will be performed to confirm whether the pathway is involved in the F/ARFP suppression. Immunofluorescence and translocation experiments will be used for

transcription factors such as IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B in the presence and absence of F/ARF protein. To study the physical interaction(s) between F/ARFP and the possible target(s) in type I IFN pathway or proinflammatory cytokine pathways, immunoprecipitation as well as immunofluorescence staining using F/ARFP with or without HA tag will be employed.

For the project about Nox enzyme, we suggest that Nox/Duox enzymes in Huh7 cells function in the RIG-I/MDA5-mediated IFN signaling during HCV infections. We showed that poly(IC)-triggered IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA as well as TNF $\alpha$  mRNA induction were suppressed by DPI in Huh7 cells. Also, Nox1 siRNA-transfected Huh7 cells decreased poly(IC)-stimulated IFN $\beta$ 1 mRNA as well as TNF $\alpha$  mRNA induction compared to non-targeting control siRNA-transfected Huh7 cells. Moreover, HCV replication was increased by Nox1 and Nox4 knockdown by corresponding siRNAs. Taken together, these data suggest that Nox1 and/or Nox4 enzymes may modulate IRF3 as well as NF $\kappa$ B and/or AP-1 pathways. Our study may provide new insights about antiviral roles of Nox/Duox enzymes because there have been few studies regarding Nox1 and Nox4.

Although there are several evidences suggesting that Nox/Duox enzymes may regulate type I IFN pathway as well as proinflammatory cytokine pathway, much remains to be explained how these enzymes modulate the signaling pathways. Recently, a role of ROS in RIG-I/MDA5 signaling pathway was explained in Atg52/2 MEF cells that are defective in autophagy process. ROS increased RIG-I/MDA5-mediated cytokines production in these cells. [446] However, it is not yet clear how this ROS-dependent mechanism is associated with RIG-I/MDA5 signaling pathway regulation in detail. It was shown that Nox2 knockdown changed phosphorylation of multiple phosphoacceptor sites including Ser386, Ser396, and Ser398 in the Cterminal region of IRF3. Also, previous studies demonstrated that NOX2 was necessary for TBK1 catalytic activation and IKK $\epsilon$  expression. [447], [448] Therefore, ROS generated by Nox/Duox enzymes may be directly or indirectly involved in the phosphorylation of multiple phosphoacceptor sites of IRF3 as well as other mediators to regulate IRF3, NF $\kappa$ B, and/or AP-1 pathways.

This study suggests another innate immune role of Nox/Duox enzymes in non-phagocyte cells for mounting antiviral state for the virus infected cells. It will be beneficial to know how Nox/Duox enzymes modulate the type I IFN as well as proinflammatory cytokine pathways to counteract against the viral propagation in the infected cells. Therefore, our study provides new insights into how Nox/Duox enzyme(s) modulate(s) host innate immune response and points to possible new drug target for therapy.

First, which Nox and/or Duox is(are) involved and which Nox and/or Duox positively or negatively regulate the pathway will be continuously studied. As our study indicated that Nox1 may function as a positive regulator in type I IFN pathway, the role of Nox1 will be determined and then the role of Nox4 will be studied next. To test the role of Nox1 and Nox4 enzymes in type I IFN pathway, knockdown or overexpression test will be used by corresponding
siRNAs or plasmids, respectively, as well as Nox inhibitor compounds. After knockdown or overexpression for Nox1 and Nox4 enzymes, poly(IC) or HCV infection will be followed to measure type I IFNs as well as ISGs, proinflammatory cytokines mRNA or protein expression. Also, whether Nox1, Nox4 proteins and activity levels are increased by RNA PAMPs will be observed. ROS levels will be measured by activity assays such as lucigeninenhanced chemiluminescence, dihydroethidium, and cytochrome c reduction assavs. These assays will measure NADPH-dependent ROS generation such as hydrogen peroxide or superoxide anion. The mechanism of how Nox1 and Nox4 enzymes regulate the RIG-I/MDA-5 pathway will be identified. Nox1 and Nox4 enzymes may modulate the redox status for nearby environment which in turn regulates the phosphorylation of mediator(s) in type I IFN pathway and proinflammatory cytokine pathways. Therefore, immunoblots will be used to measure phosphorylation status of phosphormediators in type I IFN pathway and proinflammatory cytokine pathways after Nox1 or Nox4 gene is knocked down with corresponding siRNAs. Immunofluorescence and translocation experiments will be performed for transcription factors such as IRF3, NFkB and AP-1. Luciferase assay using IRF3, NFkB, or AP-1 promoter containing plasmids will be used for measuring transcriptional activity of those transcription factors.

## 5.2 References

- J.-M. Pawlotsky, J. J. Feld, S. Zeuzem, and J. H. Hoofnagle, "From non-A, non-B hepatitis to hepatitis C virus cure," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. S87–S99, 2015.
- [2] A. Q. Choo, G. Kuo, A. J. Weiner, L. R. Overby, D. W. Bradley, and M. Houghton, "Isolation of a cDNA Clone Derived from a Blood- Borne Non-A, Non-B Viral Hepatitis Genome," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 244, no. 4902, pp. 359–362, 1989.
- [3] R. M. Friedman and S. Contente, "Treatment of hepatitis C infections with interferon: a historical perspective.," *Hepat. Res. Treat.*, vol. 2010, p. 323926, 2010.
- [4] P. B. Christensen, "Epidemiology of hepatitis C," Ugeskr. Laeger, vol. 160, no. 24, pp. 3529–3532, 1998.
- [5] K. N. Ly, J. Xing, R. Monina Klevens, R. B. Jiles, J. W. Ward, and S. D. Holmberg, "The increasing burden of mortality from viral hepatitis in the United States between 1999 and 2007," *Ann. Intern. Med.*, vol. 156, no. 4, pp. 271–278, 2012.
- [6] D. P. Webster, P. Klenerman, and G. M. Dusheiko, "Hepatitis C," *Lancet*, vol. 6736, no. 14, pp. 1–12, 2015.
- [7] J. Bukh, R. H. Purcell, and R. H. Miller, "At least 12 genotypes of hepatitis C virus predicted by sequence analysis of the putative El gene of isolates collected worldwide," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 90, no. 17, pp. 8234–8238, 1993.
- [8] T. a Cha, E. Beall, B. Irvine, J. Kolberg, D. Chien, G. Kuo, and M. S. Urdea, "At least five related, but distinct, hepatitis C viral genotypes exist.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 89, no. 15, pp. 7144–7148, 1992.
- [9] B. Robertson, G. Myers, C. Howard, T. Brettin, J. Bukh, B. Gaschen, T. Gojobori, G. Maertens, M. Mizokami, O. Nainan, S. Netesov, K. Nishioka, T. Shin-i, P. Simmonds, D. Smith, L. Stuyver, and a. Weiner, "Classification, nomenclature, and database development for hepatitis C virus (HCV) and related viruses: proposals for standardization," *Arch. Virol.*, vol. 143, no. 12, pp. 2493–2503, Dec. 1998.
- [10] et al Weiner AJ, Brauer MJ, Rosenblatt J, Richman KH, Tung J, Crawford K, Bonino F, Saracco G, Choo QL, Houghton M, "Variable and hypervariable domains are found in the regions of HCV corresponding

to the flavivirus envelope and NS1 proteins and the pestivirus envelope glycoproteins.," *Virology*, vol. 180, no. 2, pp. 842–848, 1991.

- [11] P. Simmonds, J. Bukh, C. Combet, G. Deléage, N. Enomoto, S. Feinstone, P. Halfon, G. Inchauspé, C. Kuiken, G. Maertens, M. Mizokami, D. G. Murphy, H. Okamoto, J. M. Pawlotsky, F. Penin, E. Sablon, T. Shin-I, L. J. Stuyver, H. J. Thiel, S. Viazov, A. J. Weiner, and A. Widell, "Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes," *Hepatology*, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 962–973, 2005.
- [12] B. K. Schweitzer, N. M. Chapman, and P. C. Iwen, "Overview of the Flaviviridae With an Emphasis on the Japanese Encephalitis Group Viruses," *Lab. Med.*, vol. 40, no. 8, pp. 493–499, 2009.
- [13] S. Chevaliez and J. Pawlotsky, "HCV genome and life cycle," *Hepat. C Viruses Genomes Mol. Biol.*, pp. 5–47, 2006.
- [14] C. Thurner, C. Witwer, I. L. Hofacker, and P. F. Stadler, "Conserved RNA secondary structures in Flaviviridae genomes," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 85, no. 5, pp. 1113–1124, 2004.
- [15] P. J. Barr, a J. Weiner, D. W. Bradleyt, G. Kuo, M. Houghton, C. Corporation, H. Street, D. Control, C. R. Ne, and W. J. Rutter, "Genetic organization and diversity of the hepatitis C virus," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 88, no. 6, pp. 2451–2455, 1991.
- [16] C. Wang, P. Sarnow, and a Siddiqui, "Translation of human hepatitis C virus RNA in cultured cells is mediated by an internal ribosome-binding mechanism.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 67, no. 6, pp. 3338–3344, 1993.
- [17] C. L. Jopling, M. Yi, A. M. Lancaster, S. M. Lemon, and P. Sarnow,
  "Modulation of hepatitis C virus RNA abundance by a liver-specific MicroRNA.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 309, no. 5740, pp. 1577–1581, 2005.
- [18] C. L. Jopling, S. Schütz, and P. Sarnow, "Position-dependent Function for a Tandem MicroRNA miR-122 Binding Site Located in the Hepatitis C Virus RNA Genome," *Cell Host Microbe*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 77–85, 2008.
- [19] J. I. Henke, D. Goergen, J. Zheng, Y. Song, C. G. Schüttler, C. Fehr, C. Jünemann, and M. Niepmann, "microRNA-122 stimulates translation of hepatitis C virus RNA.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 27, no. 24, pp. 3300–3310, 2008.
- [20] J. Chang, J.-T. Guo, D. Jiang, H. Guo, J. M. Taylor, and T. M. Block, "Liver-specific microRNA miR-122 enhances the replication of hepatitis C virus in nonhepatic cells.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 82, no. 16, pp. 8215–8223, 2008.

- [21] A. A. Kolykhalov, S. M. Feinstone, and C. M. Rice, "Identification of a highly conserved sequence element at the 3' terminus of hepatitis C virus genome RNA.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 70, no. 6, pp. 3363–3371, 1996.
- [22] M. Yi and S. M. Lemon, "3 ' Nontranslated RNA Signals Required for Replication of Hepatitis C Virus RNA," J. Virol., vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 3557– 3568, 2003.
- [23] M. Yanagi, M. St Claire, S. U. Emerson, R. H. Purcell, and J. Bukh, "In vivo analysis of the 3' untranslated region of the hepatitis C virus after in vitro mutagenesis of an infectious cDNA clone.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 2291–2295, 1999.
- [24] P. Friebe and R. Bartenschlager, "Genetic Analysis of Sequences in the 3 ' Nontranslated Region of Hepatitis C Virus That Are Important for RNA Replication," *J. Virol.*, vol. 76, no. 11, pp. 5326–5338, 2002.
- [25] M. Yi and S. M. Lemon, "Structure-function analysis of the 3' stem-loop of hepatitis C virus genomic RNA and its role in viral RNA replication.," *RNA*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 331–345, 2003.
- [26] J. C. Cheng, M. F. Chang, and S. C. Chang, "Specific interaction between the hepatitis C virus NS5B RNA polymerase and the 3' end of the viral RNA.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 73, no. 8, pp. 7044–7049, 1999.
- [27] T. Ito and M. M. Lai, "Determination of the secondary structure of and cellular protein binding to the 3'-untranslated region of the hepatitis C virus RNA genome.," J. Virol., vol. 71, no. 11, pp. 8698–8706, 1997.
- [28] H. Tang and H. Grisé, "Cellular and molecular biology of HCV infection and hepatitis.," *Clin. Sci.*, vol. 117, no. 2, pp. 49–65, 2009.
- [29] K. Yasui, T. Wakita, K. Tsukiyama-Kohara, S. I. Funahashi, M. Ichikawa, T. Kajita, D. Moradpour, J. R. Wands, and M. Kohara, "The native form and maturation process of hepatitis C virus core protein.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 72, no. 7, pp. 6048–6055, 1998.
- [30] P. Targett-Adams, G. Hope, S. Boulant, and J. McLauchlan, "Maturation of hepatitis C virus core protein by signal peptide peptidase is required for virus production.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 283, no. 24, pp. 16850–16859, 2008.
- [31] M. Ait-Goughoulte, C. Hourioux, R. Patient, S. Trassard, D. Brand, and P. Roingeard, "Core protein cleavage by signal peptide peptidase is required for hepatitis C virus-like particle assembly," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 87, no. 4, pp. 855–860, 2006.

- [32] S. Harada, Y. Watanabe, K. Takeuchi, T. Suzuki, T. Katayama, Y. Takebe, I. Saito, and T. Miyamura, "Expression of processed core protein of hepatitis C virus in mammalian cells.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 65, no. 6, pp. 3015–3021, 1991.
- [33] A. Grakoui, C. Wychowski, C. Lin, S. M. Feinstone, and C. M. Rice, "Expression and identification of hepatitis C virus polyprotein cleavage products.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 67, no. 3, pp. 1385–1395, 1993.
- [34] E. Santolini, G. Migliaccio, and N. La Monica, "Biosynthesis and biochemical properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 68, no. 6, pp. 3631–3641, 1994.
- [35] R. Suzuki, S. Sakamoto, T. Tsutsumi, A. Rikimaru, K. Tanaka, T. Shimoike, K. Moriishi, T. Iwasaki, K. Mizumoto, Y. Matsuura, T. Miyamura, and T. Suzuki, "Molecular Determinants for Subcellular Localization of Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 1271–1281, 2005.
- [36] S. Chang, J. Yen, H. Kang, M. Jang, and M. Chang, "Nuclear localization signals in the core protein of hepatitis C virus," *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, vol. 205, no. 2. pp. 1284– 1290, 1994.
- [37] R. Suzuki, Y. Matsuura, T. Suzuki, a Ando, J. Chiba, S. Harada, I. Saito, and T. Miyamura, "Nuclear localization of the truncated hepatitis C virus core protein with its hydrophobic C terminus deleted.," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 76 (Pt 1), pp. 53–61, 1995.
- [38] M. Gómez-Gonzalo, I. Benedicto, M. Carretero, E. Lara-Pezzi, A. Maldonado-Rodríguez, R. Moreno-Otero, M. M. C. Lai, and M. López-Cabrera, "Hepatitis C virus core protein regulates p300/CBP coactivation function. Possible role in the regulation of NF-AT1 transcriptional activity," *Virology*, vol. 328, no. 1, pp. 120–130, 2004.
- [39] B. Schwer, S. Ren, T. Pietschmann, K. Kaehlcke, R. Bartenschlager, B. Yen, and M. Ott, "Targeting of Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein to Mitochondria through a Novel C-Terminal Localization Motif," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 15, pp. 7958–7968, 2004.
- [40] J. McLauchlan, "Properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein: a structural protein that modulates cellular processes.," *J. Viral Hepat.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 2–14, 2000.
- [41] T. Fukutomi, Y. Zhou, S. Kawai, H. Eguchi, J. R. Wands, and J. Li, "Hepatitis C virus core protein stimulates hepatocyte growth: Correlation with upregulation of wnt-1 expression," *Hepatology*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 1096–1105, 2005.

- [42] O. Núñez, a Fernández-Martínez, P. L. Majano, a Apolinario, M. Gómez-Gonzalo, I. Benedicto, M. López-Cabrera, L. Boscá, G. Clemente, C. García-Monzón, and P. Martín-Sanz, "Increased intrahepatic cyclooxygenase 2, matrix metalloproteinase 2, and matrix metalloproteinase 9 expression is associated with progressive liver disease in chronic hepatitis C virus infection: role of viral core and NS5A proteins.," *Gut*, vol. 53, no. 11, pp. 1665–1672, 2004.
- [43] N. Vassilaki and P. Mavromara, "The HCV ARFP/F/core+1 protein: production and functional analysis of an unconventional viral product.," *IUBMB Life*, vol. 61, no. 7, pp. 739–52, Jul. 2009.
- [44] V. Deleersnyder, a Pillez, C. Wychowski, K. Blight, J. Xu, Y. S. Hahn, C. M. Rice, and J. Dubuisson, "Formation of native hepatitis C virus glycoprotein complexes.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 71, no. 1, pp. 697–704, 1997.
- [45] E. Scarselli, H. Ansuini, R. Cerino, R. M. Roccasecca, S. Acali, G. Filocamo, C. Traboni, A. Nicosia, R. Cortese, and A. Vitelli, "The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 21, no. 19, pp. 5017–25, Oct. 2002.
- [46] P. Pileri, Y. Uematsu, S. Campagnoli, G. Galli, F. Falugi, R. Petracca, a J. Weiner, M. Houghton, D. Rosa, G. Grandi, and S. Abrignani, "Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 282, no. 5390, pp. 938–941, 1998.
- [47] a J. Weiner, C. Christopherson, J. E. Hall, F. Bonino, G. Saracco, M. R. Brunetto, K. Crawford, C. D. Marion, K. a Crawford, and S. Venkatakrishna, "Sequence variation in hepatitis C viral isolates.," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 13 Suppl 4, pp. S6–S14, 1991.
- [48] P. Farci, a Shimoda, D. Wong, T. Cabezon, D. De Gioannis, a Strazzera, Y. Shimizu, M. Shapiro, H. J. Alter, and R. H. Purcell, "Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees by hyperimmune serum against the hypervariable region 1 of the envelope 2 protein.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 93, no. 26, pp. 15394– 15399, 1996.
- [49] A. Zibert, W. Kraas, H. Meisel, G. Jung, and M. Roggendorf, "Epitope mapping of antibodies directed against hypervariable region 1 in acute self-limiting and chronic infections due to hepatitis C virus.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 71, no. 5, pp. 4123–4127, 1997.
- [50] F. Penin, C. Combet, G. Germanidis, P. Frainais, and G. Deléage, "Conservation of the Conformation and Positive Charges of Hepatitis C Virus E2 Envelope Glycoprotein Hypervariable Region 1 Points to a Role in Cell Attachment," J. Virol., vol. 75, no. 12, pp. 5703–5710, 2001.

- [51] M. Flint and J. a McKeating, "The role of the hepatitis C virus glycoproteins in infection.," *Rev. Med. Virol.*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 101–17, 2000.
- [52] D. Rosa, S. Campagnoli, C. Moretto, E. Guenzi, L. Cousens, M. Chin, C. Dong, a J. Weiner, J. Y. Lau, Q. L. Choo, D. Chien, P. Pileri, M. Houghton, and S. Abrignani, "A quantitative test to estimate neutralizing antibodies to the hepatitis C virus: cytofluorimetric assessment of envelope glycoprotein 2 binding to target cells.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 93, no. 5, pp. 1759–1763, 1996.
- [53] S. Carrère-kremer, C. Montpellier-pala, C. Wychowski, F. Penin, L. Cocquerel, and J. Dubuisson, "Subcellular Localization and Topology of the p7 Polypeptide of Hepatitis C Virus Subcellular Localization and Topology of the p7 Polypeptide of Hepatitis C Virus," *J. Virol.*, vol. 76, no. 8, pp. 3720–3730, 2002.
- [54] E. Steinmann, F. Penin, S. Kallis, A. H. Patel, R. Bartenschlager, and T. Pietschmann, "Hepatitis C virus p7 protein is crucial for assembly and release of infectious virions," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 3, no. 7, pp. 0962–0971, 2007.
- [55] A. Sakai, M. S. Claire, K. Faulk, S. Govindarajan, S. U. Emerson, R. H. Purcell, and J. Bukh, "The p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus is critical for infectivity and contains functionally important genotype-specific sequences.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 100, no. 20, pp. 11646–11651, 2003.
- [56] C. T. Jones, C. L. Murray, D. K. Eastman, J. Tassello, and C. M. Rice, "Hepatitis C virus p7 and NS2 proteins are essential for production of infectious virus.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 81, no. 16, pp. 8374–8383, 2007.
- [57] E. Santolini, L. Pacini, C. Fipaldini, G. Migliaccio, and N. Monica, "The NS2 protein of hepatitis C virus is a transmembrane polypeptide.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 69, no. 12, pp. 7461–7471, 1995.
- [58] A. K. Yamaga and J. H. Ou, "Membrane topology of the hepatitis C virus NS2 protein," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 277, no. 36, pp. 33228–33234, 2002.
- [59] A. Grakoui, D. W. McCourt, C. Wychowski, S. M. Feinstone, and C. M. Rice, "A second hepatitis C virus-encoded proteinase.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 90, no. 22, pp. 10583–10587, 1993.
- [60] M. Hijikata, H. Mizushima, T. Akagi, S. Mori, N. Kakiuchi, N. Kato, T. Tanaka, K. Kimura, and K. Shimotohno, "Two distinct proteinase activities required for the processing of a putative nonstructural

precursor protein of hepatitis C virus.," J. Virol., vol. 67, no. 8, pp. 4665–4675, 1993.

- [61] N. Franck, J. Le Seyec, L. Erdtmann, and C. Guguen-guillouzo, "Hepatitis C Virus NS2 Protein Is Phosphorylated by the Protein Kinase CK2 and Targeted for Degradation to the Proteasome," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 2700–2708, 2005.
- [62] L. Erdtmann, N. Franck, H. Lerat, J. Le Seyec, D. Gilot, I. Cannie, P. Gripon, U. Hibner, and C. Guguen-Guillouzo, "The hepatitis C virus NS2 protein is an inhibitor of CIDE-B-induced apoptosis," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 278, no. 20, pp. 18256–18264, 2003.
- V. Jirasko, R. Montserret, N. Appel, A. Janvier, L. Eustachi, C. Brohm, E. Steinmann, T. Pietschmann, F. Penin, and R. Bartenschlagerd, "Structural and functional characterization of nonstructural protein 2 for its role in hepatitis C virus assembly," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 283, no. 42, pp. 28546–28562, 2008.
- [64] R. a. Love, H. E. Parge, J. a. Wickersham, Z. Hostomsky, N. Habuka, E. W. Moomaw, T. Adachi, and Z. Hostomska, "The crystal structure of hepatitis C virus NS3 proteinase reveals a trypsin-like fold and a structural zinc binding site," *Cell*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 331–342, 1996.
- [65] Y. Yan, Y. Li, S. Munshi, V. Sardana, J. L. Cole, M. Sardana, C. Steinkuehler, L. Tomei, R. De Francesco, L. C. Kuo, and Z. Chen, "Complex of NS3 protease and NS4A peptide of BK strain hepatitis C virus: a 2.2 A resolution structure in a hexagonal crystal form.," *Protein Sci.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 837–847, 1998.
- [66] J. L. Kim, K. a. Morgenstern, C. Lin, T. Fox, M. D. Dwyer, J. a. Landro, S. P. Chambers, W. Markland, C. a. Lepre, E. T. O'Malley, S. L. Harbeson, C. M. Rice, M. a. Murcko, P. R. Caron, and J. a. Thomson, "Crystal structure of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protease domain complexed with a synthetic NS4A cofactor peptide," *Cell*, vol. 87, no. 2, pp. 343–355, 1996.
- [67] Y. Tanji, M. Hijikata, S. Satoh, T. Kaneko, and K. Shimotohno, "Hepatitis C virus-encoded nonstructural protein NS4A has versatile functions in viral protein processing.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 69, no. 3, pp. 1575– 1581, 1995.
- [68] C. Lin, J. a Thomson, and C. M. Rice, "A central region in the hepatitis C virus NS4A protein allows formation of an active NS3-NS4A serine proteinase complex in vivo and in vitro.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 69, no. 7, pp. 4373–4380, 1995.

- [69] R. Bartenschlager, V. Lohmann, T. Wilkinson, and J. O. Koch, "Complex formation between the NS3 serine-type proteinase of the hepatitis C virus and NS4A and its importance for polyprotein maturation.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 69, no. 12, pp. 7519–7528, 1995.
- [70] Y.-M. Loo, D. M. Owen, K. Li, A. K. Erickson, C. L. Johnson, P. M. Fish, D. S. Carney, T. Wang, H. Ishida, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, T. Saito, W. M. Lee, C. H. Hagedorn, D. T.-Y. Lau, S. a Weinman, S. M. Lemon, and M. Gale, "Viral and therapeutic control of IFN-beta promoter stimulator 1 during hepatitis C virus infection.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 103, no. 15, pp. 6001–6, Apr. 2006.
- [71] K. Li, E. Foy, J. C. Ferreon, M. Nakamura, A. C. M. Ferreon, M. Ikeda, S. C. Ray, M. Gale, and S. M. Lemon, "Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease-mediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 102, no. 8, pp. 2992–2997, 2005.
- [72] E. Foy, K. Li, C. Wang, R. Sumpter, M. Ikeda, S. M. Lemon, and M. Gale, "Regulation of interferon regulatory factor-3 by the hepatitis C virus serine protease.," *Science*, vol. 300, no. 5622, pp. 1145–1148, 2003.
- [73] Y. Gwack, D. W. Kim, J. H. Han, and J. Choe, "DNA helicase activity of the hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3.," *Eur. J. Biochem.*, vol. 250, no. 1, pp. 47–54, 1997.
- [74] C. L. Tai, W. K. Chi, D. S. Chen, and L. H. Hwang, "The helicase activity associated with hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 3 (NS3).," *J. Virol.*, vol. 70, no. 12, pp. 8477–8484, 1996.
- [75] A. M. I. Lam and D. N. Frick, "Hepatitis C Virus Subgenomic Replicon Requires an Active NS3 RNA Helicase," *J. Virol.*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 404–411, 2006.
- [76] A. A. Kolykhalov, K. Mihalik, S. M. Feinstone, and C. M. Rice, "Hepatitis C virus-encoded enzymatic activities and conserved RNA elements in the 3' nontranslated region are essential for virus replication in vivo.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 2046–2051, 2000.
- [77] Y. Ma, J. Yates, Y. Liang, S. M. Lemon, and M. Yi, "NS3 helicase domains involved in infectious intracellular hepatitis C virus particle assembly.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 82, no. 15, pp. 7624–7639, 2008.
- [78] T. Hügle, F. Fehrmann, E. Bieck, M. Kohara, H. G. Kräusslich, C. M. Rice, H. E. Blum, and D. Moradpour, "The hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 4B is an integral endoplasmic reticulum membrane protein.," *Virology*, vol. 284, no. 1, pp. 70–81, 2001.

- [79] M. Lundin, M. Monné, A. Widell, G. Von, M. a a Persson, M. Monne, and G. Von Heijne, "Topology of the Membrane-Associated Hepatitis C Virus Protein NS4B," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 9, pp. 5428–5438, 2003.
- [80] M. Elazar, P. Liu, C. M. Rice, S. Jeffrey, and J. S. Glenn, "An N-Terminal Amphipathic Helix in Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) NS4B Mediates Membrane Association, Correct Localization of Replication Complex Proteins, and HCV RNA Replication," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 20, pp. 11393–11400, 2004.
- [81] D. Egger, B. Wölk, R. Gosert, H. E. Blum, D. Moradpour, K. Bienz, and L. Bianchi, "Expression of Hepatitis C Virus Proteins Induces Distinct Membrane Alterations Including a Candidate Viral Replication Complex," J. Virol., vol. 76, no. 12, pp. 5974–5984, 2002.
- [82] S. N. Gretton, A. I. Taylor, and J. McLauchlan, "Mobility of the hepatitis C virus NS4B protein on the endoplasmic reticulum membrane and membrane-associated foci," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 86, no. 5, pp. 1415–1421, 2005.
- [83] R. H. Florese, M. Nagano-Fujii, Y. Iwanaga, R. Hidajat, and H. Hotta, "Inhibition of protein synthesis by the nonstructural proteins NS4A and NS4B of hepatitis C virus," *Virus Res.*, vol. 90, no. 1–2, pp. 119–131, 2002.
- [84] J. Kato, N. Kato, H. Yoshida, S. K. Ono-Nita, Y. Shiratori, and M. Omata, "Hepatitis C virus NS4A and NS4B proteins suppress translation in vivo," *J. Med. Virol.*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 187–199, 2002.
- [85] S. Piccininni, A. Varaklioti, M. Nardelli, B. Dave, K. D. Raney, and J. E. G. McCarthy, "Modulation of the hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity by the Non-Structural (NS) 3 helicase and the NS4b membrane protein," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 277, no. 47, pp. 45670–45679, 2002.
- [86] F. Penin, V. Brass, N. Appel, S. Ramboarina, R. Montserret, D. Ficheux, H. E. Blum, R. Bartenschlager, and D. Moradpour, "Structure and function of the membrane anchor domain of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 279, no. 39, pp. 40835– 40843, 2004.
- [87] M. Elazar, K. H. Cheong, P. Liu, H. B. Greenberg, C. M. Rice, and J. S. Glenn, "Amphipathic helix-dependent localization of NS5A mediates hepatitis C virus RNA replication.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 10, pp. 6055–6061, 2003.
- [88] V. Brass, E. Bieck, R. Montserret, B. Wölk, J. A. Hellings, H. E. Blum, F. Penin, and D. Moradpour, "An amino-terminal amphipathic alpha-helix

mediates membrane association of the hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 277, no. 10, pp. 8130–8139, 2002.

- [89] F. Penin, J. Dubuisson, F. a. Rey, D. Moradpour, and J. M. Pawlotsky, "Structural Biology of Hepatitis C Virus," *Hepatology*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 5–19, 2004.
- [90] M. J. Evans, C. M. Rice, and S. P. Goff, "Phosphorylation of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A modulates its protein interactions and viral RNA replication," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 101, no. 35, pp. 13038–13043, 2004.
- [91] N. Appel, T. Pietschmann, and R. Bartenschlager, "Mutational Analysis of Hepatitis C Virus Nonstructural Protein 5A : Potential Role of Differential Phosphorylation in RNA Replication and Identification of a Genetically Flexible Domain Mutational Analysis of Hepatitis C Virus Nonstructural Protein 5A : P," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 3187–3194, 2005.
- [92] T. Shimakami, M. Hijikata, H. Luo, Y. Y. Ma, S. Kaneko, K. Shimotohno, and S. Murakami, "Effect of Interaction between Hepatitis C Virus NS5A and NS5B on Hepatitis C Virus RNA Replication with the Hepatitis C Virus Replicon," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 6, pp. 2738–2748, 2004.
- [93] M. J. Gale, M. J. Korth, and M. G. Katze, "Repression of the PKR protein kinase by the hepatitis C virus NS5A protein: A potential mechanism of interferon resistance," *Clin. Diagn. Virol.*, vol. 10, no. 2–3, pp. 157–162, 1998.
- [94] D. Moradpour, V. Brass, E. Bieck, P. Friebe, R. Gosert, H. E. Blum, and R. Bartenschlager, "Membrane Association of the RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase Is Essential for Hepatitis C Virus RNA Replication," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 23, pp. 13278–13284, 2004.
- [95] J. Schmidt-Mende, E. Bieck, T. Hugle, F. Penin, C. M. Rice, H. E. Blum, and D. Moradpour, "Determinants for membrane association of the hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 276, no. 47, pp. 44052–44063, 2001.
- [96] L. Gao, H. Aizaki, J. He, and M. M. C. Lai, "Interactions between Viral Nonstructural Proteins and Host Protein hVAP-33 Mediate the Formation of Hepatitis C Virus RNA Replication Complex on Lipid Raft," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 7, pp. 3480–3488, 2004.
- [97] K. Watashi, N. Ishii, M. Hijikata, D. Inoue, T. Murata, Y. Miyanari, and K. Shimotohno, "Cyclophilin B is a functional regulator of hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase," *Mol. Cell*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 111–122, 2005.

- [98] M. F. Bassendine, D. a. Sheridan, D. J. Felmlee, S. H. Bridge, G. L. Toms, and R. D. G. Neely, "HCV and the hepatic lipid pathway as a potential treatment target," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 55, no. 6, pp. 1428–1440, 2011.
- [99] P. Gastaminza, K. a Dryden, B. Boyd, M. R. Wood, M. Law, M. Yeager, and F. V Chisari, "Ultrastructural and biophysical characterization of hepatitis C virus particles produced in cell culture.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 84, no. 21, pp. 10999–11009, 2010.
- [100] M. Flint, J. M. Thomas, C. M. Maidens, C. Shotton, S. Levy, W. S. Barclay, and J. a McKeating, "Functional analysis of cell surfaceexpressed hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 73, no. 8, pp. 6782–6790, 1999.
- [101] R. Roccasecca, H. Ansuini, A. Vitelli, A. Meola, E. Scarselli, S. Acali, M. Pezzanera, B. B. Ercole, J. McKeating, A. Yagnik, A. Lahm, A. Tramontano, R. Cortese, and A. Nicosia, "Binding of the hepatitis C virus E2 glycoprotein to CD81 is strain specific and is modulated by a complex interplay between hypervariable regions 1 and 2.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 3, pp. 1856–1867, 2003.
- [102] J. Babitt, B. Trigatti, A. Rigotti, E. J. Smart, R. G. W. Anderson, S. Xu, and M. Krieger, "Murine SR-BI, a high density lipoprotein receptor that mediates selective lipid uptake, is N-glycosylated and fatty acylated and colocalizes with plasma membrane caveolae," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 272, no. 20, pp. 13242–13249, 1997.
- [103] M. Krieger, "Scavenger receptor class b type I is a multiligand hdl receptor that influences diverse physiologic systems," *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 108, no. 6, pp. 793–797, 2001.
- [104] H. Barth, R. Cerino, M. Arcuri, M. Hoffmann, P. Schu, M. I. Adah, B. Gissler, X. Zhao, V. Ghisetti, B. Lavezzo, H. E. Blum, F. Von Weizsa, A. Vitelli, E. Scarselli, and T. F. Baumert, "Scavenger Receptor Class B Type I and Hepatitis C Virus Infection of Primary Tupaia Hepatocytes," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 9, pp. 5774–5785, 2005.
- [105] M. J. Pöhlmann S, Zhang J, Baribaud F, Chen Z, Leslie GJ, Lin G, Granelli-Piperno A, Doms RW, Rice CM, "Hepatitis C Virus Glycoproteins Interact with DC-SIGN and DC-SIGNR," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 7, pp. 4070–4080, 2003.
- [106] P. Y. Lozach, H. Lortat-Jacob, A. De Lacroix de Lavalette, I. Staropoli, S. Foung, A. Amara, C. Houlès, F. Fieschi, O. Schwartz, J. L. Virelizier, F. Arenzana-Seisdedos, and R. Altmeyer, "DC-SIGN and L-SIGN are high affinity binding receptors for hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E2," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 278, no. 22, pp. 20358–20366, 2003.

- [107] P. Y. Lozach, A. Amara, B. Bartosch, J. L. Virelizier, F. Arenzana-Seisdedos, F. L. Cosset, and R. Altmeyer, "C-type lectins L-SIGN and DC-SIGN capture and transmit infectious hepatitis C virus pseudotype particles," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 279, no. 31, pp. 32035–32045, 2004.
- [108] J. P. Gardner, R. J. Durso, R. R. Arrigale, G. P. Donovan, P. J. Maddon, T. Dragic, and W. C. Olson, "L-SIGN (CD 209L) is a liver-specific capture receptor for hepatitis C virus.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 100, no. 8, pp. 4498–4503, 2003.
- [109] I. S. Ludwig, A. N. Lekkerkerker, E. Depla, F. Bosman, R. J. P. Musters, S. Depraetere, Y. van Kooyk, and T. B. H. Geijtenbeek, "Hepatitis C virus targets DC-SIGN and L-SIGN to escape lysosomal degradation.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 15, pp. 8322–8332, 2004.
- [110] N. S. Chung and K. M. Wasan, "Potential role of the low-density lipoprotein receptor family as mediators of cellular drug uptake," *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, vol. 56, no. 9, pp. 1315–1334, 2004.
- [111] V. Agnello, G. Abel, M. Elfahal, G. B. Knight, and Q. X. Zhang, "Hepatitis C virus and other flaviviridae viruses enter cells via low density lipoprotein receptor.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 96, no. 22, pp. 12766–12771, 1999.
- [112] M. Monazahian, I. Böhme, S. Bonk, a Koch, C. Scholz, S. Grethe, and R. Thomssen, "Low density lipoprotein receptor as a candidate receptor for hepatitis C virus.," *J. Med. Virol.*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 223–229, 1999.
- [113] K. L. Saunier B, Triyatni M, Ulianich L, Maruvada P, Yen P, "Role of the asialoglycoprotein receptor in binding and entry of hepatitis C virus structural proteins in cultured human hepatocytes.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 546–559, 2003.
- [114] A. Ploss, M. J. Evans, V. a Gaysinskaya, M. Panis, H. You, Y. P. de Jong, and C. M. Rice, "Human occludin is a hepatitis C virus entry factor required for infection of mouse cells.," *Nature*, vol. 457, no. 7231, pp. 882–6, Feb. 2009.
- [115] M. J. Evans, T. von Hahn, D. M. Tscherne, A. J. Syder, M. Panis, B. Wölk, T. Hatziioannou, J. a McKeating, P. D. Bieniasz, and C. M. Rice, "Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry.," *Nature*, vol. 446, no. 7137, pp. 801–5, Apr. 2007.
- [116] H. Barth, C. Schäfer, M. I. Adah, F. Zhang, R. J. Linhardt, H. Toyoda, A. Kinoshita-Toyoda, T. Toida, T. H. Van Kuppevelt, E. Depla, F. Von Weizsäcker, H. E. Blum, and T. F. Baumert, "Cellular Binding of Hepatitis C Virus Envelope Glycoprotein E2 Requires Cell Surface

Heparan Sulfate," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 278, no. 42, pp. 41003–41012, 2003.

- [117] E. Blanchard, S. Belouzard, L. Goueslain, T. Wakita, J. Dubuisson, C. Wychowski, and Y. Rouillé, "Hepatitis C virus entry depends on clathrinmediated endocytosis.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 80, no. 14, pp. 6964–6972, 2006.
- [118] D. M. Tscherne, C. T. Jones, M. J. Evans, B. D. Lindenbach, J. a McKeating, and C. M. Rice, "Time- and temperature-dependent activation of hepatitis C virus for low-pH-triggered entry.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 80, no. 4, pp. 1734–1741, 2006.
- [119] G. Koutsoudakis, A. Kaul, E. Steinmann, S. Kallis, V. Lohmann, T. Pietschmann, and R. Bartenschlager, "Characterization of the early steps of hepatitis C virus infection by using luciferase reporter viruses.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 80, no. 11, pp. 5308–5320, 2006.
- [120] A. T. Yagnik, A. Lahm, A. Meola, R. M. Roccasecca, B. B. Ercole, A. Nicosia, and A. Tramontano, "A model for the hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2.," *Proteins*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 355–366, 2000.
- [121] J. Lescar, A. Roussel, M. W. Wien, J. Navaza, S. D. Fuller, G. Wengler, G. Wengler, and F. a. Rey, "The fusion glycoprotein shell of Semliki Forest virus: An icosahedral assembly primed for fusogenic activation at endosomal pH," *Cell*, vol. 105, no. 1, pp. 137–148, 2001.
- [122] B. Hoffman and Q. Liu, "Hepatitis C viral protein translation: Mechanisms and implications in developing antivirals," *Liver Int.*, vol. 31, no. 10, pp. 1449–1467, 2011.
- [123] G. a. Otto and J. D. Puglisi, "The pathway of HCV IRES-mediated translation initiation," *Cell*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 369–380, 2004.
- [124] P. J. Lukavsky, G. a Otto, a M. Lancaster, P. Sarnow, and J. D. Puglisi, "Structures of two RNA domains essential for hepatitis C virus internal ribosome entry site function.," *Nat. Struct. Biol.*, vol. 7, no. 12, pp. 1105– 1110, 2000.
- [125] H. Ji, C. S. Fraser, Y. Yu, J. Leary, and J. a Doudna, "Coordinated assembly of human translation initiation complexes by the hepatitis C virus internal ribosome entry site RNA.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 101, no. 49, pp. 16990–16995, 2004.
- [126] C. M. Spahn, J. S. Kieft, R. a Grassucci, P. a Penczek, K. Zhou, J. a Doudna, and J. Frank, "Hepatitis C virus IRES RNA-induced changes in the conformation of the 40s ribosomal subunit.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 291, no. 5510, pp. 1959–1962, 2001.

- [127] G. a Otto, P. J. Lukavsky, A. M. Lancaster, P. Sarnow, and J. D. Puglisi, "Ribosomal proteins mediate the hepatitis C virus IRES-HeLa 40S interaction.," *RNA*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 913–923, 2002.
- [128] J. Zhang, O. Yamada, H. Yoshida, T. Iwai, and H. Araki, "Autogenous translational inhibition of core protein: implication for switch from translation to RNA replication in hepatitis C virus.," *Virology*, vol. 293, no. 1, pp. 141–150, 2002.
- [129] I. Imbert, M. Dimitrova, F. Kien, M. P. Kieny, and C. Schuster, "Hepatitis C virus IRES efficiency is unaffected by the genomic RNA 3'NTR even in the presence of viral structural or non-structural proteins," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 1549–1557, 2003.
- [130] H. Wang, X. T. Shen, R. Ye, S. Y. Lan, L. Xiang, and Z. H. Yuan, "Roles of the polypyrimidine tract and 3' noncoding region of hepatitis C virus RNA in the internal ribosome entry site-mediated translation," *Arch. Virol.*, vol. 150, no. 6, pp. 1085–1099, 2005.
- [131] J. McLauchlan, M. K. Lemberg, G. Hope, and B. Martoglio,
  "Intramembrane proteolysis promotes trafficking of hepatitis C virus core protein to lipid droplets," *EMBO J.*, vol. 21, no. 15, pp. 3980–3988, 2002.
- [132] B. D. Lindenbach and C. M. Rice, "Unravelling hepatitis C virus replication from genome to function.," *Nature*, vol. 436, no. 7053, pp. 933–8, Aug. 2005.
- [133] V. Jirasko, R. Montserret, J. Y. Lee, J. Gouttenoire, D. Moradpour, F. Penin, and R. Bartenschlager, "Structural and functional studies of nonstructural protein 2 of the hepatitis C virus reveal its key role as organizer of virion assembly," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 6, no. 12, p. e1001233, 2010.
- [134] C. I. Popescu, N. Callens, D. Trinel, P. Roingeard, D. Moradpour, V. Descamps, G. Duverlie, F. Penin, L. Héliot, Y. Rouillé, and J. Dubuisson, "NS2 protein of hepatitis C virus interacts with structural and nonstructural proteins towards virus assembly," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 7, no. 2, p. e1001278, 2011.
- [135] S. T. Shi, K. Lee, H. Aizaki, B. Soon, M. M. C. Lai, and S. B. Hwang, "Hepatitis C Virus RNA Replication Occurs on a Detergent-Resistant Membrane That Cofractionates with Caveolin-2," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 7, pp. 4160–4168, 2003.
- [136] H. Tu, L. Gao, S. T. Shi, D. R. Taylor, T. Yang, a K. Mircheff, Y. Wen, a E. Gorbalenya, S. B. Hwang, and M. M. Lai, "Hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase and NS5A complex with a SNARE-like protein.," *Virology*, vol. 263, no. 1, pp. 30–41, 1999.

- [137] S. You, D. D. Stump, A. D. Branch, and C. M. Rice, "A cis-acting replication element in the sequence encoding the NS5B RNAdependent RNA polymerase is required for hepatitis C virus RNA replication.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 3, pp. 1352–1366, 2004.
- [138] K. D. Raney, S. D. Sharma, I. M. Moustafa, and C. E. Cameron, "Hepatitis C virus non-structural protein 3 (HCV NS3): A multifunctional antiviral target," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 285, no. 30, pp. 22725–22731, 2010.
- [139] T. L. Tellinghuisen, J. Marcotrigiano, A. E. Gorbalenya, and C. M. Rice, "The NS5A protein of hepatitis C virus is a zinc metalloprotein," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 279, no. 47, pp. 48576–48587, 2004.
- [140] N. Appel, M. Zayas, S. Miller, J. Krijnse-Locker, T. Schaller, P. Friebe, S. Kallis, U. Engel, and R. Bartenschlager, "Essential role of domain III of nonstructural protein 5A for hepatitis C virus infectious particle assembly," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 4, no. 3, p. e1000035, 2008.
- [141] T. L. Tellinghuisen, K. L. Foss, and J. Treadaway, "Regulation of hepatitis C virion production via phosphorylation of the NS5A protein," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 4, no. 3, p. e1000032, 2008.
- [142] E. S. Machlin, P. Sarnow, and S. M. Sagan, "Masking the 5' terminal nucleotides of the hepatitis C virus genome by an unconventional microRNA-target RNA complex.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 108, no. 8, pp. 3193–3198, 2011.
- [143] T. Shimakami, D. Yamane, R. K. Jangra, B. J. Kempf, C. Spaniel, D. J. Barton, and S. M. Lemon, "Stabilization of hepatitis C virus RNA by an Ago2-miR-122 complex," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 109, no. 3, pp. 941–946, 2012.
- [144] Y. Tanaka, T. Shimoike, K. Ishii, R. Suzuki, T. Suzuki, H. Ushijima, Y. Matsuura, and T. Miyamura, "Selective binding of hepatitis C virus core protein to synthetic oligonucleotides corresponding to the 5' untranslated region of the viral genome.," *Virology*, vol. 270, no. 1, pp. 229–236, 2000.
- [145] T. Shimoike, S. Mimori, H. Tani, Y. Matsuura, and T. Miyamura, "Interaction of hepatitis C virus core protein with viral sense RNA and suppression of its translation.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 73, no. 12, pp. 9718–9725, 1999.
- [146] K. C. Klein, S. R. Dellos, and J. R. Lingappa, "Identification of Residues in the Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein That Are Critical for Capsid Assembly in a Cell-Free System," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 11, pp. 6814– 6826, 2005.

- [147] L. J. Lorenzo, S. Dueñas-Carrera, V. Falcón, N. Acosta-Rivero, E. González, M. C. de la Rosa, I. Menéndez, and J. Morales, "Assembly of truncated HCV core antigen into virus-like particles in Escherichia coli.," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 281, no. 4, pp. 962–965, 2001.
- [148] N. Majeau, V. Gagné, A. Boivin, M. Bolduc, J. A. Majeau, D. Ouellet, and D. Leclerc, "The N-terminal half of the core protein of hepatitis C virus is sufficient for nucleocapsid formation," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 85, no. 4, pp. 971–981, 2004.
- [149] W. S. Kunkel M, Lorinczi M, Rijnbrand R, Lemon SM, "Self-Assembly of Nucleocapsid-Like Particles from Recombinant Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein," J. Virol., vol. 75, no. 5, pp. 2119–2129, 2001.
- [150] K. C. Klein, S. J. Polyak, and J. R. Lingappa, "Unique Features of Hepatitis C Virus Capsid Formation Revealed by De Novo Cell-Free Assembly," J. Virol., vol. 78, no. 17, pp. 9257–9269, 2004.
- [151] L. Cocquerel, J. C. Meunier, a Pillez, C. Wychowski, and J. Dubuisson, "A retention signal necessary and sufficient for endoplasmic reticulum localization maps to the transmembrane domain of hepatitis C virus glycoprotein E2.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 2183–2191, 1998.
- [152] A. Serafino, M. B. Valli, F. Andreola, A. Crema, G. Ravagnan, L. Bertolini, and G. Carloni, "Suggested role of the golgi apparatus and endoplasmic reticulum for crucial sites of hepatitis C virus replication in human lymphoblastoid cells infected in vitro," *J. Med. Virol.*, vol. 70, no. 1, pp. 31–41, 2003.
- [153] S. Kleinman, H. Alter, M. Busch, P. Holland, G. Tegtmeier, M. Nelles, S. Lee, E. Page, J. Wilber, and A. Polito, "Increased detection of hepatitis C virus (HCV)-infected blood donors by a multiple-antigen HCV enzyme immunoassay.," *Transfusion*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 805–813, 1992.
- [154] M. Thursz and A. Fontanet, "HCV transmission in industrialized countries and resource-constrained areas.," *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 28–35, 2014.
- [155] C. T. Tagny, D. Mbanya, J. B. Tapko, and J. J. Lefrère, "Blood safety in Sub-Saharan Africa: A multi-factorial problem," *Transfusion*, vol. 48, no. 6, pp. 1256–1261, Jun. 2008.
- [156] K.-W. E, "Clinical outcomes after hepatitis C infection from contaminated anti-D immune globulin.," *The New England journal of medicine*, vol. 340, no. 16. pp. 1228–33, Sep-1999.

- [157] J. Guerra, M. Garenne, M. K. Mohamed, and a. Fontanet, "HCV burden of infection in Egypt: Results from a nationwide survey," *J. Viral Hepat.*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 560–567, 2012.
- [158] C. Frank, M. K. Mohamed, G. T. Strickland, D. Lavanchy, R. R. Arthur, L. S. Magder, T. El Khoby, Y. Abdel-Wahab, E. S. Aly Ohn, W. Anwar, and I. Sallam, "The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt," *Lancet*, vol. 355, no. 9207, pp. 887–891, 2000.
- [159] Y. J. F. Hutin, A. M. Hauri, and G. L. Armstrong, "Use of injections in healthcare settings worldwide, 2000: literature review and regional estimates.," *BMJ*, vol. 327, no. 7423, p. 1075, 2003.
- [160] L. Simonsen, a. Kane, J. Lloyd, M. Zaffran, and M. Kane, "Unsafe injections in the developing world and transmission of bloodborne pathogens: A review," *Bull. World Health Organ.*, vol. 77, no. 10, pp. 789–800, 1999.
- [161] M. Kermode, "Unsafe injections in low-income country health settings: Need for injection safety promotion to prevent the spread of blood-borne viruses," *Health Promot. Int.*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 95–103, 2004.
- [162] B. M. Mathers, L. Degenhardt, B. Phillips, L. Wiessing, M. Hickman, S. a Strathdee, A. Wodak, S. Panda, M. Tyndall, A. Toufik, and R. P. Mattick, "Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review," *Lancet*, vol. 372, no. 9651, pp. 1733–1745, Nov. 2008.
- [163] K. Roy, G. Hay, R. Andragetti, A. Taylor, D. Goldberg, and L. Wiessing, "Monitoring hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug users in the European Union: a review of the literature.," *Epidemiol. Infect.*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. 577–585, 2002.
- [164] C. Vandelli, F. Renzo, L. Romanò, S. Tisminetzky, M. De Palma, T. Stroffolini, E. Ventura, and A. Zanetti, "Lack of evidence of sexual transmission of hepatitis C among monogamous couples: Results of a 10-year prospective follow-up study," *Am. J. Gastroenterol.*, vol. 99, no. 5, pp. 855–859, 2004.
- [165] J. H. Kao, C. J. Liu, P. J. Chen, W. Chen, M. Y. Lai, and D. S. Chen, "Low incidence of hepatitis C virus transmission between spouses: a prospective study.," *J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 391– 395, 2000.
- [166] B. Marincovich, J. Castilla, J. del Romero, S. García, V. Hernando, M. Raposo, and C. Rodríguez, "Absence of hepatitis C virus transmission

in a prospective cohort of heterosexual serodiscordant couples.," *Sex. Transm. Infect.*, vol. 79, no. 2, pp. 160–162, 2003.

- [167] L. Salleras, M. Bruguera, J. Vidal, P. Plans, A. Domínguez, M. Salleras, E. Navas, and N. Galí, "Importance of sexual transmission of hepatitis C virus in seropositive pregnant women: a case-control study.," *J. Med. Virol.*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 164–167, 1997.
- [168] C. C. Wang, E. Krantz, J. Klarquist, M. Krows, L. McBride, E. P. Scott, T. Shaw-Stiffel, S. J. Weston, H. Thiede, A. Wald, and H. R. Rosen, "Acute hepatitis C in a contemporary US cohort: modes of acquisition and factors influencing viral clearance.," *J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 196, no. 10, pp. 1474–1482, 2007.
- [169] N. a. Terrault, J. L. Dodge, E. L. Murphy, J. E. Tavis, A. Kiss, T. R. Levin, R. G. Gish, M. P. Busch, A. L. Reingold, and M. J. Alter, "Sexual transmission of hepatitis C virus among monogamous heterosexual couples: The HCV partners study," *Hepatology*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 881– 889, 2013.
- [170] "The New England Journal of Medicine Downloaded from nejm.org at UC SHARED JOURNAL COLLECTION on February 12, 2014. For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Copyright © 1994 Massachusetts Medical Society. All rights reserved.," 1994.
- [171] E. a. Roberts and L. Yeung, "Maternal-infant transmission of hepatitis C virus infection," *Hepatology*, vol. 36, no. 5 I, pp. S106–S113, 2002.
- [172] P. D. for the H. I. T. G. John G. McHutchison, M.D., Stuart C. Gordon, M.D., Eugene R. Schiff, M.D., Mitchell L. Shiffman, M.D., William M. Lee, M.D., Vinod K. Rustgi, M.D., Zachary D. Goodman, M.D., Ph.D., Mei-Hsiu Ling, Ph.D., Susannah Cort, M.D., and Janice K. Albrecht, Ph.D. f, "Interferon Alfa-2b Alone or in Combination with Ribavirin as Initial Treatment for Chronic Hepatitis C," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 339, no. 21, pp. 1485–1492, 1998.
- [173] T. Poynard, P. Marcellin, S. S. Lee, C. Niederau, G. S. Minuk, G. Ideo, V. Bain, J. Heathcote, S. Zeuzem, C. Trepo, and J. Albrecht, "Randomised trial of interferon α2b plus ribavirin for 48 weeks or for 24 weeks versus interferon α2b plus placebo for 48 weeks for treatment of chronic infection with hepatitis C virus," *Lancet*, vol. 352, no. 9138, pp. 1426–1432, 1998.
- [174] W. O. Reichard O, Andersson J, Schvarcz R, "Ribavirin treatment for chronic hepatitis C," *Lancet*, vol. 337, no. 8749, pp. 1058–1061, 1991.
- [175] J.-M. Pawlotsky, H. Dahari, A. U. Neumann, C. Hezode, G. Germanidis, I. Lonjon, L. Castera, and D. Dhumeaux, "Antiviral action of ribavirin in

chronic hepatitis C.," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 126, no. 3, pp. 703–714, 2004.

- [176] E. Association, "EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines: Management of hepatitis C virus infection," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 392–420, 2014.
- [177] M. G. Ghany, D. R. Nelson, D. B. Strader, D. L. Thomas, and L. B. Seeff, "An update on treatment of genotype 1 chronic hepatitis C virus infection: 2011 practice guideline by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases," *Hepatology*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 1433–1444, 2011.
- [178] F. Lupo, R. Russo, A. Iolascon, D. Ieluzzi, A. Siciliano, P. Toniutto, A. Matté, S. Piovesan, E. Raffetti, F. Turrini, D. Dissegna, F. Donato, A. Alberti, V. Zuliani, G. Fattovich, and L. De Franceschi, "Protease inhibitors-based therapy induces acquired spherocytic-like anaemia and ineffective erythropoiesis in chronic hepatitis C virus patients," *Liver Int.*, 2015.
- [179] J.-M. Pawlotsky, "NS5A inhibitors in the treatment of hepatitis C.," *J. Hepatol.*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 375–82, 2013.
- [180] D. R. McGivern, T. Masaki, S. Williford, P. Ingravallo, Z. Feng, F. Lahser, E. Asante-Appiah, P. Neddermann, R. De Francesco, A. Y. Howe, and S. M. Lemon, "Kinetic analyses reveal potent and early blockade of hepatitis C virus assembly by NS5A inhibitors," *Gastroenterology*, vol. 147, no. 2, pp. 453–462.e7, 2014.
- [181] and A. S. P. Jeremie Guedj, Harel Dahari, Susan L. Uprichard, "The rapid viral decline with the HCV NS5A inhibitor daclatasvir reveals a dual mode of action and leads to a new HCV half-life estimate," *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 397–399, 2013.
- [182] P. Somogyi, a J. Jenner, I. Brierley, and S. C. Inglis, "Ribosomal pausing during translation of an RNA pseudoknot.," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, vol. 13, no. 11, pp. 6931–6940, 1993.
- [183] C. Tu, T. H. Tzeng, and J. a Bruenn, "Ribosomal movement impeded at a pseudoknot required for frameshifting.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 89, no. 18, pp. 8636–8640, 1992.
- [184] E. B. ten Dam, C. W. Pleij, and L. Bosch, "RNA pseudoknots: translational frameshifting and readthrough on viral RNAs.," *Virus Genes*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 121–136, 1990.
- [185] S. Matsufuji, T. Matsufuji, Y. Miyazaki, Y. Murakami, J. F. Atkins, R. F. Gesteland, and S. Hayashi, "Autoregulatory frameshifting in decoding

mammalian ornithine decarboxylase antizyme.," *Cell*, vol. 80, no. 1, pp. 51–60, Jan. 1995.

- [186] P. J. Farabaugh, H. Zhao, and a Vimaladithan, "A novel programed frameshift expresses the POL3 gene of retrotransposon Ty3 of yeast: frameshifting without tRNA slippage.," *Cell*, vol. 74, no. 1, pp. 93–103, 1993.
- [187] W. J. Craigen and C. T. Caskey, "Expression of peptide chain release factor 2 requires high-efficiency frameshift.," *Nature*, vol. 322, no. 6076, pp. 273–275, 1986.
- [188] M. F. Belcourt and P. J. Farabaugh, "Ribosomal frameshifting in the yeast retrotransposon Ty: tRNAs induce slippage on a 7 nucleotide minimal site," *Cell*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 339–352, 1990.
- [189] B. C. Donly, C. D. Edgar, F. M. Adamski, and W. P. Tate, "Frameshift autoregulation in the gene for Escherichia coli release factor 2: partly functional mutants result in frameshift enhancement.," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 18, no. 22, pp. 6517–6522, 1990.
- [190] J. F. Curran and M. Yarus, "Use of tRNA suppressors to probe regulation of Escherichia coli release factor 2.," *J. Mol. Biol.*, vol. 203, no. 1, pp. 75–83, 1988.
- [191] K. L. Herbst, L. M. Nichols, R. F. Gesteland, and R. B. Weiss, "A mutation in ribosomal protein L9 affects ribosomal hopping during translation of gene 60 from bacteriophage T4.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 91, no. 26, pp. 12525–12529, 1994.
- [192] R. B. Weiss, W. M. Huang, and D. M. Dunn, "A nascent peptide is required for ribosomal bypass of the coding gap in bacteriophage T4 gene 60.," *Cell*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 117–126, 1990.
- [193] S. Pestka, C. D. Krause, and M. R. Walter, "Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors," *Immunol. Rev.*, vol. 202, pp. 8–32, 2004.
- [194] T. R. O'Brien, L. Prokunina-Olsson, and R. P. Donnelly, "IFN-λ4: The Paradoxical New Member of the Interferon Lambda Family.," *J. Interferon Cytokine Res.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 555–564, 2014.
- [195] L. Prokunina-olsson, B. Muchmore, W. Tang, R. M. Pfeiffer, H. Dickensheets, D. Hergott, P. Porter-gill, A. Mumy, S. Chen, N. Brand, M. Tarway, L. Liu, F. Sheikh, J. Astemborski, H. L. Bonkovsky, B. R. Edlin, and C. D. Howell, "A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus.," *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 164–171, 2013.

- [196] K. Witte, E. Witte, R. Sabat, and K. Wolk, "IL-28A, IL-28B, and IL-29: Promising cytokines with type I interferon-like properties," *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 237–251, 2010.
- [197] R. K. Durbin, S. V. Kotenko, and J. E. Durbin, "Interferon induction and function at the mucosal surface," *Immunol. Rev.*, vol. 255, no. 1, pp. 25– 39, 2013.
- [198] D. Goubau, S. Deddouche, and C. Reis e Sousa, "Cytosolic Sensing of Viruses," *Immunity*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 855–869, 2013.
- [199] S. Paludan and A. Bowie, "Immune Sensing of DNA," *Immunity*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 870–880, 2013.
- [200] L. O. Moreira and D. S. Zamboni, "NOD1 and NOD2 signaling in infection and inflammation," *Front. Immunol.*, vol. 3, 2012.
- [201] T. Watanabe, N. Asano, S. Fichtner-Feigl, P. L. Gorelick, Y. Tsuji, Y. Matsumoto, T. Chiba, I. J. Fuss, A. Kitani, and W. Strober, "NOD1 contributes to mouse host defense against Helicobacter pylori via induction of type I IFN and activation of the ISGF3 signaling pathway," *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 1645–1662, 2010.
- [202] J. H. Leber, G. T. Crimmins, S. Raghavan, N. P. Meyer-Morse, J. S. Cox, and D. a. Portnoy, "Distinct TLR- and NLR-mediated transcriptional responses to an intracellular pathogen," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 0084–0095, 2008.
- [203] A. K. Pandey, Y. Yang, Z. Jiang, S. M. Fortune, F. Coulombe, M. a. Behr, K. a. Fitzgerald, C. M. Sassetti, and M. a. Kelliher, "Nod2, Rip2 and Irf5 play a critical role in the type I interferon response to Mycobacterium tuberculosis," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 5, no. 7, p. e1000500, 2009.
- [204] P. N. Moynagh, "TLR signalling and activation of IRFs: revisiting old friends from the NF-kappaB pathway.," *Trends Immunol.*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 469–476, 2005.
- [205] T. Tamura, H. Yanai, D. Savitsky, and T. Taniguchi, "The IRF family transcription factors in immunity and oncogenesis.," *Annu. Rev. Immunol.*, vol. 26, pp. 535–584, 2008.
- [206] K. Honda, A. Takaoka, and T. Taniguchi, "Type I interferon gene induction by the interferon regulatory factor family of transcription factors.," *Immunity*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 349–60, Sep. 2006.
- [207] L. B. Ivashkiv and L. T. Donlin, "Regulation of type I interferon responses.," Nat. Rev. Immunol., vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 36–49, 2014.

- [208] I. Rauch, M. Müller, and T. Decker, "The regulation of inflammation by interferons and their STATs.," *Jak-Stat*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. e23820, 2013.
- [209] L. Santodonato, G. D'Agostino, R. Nisini, S. Mariotti, D. M. Monque, M. Spada, L. Lattanzi, M. P. Perrone, M. Andreotti, F. Belardelli, and M. Ferrantini, "Monocyte-Derived Dendritic Cells Generated After a Short-Term Culture with IFN- and Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor Stimulate a Potent Epstein-Barr Virus-Specific CD8+T Cell Response," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 170, no. 10, pp. 5195–5202, 2003.
- [210] M. Dauer, K. Pohl, B. Obermaier, T. Meskendahl, J. Röbe, M. Schnurr, S. Endres, and A. Eigler, "Interferon-α disables dendritic cell precursors: Dendritic cells derived from interferon-α-treated monocytes are defective in maturation and T-cell stimulation.," *Immunology*, vol. 110, no. 1, pp. 38–47, 2003.
- [211] S. M. Santini, C. Lapenta, M. Logozzi, S. Parlato, M. Spada, T. Di Pucchio, and F. Belardelli, "Type I interferon as a powerful adjuvant for monocyte-derived dendritic cell development and activity in vitro and in Hu-PBL-SCID mice.," *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 191, no. 10, pp. 1777–1788, 2000.
- [212] C. Lapenta, S. M. Santini, M. Logozzi, M. Spada, M. Andreotti, T. Di Pucchio, S. Parlato, and F. Belardelli, "Potent immune response against HIV-1 and protection from virus challenge in hu-PBL-SCID mice immunized with inactivated virus-pulsed dendritic cells generated in the presence of IFN-alpha.," *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 198, no. 2, pp. 361–367, 2003.
- [213] T. Ito, R. Amakawa, M. Inaba, S. Ikehara, K. Inaba, and S. Fukuhara,
  "Differential regulation of human blood dendritic cell subsets by IFNs.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 166, no. 5, pp. 2961–2969, 2001.
- [214] M. Montoya, G. Schiavoni, F. Mattei, I. Gresser, F. Belardelli, P. Borrow, and D. F. Tough, "Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation.," *Blood*, vol. 99, no. 9, pp. 3263–3271, 2002.
- [215] B. Hahm, M. J. Trifilo, E. I. Zuniga, and M. B. a Oldstone, "Viruses evade the immune system through type I interferon-mediated STAT2dependent, but STAT1-independent, signaling," *Immunity*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 247–257, 2005.
- [216] A. Le Bon, N. Etchart, C. Rossmann, M. Ashton, S. Hou, D. Gewert, P. Borrow, and D. F. Tough, "Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 4, no. 10, pp. 1009– 1015, 2003.

- [217] F. Spadaro, C. Lapenta, S. Donati, L. Abalsamo, V. Barnaba, F. Belardelli, S. M. Santini, and M. Ferrantini, "IFN-α enhances crosspresentation in human dendritic cells by modulating antigen survival, endocytic routing, and processing.," *Blood*, vol. 119, no. 6, pp. 1407– 1417, 2012.
- [218] A. Le Bon, V. Durand, E. Kamphuis, C. Thompson, S. Bulfone-Paus, C. Rossmann, U. Kalinke, and D. F. Tough, "Direct stimulation of T cells by type I IFN enhances the CD8+ T cell response during cross-priming.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 176, no. 8, pp. 4682–4689, 2006.
- [219] A. Rouzaut, S. Garasa, Á. Teijeira, I. González, I. Martinez-Forero, N. Suarez, E. Larrea, C. Alfaro, A. Palazón, J. Dubrot, S. Hervás-Stubbs, and I. Melero, "Dendritic cells adhere to and transmigrate across lymphatic endothelium in response to IFN-α," *Eur. J. Immunol.*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 3054–3063, 2010.
- [220] S. Parlato, S. M. Santini, C. Lapenta, T. Di Pucchio, M. Logozzi, M. Spada, A. M. Giammarioli, W. Malorni, S. Fais, and F. Belardelli, "Expression of CCR-7, MIP-3??, and Th-1 chemokines in type I IFNinduced monocyte-derived dendritic cells: Importance for the rapid acquisition of potent migratory and functional activities," *Blood*, vol. 98, no. 10, pp. 3022–3029, 2001.
- [221] I. Hwang, J. M. Scott, T. Kakarla, D. M. Duriancik, S. Choi, C. Cho, T. Lee, H. Park, A. R. French, E. Beli, E. Gardner, and S. Kim, "Activation Mechanisms of Natural Killer Cells during Influenza Virus Infection," *PLoS One*, vol. 7, no. 12, p. e51858, 2012.
- [222] J. Martinez, X. Huang, and Y. Yang, "Direct action of type I IFN on NK cells is required for their activation in response to vaccinia viral infection in vivo.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 180, no. 3, pp. 1592–1597, 2008.
- [223] K. B. Nguyen, T. P. Salazar-Mather, M. Y. Dalod, J. B. Van Deusen, X. Wei, F. Y. Liew, M. a Caligiuri, J. E. Durbin, and C. a Biron, "Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN-alpha beta, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 169, no. 8, pp. 4279–4287, 2002.
- [224] Q. Lin, C. Dong, and M. D. Cooper, "Impairment of T and B cell development by treatment with a type I interferon.," *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 187, no. 1, pp. 79–87, 1998.
- [225] E. Bosio, C. L. Cluning, and M. W. Beilharz, "Low-dose orally administered type I interferon reduces splenic B cell numbers in mice.," *J. Interferon Cytokine Res.*, vol. 21, no. 9, pp. 721–728, 2001.

- [226] J. Wang, Q. Lin, H. Langston, and M. D. Cooper, "Resident bone marrow macrophages produce type 1 interferons that can selectively inhibit interleukin-7-driven growth of B lineage cells.," *Immunity*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 475–484, 1995.
- [227] F. C. Rau, J. Dieter, Z. Luo, S. O. Priest, and N. Baumgarth, "B7-1/2 (CD80/CD86) direct signaling to B cells enhances IgG secretion.," J. Immunol., vol. 183, no. 12, pp. 7661–7671, 2009.
- [228] W. L. W. Chang, E. S. Coro, F. C. Rau, Y. Xiao, D. J. Erle, and N. Baumgarth, "Influenza virus infection causes global respiratory tract B cell response modulation via innate immune signals," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 178, no. 8, pp. 1457–1467, 2007.
- [229] E. S. Coro, W. L. W. Chang, and N. Baumgarth, "Type I IFN receptor signals directly stimulate local B cells early following influenza virus infection," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 176, no. 7, pp. 4343–51, 2006.
- [230] S. Davidson, S. Crotta, T. M. McCabe, and A. Wack, "Pathogenic potential of interferon αβ in acute influenza infection.," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 21, no. 5, p. 3864, 2014.
- [231] C. a Biron, "Interferons alpha and beta as immune regulators--a new look.," *Immunity*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 661–664, 2001.
- [232] R. Raman, R. G. Thomas, M. W. Weiner, C. R. Jack, K. Ernstrom, P. S. Aisen, P. N. Tariot, and J. F. Quinn, "Blockade of chronic type I interferon signaling to control persistent LCMV infection.," *Science (80-*.), vol. 340, no. 6129, pp. 202–207, 2013.
- [233] M. K. Dennis, A. S. Field, R. Burai, C. Ramesh, K. Whitney, C. G. Bologa, T. I. Oprea, Y. Yamaguchi, S. Hayashi, L. a Sklar, H. J. Hathaway, J. B. Arterburn, and E. R. Prossnitz, "Persistent LCMV infection is controlled by blockade of type I interferon signaling.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 340, no. 6129, pp. 207–11, 2013.
- [234] M. Yoneyama and T. Fujita, "Structural Mechanism of RNA Recognition by the RIG-I-like Receptors," *Immunity*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 178–181, 2008.
- [235] O. Takeuchi and S. Akira, "Innate immunity to virus infection," *Immunol. Rev.*, vol. 227, no. 1600–065X (Electronic), pp. 75–86, 2009.
- [236] H. Kato, O. Takeuchi, E. Mikamo-Satoh, R. Hirai, T. Kawai, K. Matsushita, A. Hiiragi, T. S. Dermody, T. Fujita, and S. Akira, "Lengthdependent recognition of double-stranded ribonucleic acids by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I and melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5.," *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 205, no. 7, pp. 1601–1610, 2008.

- [237] V. Hornung, H. Kato, H. Poeck, S. Akira, K. Conzelmann, and M. Schlee, "5'-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 314, no. 5801, pp. 994–997, 2006.
- [238] R. e S. C. Pichlmair A, Schulz O, Tan CP, Näslund TI, Liljeström P, Weber F, "RIG-I-mediated antiviral responses to single-stranded RNA bearing 5'-phosphates.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 314, pp. 997–1001, 2006.
- [239] A. Schmidt, T. Schwerd, W. Hamm, J. C. Hellmuth, S. Cui, M. Wenzel, F. S. Hoffmann, M.-C. Michallet, R. Besch, K.-P. Hopfner, S. Endres, and S. Rothenfusser, "5'-triphosphate RNA requires base-paired structures to activate antiviral signaling via RIG-I.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A., vol. 106, no. 29, pp. 12067–12072, 2009.
- [240] M. Schlee, A. Roth, V. Hornung, C. A. Hagmann, V. Wimmenauer, W. Barchet, C. Coch, M. Janke, A. Mihailovic, G. Wardle, S. Juranek, H. Kato, T. Kawai, H. Poeck, K. a. Fitzgerald, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, T. Tuschl, E. Latz, J. Ludwig, and G. Hartmann, "Recognition of 5' Triphosphate by RIG-I Helicase Requires Short Blunt Double-Stranded RNA as Contained in Panhandle of Negative-Strand Virus," *Immunity*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 25–34, 2009.
- [241] K. Takahasi, M. Yoneyama, T. Nishihori, R. Hirai, H. Kumeta, R. Narita, M. Gale, F. Inagaki, and T. Fujita, "Nonself RNA-Sensing Mechanism of RIG-I Helicase and Activation of Antiviral Immune Responses," *Mol. Cell*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 428–440, 2008.
- [242] T. Saito, D. M. Owen, F. Jiang, J. Marcotrigiano, and M. Gale, "Innate immunity induced by composition-dependent RIG-I recognition of hepatitis C virus RNA.," *Nature*, vol. 454, no. 7203, pp. 523–7, Jul. 2008.
- [243] T. Saito, R. Hirai, Y.-M. Loo, D. Owen, C. L. Johnson, S. C. Sinha, S. Akira, T. Fujita, and M. Gale, "Regulation of innate antiviral defenses through a shared repressor domain in RIG-I and LGP2.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 104, no. 2, pp. 582–587, 2007.
- [244] M. Yoneyama, M. Kikuchi, K. Matsumoto, T. Imaizumi, M. Miyagishi, K. Taira, E. Foy, Y.-M. Loo, M. Gale, S. Akira, S. Yonehara, A. Kato, and T. Fujita, "Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 175, no. 5, pp. 2851–2858, 2005.
- [245] S. Rothenfusser, N. Goutagny, G. DiPerna, M. Gong, B. G. Monks, A. Schoenemeyer, M. Yamamoto, S. Akira, and K. a Fitzgerald, "The RNA helicase Lgp2 inhibits TLR-independent sensing of viral replication by retinoic acid-inducible gene-I.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 175, no. 8, pp. 5260– 5268, 2005.

- [246] S. Cui, K. Eisenächer, A. Kirchhofer, K. Brzózka, A. Lammens, K. Lammens, T. Fujita, K. K. Conzelmann, A. Krug, and K. P. Hopfner, "The C-Terminal Regulatory Domain Is the RNA 5'-Triphosphate Sensor of RIG-I," *Mol. Cell*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 169–179, 2008.
- [247] K. Takahasi, H. Kumeta, N. Tsuduki, R. Narita, T. Shigemoto, R. Hirai, M. Yoneyama, M. Horiuchi, K. Ogura, T. Fujita, and F. Inagaki, "Solution structures of cytosolic RNA sensor MDA5 and LGP2 C-terminal domains: Identification of the RNA recognition loop in RIG-I-like receptors," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 284, no. 26, pp. 17465–17474, 2009.
- [248] M. U. Gack, Y. C. Shin, C.-H. Joo, T. Urano, C. Liang, L. Sun, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, Z. Chen, S. Inoue, and J. U. Jung, "TRIM25 RINGfinger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-I-mediated antiviral activity.," *Nature*, vol. 446, no. 7138, pp. 916–920, 2007.
- [249] A. Pichlmair, O. Schulz, C.-P. Tan, J. Rehwinkel, H. Kato, O. Takeuchi, S. Akira, M. Way, G. Schiavo, and C. Reis e Sousa, "Activation of MDA5 requires higher-order RNA structures generated during virus infection.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 83, no. 20, pp. 10761–10769, 2009.
- [250] K. Arimoto, H. Takahashi, T. Hishiki, H. Konishi, T. Fujita, and K. Shimotohno, "Negative regulation of the RIG-I signaling by the ubiquitin ligase RNF125.," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 104, no. 18, pp. 7500– 7505, 2007.
- [251] T. Kawai and S. Akira, "Innate immune recognition of viral infection.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 131–7, Feb. 2006.
- [252] S. Akira, S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi, "Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity," *Cell*, vol. 124, no. 4, pp. 783–801, 2006.
- [253] J. Choe, M. S. Kelker, and I. a. Wilson, "Crystal structure of human tolllike receptor 3," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 309, no. 5734, pp. 581–5, 2005.
- [254] D. D. Liu L, Botos I, Wang Y, Leonard JN, Shiloach J, Segal DM,
  "Structural basis of toll-like receptor 3 signaling with double-stranded RNA.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 320, no. 5874, pp. 379–381, 2008.
- [255] G. Mancuso, M. Gambuzza, A. Midiri, C. Biondo, S. Papasergi, S. Akira, G. Teti, and C. Beninati, "Bacterial recognition by TLR7 in the lysosomes of conventional dendritic cells.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 587–594, 2009.
- [256] T. Haas, J. Metzger, F. Schmitz, A. Heit, T. Müller, E. Latz, and H. Wagner, "The DNA Sugar Backbone 2' Deoxyribose Determines Tolllike Receptor 9 Activation," *Immunity*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 315–323, 2008.

- [257] K. J. Barton GM, "A cell biological view of Toll-like receptor function: regulation through compartmentalization.," *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 535–542, 2009.
- [258] K. Tabeta, K. Hoebe, E. M. Janssen, X. Du, P. Georgel, K. Crozat, S. Mudd, N. Mann, S. Sovath, J. Goode, L. Shamel, A. a Herskovits, D. a Portnoy, M. Cooke, L. M. Tarantino, T. Wiltshire, B. E. Steinberg, S. Grinstein, and B. Beutler, "The Unc93b1 mutation 3d disrupts exogenous antigen presentation and signaling via Toll-like receptors 3, 7 and 9.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 156–164, 2006.
- [259] Y.-M. Kim, M. M. Brinkmann, M.-E. Paquet, and H. L. Ploegh,
  "UNC93B1 delivers nucleotide-sensing toll-like receptors to endolysosomes.," *Nature*, vol. 452, no. 7184, pp. 234–238, 2008.
- [260] T. Kawagoe, S. Sato, K. Matsushita, H. Kato, K. Matsui, Y. Kumagai, T. Saitoh, T. Kawai, O. Takeuchi, and S. Akira, "Sequential control of Tolllike receptor-dependent responses by IRAK1 and IRAK2.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 684–691, 2008.
- [261] Z.-P. Xia, L. Sun, X. Chen, G. Pineda, X. Jiang, A. Adhikari, W. Zeng, and Z. J. Chen, "Direct activation of protein kinases by unanchored polyubiquitin chains.," *Nature*, vol. 461, no. 7260, pp. 114–119, 2009.
- [262] G. Oganesyan, S. K. Saha, B. Guo, J. Q. He, A. Shahangian, B. Zarnegar, A. Perry, and G. Cheng, "Critical role of TRAF3 in the Toll-like receptor-dependent and -independent antiviral response.," *Nature*, vol. 439, no. 7073, pp. 208–211, 2006.
- [263] H. Häcker, V. Redecke, B. Blagoev, I. Kratchmarova, L.-C. Hsu, G. G. Wang, M. P. Kamps, E. Raz, H. Wagner, G. Häcker, M. Mann, and M. Karin, "Specificity in Toll-like receptor signalling through distinct effector functions of TRAF3 and TRAF6.," *Nature*, vol. 439, no. 7073, pp. 204– 207, 2006.
- [264] M. T. Tenoever BR1, Ng SL, Chua MA, McWhirter SM, García-Sastre A, "Multiple functions of the IKK-related kinase IKKepsilon in interferonmediated antiviral immunity," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 315, no. March, pp. 1274–1279, 2007.
- [265] D. B. Stetson and R. Medzhitov, "Recognition of cytosolic DNA activates an IRF3-dependent innate immune response," *Immunity*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 93–103, 2006.
- [266] M. K. Choi, Z. Wang, T. Ban, H. Yanai, Y. Lu, R. Koshiba, Y. Nakaima, S. Hangai, D. Savitsky, M. Nakasato, H. Negishi, O. Takeuchi, K. Honda, S. Akira, T. Tamura, and T. Taniguchi, "A selective contribution of the RIG-I-like receptor pathway to type I interferon responses

activated by cytosolic DNA.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 106, no. 42, pp. 17870–17875, 2009.

- [267] C. Z. Chiu YH, Macmillan JB, "RNA polymerase III detects cytosolic DNA and induces type I interferons through the RIG-I pathway.," *Cell*, vol. 138, no. 3, pp. 576–591, 2009.
- [268] A. Ablasser, F. Bauernfeind, G. Hartmann, E. Latz, K. a Fitzgerald, and V. Hornung, "RIG-I-dependent sensing of poly(dA:dT) through the induction of an RNA polymerase III-transcribed RNA intermediate.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1065–1072, 2009.
- [269] A. Takaoka, Z. Wang, M. K. Choi, H. Yanai, H. Negishi, T. Ban, Y. Lu, M. Miyagishi, T. Kodama, K. Honda, Y. Ohba, and T. Taniguchi, "DAI (DLM-1/ZBP1) is a cytosolic DNA sensor and an activator of innate immune response.," *Nature*, vol. 448, no. 7152, pp. 501–505, 2007.
- [270] W. Sun, Y. Li, L. Chen, H. Chen, F. You, X. Zhou, Y. Zhou, Z. Zhai, D. Chen, and Z. Jiang, "ERIS, an endoplasmic reticulum IFN stimulator, activates innate immune signaling through dimerization.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 106, no. 21, pp. 8653–8658, 2009.
- [271] B. Zhong, Y. Yang, S. Li, Y. Y. Wang, Y. Li, F. Diao, C. Lei, X. He, L. Zhang, P. Tien, and H. B. Shu, "The Adaptor Protein MITA Links Virus-Sensing Receptors to IRF3 Transcription Factor Activation," *Immunity*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 538–550, 2008.
- [272] B. G. Ishikawa H, "STING is an endoplasmic reticulum adaptor that facilitates innate immune signalling.," *Nature*, vol. 455, no. 7213, pp. 674–678, 2008.
- [273] Inohara, Chamaillard, C. McDonald, and G. Nuñez, "NOD-LRR proteins: role in host-microbial interactions and inflammatory disease.," *Annu. Rev. Biochem.*, vol. 74, pp. 355–383, 2005.
- [274] A. Sabbah, T. H. Chang, R. Harnack, V. Frohlich, K. Tominaga, P. H. Dube, Y. Xiang, and S. Bose, "Activation of innate immune antiviral responses by Nod2.," *Nat. Immunol.*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 1073–1080, 2009.
- [275] S. M. Horner and M. Gale, "Regulation of hepatic innate immunity by hepatitis C virus.," *Nat. Med.*, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 879–88, 2013.
- [276] X.-D. Li, L. Sun, R. B. Seth, G. Pineda, and Z. J. Chen, "Hepatitis C virus protease NS3/4A cleaves mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein off the mitochondria to evade innate immunity.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 102, no. 49, pp. 17717–17722, 2005.

- [277] P. Bellecave, M. Sarasin-Filipowicz, O. D. Sarasin-Filipowicz, A. Kennel, J. Gouttenoire, E. Meylan, L. Terracciano, J. Tschopp, C. Sarrazin, T. Berg, D. Moradpour, and H. Markus, "Cleavage of mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein in the liver of patients with chronic hepatitis c correlates with a reduced activation of the endogenous interferon system," *Hepatology*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 1127–1136, 2010.
- [278] N. Arnaud, S. Dabo, D. Akazawa, M. Fukasawa, F. Shinkai-Ouchi, J. Hugon, T. Wakita, and E. F. Meurs, "Hepatitis C virus reveals a novel early control in acute immune response.," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 7, no. 10, p. e1002289, Oct. 2011.
- [279] A. Kumar, Y. L. Yang, V. Flati, S. Der, S. Kadereit, A. Deb, J. Haque, L. Reis, C. Weissmann, and B. R. G. Williams, "Deficient cytokine signaling in mouse embryo fibroblasts with a targeted deletion in the PKR gene: role of IRF-1 and NF-kappaB.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 406–416, 1997.
- [280] C. S. McAllister and C. E. Samuel, "The RNA-activated protein kinase enhances the induction of interferon-beta and apoptosis mediated by cytoplasmic RNA sensors.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 284, no. 3, pp. 1644– 1651, 2009.
- [281] N. Arnaud, S. Dabo, P. Maillard, A. Budkowska, K. I. Kalliampakou, P. Mavromara, D. Garcin, J. Hugon, A. Gatignol, D. Akazawa, T. Wakita, and E. F. Meurs, "Hepatitis c virus controls interferon production through PKR activation," *PLoS One*, vol. 5, no. 5, p. e10575, 2010.
- [282] T. Shimoike, S. a. McKenna, D. a. Lindhout, and J. D. Puglisi, "Translational insensitivity to potent activation of PKR by HCV IRES RNA," *Antiviral Res.*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 228–237, 2009.
- [283] J. C. Ferreon, A. C. M. Ferreon, K. Li, and S. M. Lemon, "Molecular determinants of TRIF proteolysis mediated by the hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 280, no. 21, pp. 20483–20492, 2005.
- [284] H. Oshiumi, M. Miyashita, M. Matsumoto, and T. Seya, "A Distinct Role of Riplet-Mediated K63-Linked Polyubiquitination of the RIG-I Repressor Domain in Human Antiviral Innate Immune Responses," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 9, no. 8, p. e1003533, 2013.
- [285] M. J. Gale, M. J. Korth, N. M. Tang, S. L. Tan, D. a Hopkins, T. E. Dever, S. J. Polyak, D. R. Gretch, and M. G. Katze, "Evidence that hepatitis C virus resistance to interferon is mediated through repression of the PKR protein kinase by the nonstructural 5A protein.," *Virology*, vol. 230, no. 2, pp. 217–227, 1997.

- [286] D. R. Taylor, S. T. Shi, P. R. Romano, G. N. Barber, and M. M. Lai, "Inhibition of the interferon-inducible protein kinase PKR by HCV E2 protein.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 285, no. 5424, pp. 107–110, 1999.
- [287] T. Taguchi, M. Nagano-Fujii, M. Akutsu, H. Kadoya, S. Ohgimoto, S. Ishido, and H. Hotta, "Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein interacts with 2',5'oligoadenylate synthetase and inhibits antiviral activity of IFN in an IFN sensitivity-determining region-independent manner.," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 85, no. 4, pp. 959–969, 2004.
- [288] T. Abe, Y. Kaname, I. Hamamoto, Y. Tsuda, X. Wen, S. Taguwa, K. Moriishi, O. Takeuchi, T. Kawai, T. Kanto, N. Hayashi, S. Akira, and Y. Matsuura, "Hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A modulates the tolllike receptor-MyD88-dependent signaling pathway in macrophage cell lines.," J. Virol., vol. 81, no. 17, pp. 8953–8966, 2007.
- [289] E. a. Eksioglu, H. Zhu, L. Bayouth, J. Bess, H. Y. Liu, D. R. Nelson, and C. Liu, "Characterization of HCV interactions with Toll-like receptors and RIG-I in liver cells," *PLoS One*, vol. 6, no. 6, p. e21186, 2011.
- [290] S. M. Horner and M. Gale, "Intracellular innate immune cascades and interferon defenses that control hepatitis C virus.," J. Interferon Cytokine Res., vol. 29, no. 9, pp. 489–98, Sep. 2009.
- [291] W. Lin, S. S. Kim, E. Yeung, Y. Kamegaya, J. T. Blackard, K. A. Kim, M. J. Holtzman, and R. T. Chung, "Hepatitis C virus core protein blocks interferon signaling by interaction with the STAT1 SH2 domain.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 80, no. 18, pp. 9226–9235, 2006.
- [292] S. de Lucas, J. Bartolome, and V. Carreno, "Hepatitis C virus core protein down-regulates transcription of interferon-induced antiviral genes.," *J. Infect. Dis.*, vol. 191, no. 1, pp. 93–99, 2005.
- [293] K. Melén, R. Fagerlund, M. Nyqvist, P. Keskinen, and I. Julkunen, "Expression of hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits interferon-induced nuclear import of STATs," *J. Med. Virol.*, vol. 73, no. 4, pp. 536–547, 2004.
- [294] J. G. Bode, S. Ludwig, C. Ehrhardt, U. Albrecht, A. Erhardt, F. Schaper, P. C. Heinrich, and D. Häussinger, "IFN-alpha antagonistic activity of HCV core protein involves induction of suppressor of cytokine signaling-3.," *FASEB J.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 488–490, 2003.
- [295] J. I. Kaukinen P1, Sillanpää M, Nousiainen L, Melén K, "Hepatitis C virus NS2 protease inhibits host cell antiviral response by inhibiting IKKɛ and TBK1 functions," J. Med. Virol., vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 71–82, 2013.

- [296] M. Tasaka, N. Sakamoto, Y. Itakura, M. Nakagawa, Y. Itsui, Y. Sekine-Osajima, Y. Nishimura-Sakurai, C. H. Chen, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, T. Wakita, S. Maekawa, N. Enomoto, and M. Watanabe, "Hepatitis C virus non-structural proteins responsible for suppression of the RIG-I/Cardifinduced interferon response," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 88, no. 12, pp. 3323– 3333, 2007.
- [297] J. L. Walewski, T. R. Keller, D. D. Stump, and a D. Branch, "Evidence for a new hepatitis C virus antigen encoded in an overlapping reading frame.," *RNA*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. 710–21, May 2001.
- [298] A. Varaklioti, N. Vassilaki, U. Georgopoulou, and P. Mavromara, "Alternate translation occurs within the core coding region of the hepatitis C viral genome.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 277, no. 20, pp. 17713– 21, May 2002.
- [299] Z. Xu, J. Choi, T. S. Yen, W. Lu, a Strohecker, S. Govindarajan, D. Chien, M. J. Selby, and J. Ou, "Synthesis of a novel hepatitis C virus protein by ribosomal frameshift.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 20, no. 14, pp. 3840– 3848, 2001.
- [300] J. Choi, Z. Xu, and J. Ou, "Triple Decoding of Hepatitis C Virus RNA by Programmed Translational Frameshifting," *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 1489–1497, 2003.
- [301] S. Boulant, M. Becchi, F. Penin, and J. P. Lavergne, "Unusual Multiple Recoding Events Leading to Alternative Forms of Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein from Genotype 1b," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 278, no. 46, pp. 45785– 45792, 2003.
- [302] M. Baril and L. Brakier-Gingras, "Translation of the F protein of hepatitis C virus is initiated at a non-AUG codon in a +1 reading frame relative to the polyprotein," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 1474–1486, 2005.
- [303] N. Vassilaki and P. Mavromara, "Two Alternative Translation Mechanisms Are Responsible for the Expression of the HCV ARFP/F/Core+1 Coding Open Reading Frame," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 278, no. 42, pp. 40503–40513, 2003.
- [304] N. Vassilaki, H. Boleti, and P. Mavromara, "Expression studies of the HCV-1a core+1 open reading frame in mammalian cells," *Virus Res.*, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 123–135, 2008.
- [305] N. Vassilaki, H. Boleti, and P. Mavromara, "Expression studies of the core+1 protein of the hepatitis C virus 1a in mammalian cells: The influence of the core protein and proteasomes on the intracellular levels of core+1," FEBS J., vol. 274, no. 16, pp. 4057–4074, 2007.

- [306] J. L. Walewski, J. a Gutierrez, W. Branch-Elliman, D. D. Stump, T. R. Keller, A. Rodriguez, G. Benson, and A. D. Branch, "Mutation Master: profiles of substitutions in hepatitis C virus RNA of the core, alternate reading frame, and NS2 coding regions.," *RNA*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 557–71, May 2002.
- [307] S. Ogata, M. Nagano-fujii, Y. Ku, S. Yoon, and H. Hotta, "Comparative Sequence Analysis of the Core Protein and Its Frameshift Product, the F Protein, of Hepatitis C Virus Subtype 1b Strains Obtained from Patients with and without Hepatocellular Carcinoma," *J. Clin. Microbiol.*, vol. 40, no. 10, pp. 3625–3630, 2002.
- [308] J. Cristina, F. Lopez, G. Moratorio, L. López, S. Vasquez, L. García-Aguirre, and A. Chunga, "Hepatitis C virus F protein sequence reveals a lack of functional constraints and a variable pattern of amino acid substitution.," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 86, no. Pt 1, pp. 115–20, Jan. 2005.
- [309] C. Sander and R. Schneider, "Database of homology-derived protein structures and the structural meaning of sequence alignment.," *Proteins*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 56–68, 1991.
- [310] T. Efferth, "Adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette transporter genes in ageing and age-related diseases," *Ageing Res. Rev.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 11–24, 2003.
- [311] M. Shesheer Kumar, K. Venkateswara Rao, C. Mohammed Habeebullah, and V. Dashavantha Reddy, "Expression of alternate reading frame protein (F1) of hepatitis C virus in Escherichia coli and detection of antibodies for F1 in Indian patients," *Infect. Genet. Evol.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 374–377, 2008.
- [312] J. Zhong, P. Gastaminza, G. Cheng, S. Kapadia, T. Kato, D. R. Burton, S. F. Wieland, S. L. Uprichard, T. Wakita, and F. V Chisari, "Robust hepatitis C virus infection in vitro.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 102, no. 26, pp. 9294–9299, 2005.
- [313] Z. Xu, J. Choi, W. Lu, and J. Ou, "Hepatitis C Virus F Protein Is a Short-Lived Protein Associated with the Endoplasmic Reticulum," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 2, pp. 1578–1583, 2003.
- [314] J. Roussel, A. Pillez, C. Montpellier, G. Duverlie, A. Cahour, J. Dubuisson, and C. Wychowski, "Characterization of the expression of the hepatitis C virus F protein," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 84, no. 7, pp. 1751– 1759, 2003.
- [315] M. Wolf, M. Dimitrova, T. F. Baumert, and C. Schuster, "The major form of hepatitis C virus alternate reading frame protein is suppressed by

core protein expression," *Nucleic Acids Res.*, vol. 36, no. 9, pp. 3054–3064, 2008.

- [316] H. C. Ma, T. W. Lin, H. Li, S. M. M. Iguchi-Ariga, H. Ariga, Y. L. Chuang, J. H. Ou, and S. Y. Lo, "Hepatitis C virus ARFP/F protein interacts with cellular MM-1 protein and enhances the gene trans-activation activity of c-Myc," *J. Biomed. Sci.*, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 417–425, 2008.
- [317] M. Ratinier, S. Boulant, S. Crussard, J. McLauchlan, and J. P. Lavergne, "Subcellular localizations of the hepatitis C virus alternate reading frame proteins," *Virus Res.*, vol. 139, no. 1, pp. 106–110, 2009.
- [318] V. Lohmann, F. Körner, J. Koch, U. Herian, L. Theilmann, and R. Bartenschlager, "Replication of subgenomic hepatitis C virus RNAs in a hepatoma cell line.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 285, no. 5424, pp. 110–113, 1999.
- [319] K. J. Blight, a a Kolykhalov, and C. M. Rice, "Efficient initiation of HCV RNA replication in cell culture.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 290, no. 5498, pp. 1972–1974, 2000.
- [320] P. Friebe, J. Boudet, J. Simorre, and R. Bartenschlager, "Kissing-Loop Interaction in the 3 ' End of the Hepatitis C Virus Genome Essential for RNA Replication," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 380–392, 2005.
- [321] K. J. Blight, J. a Mckeating, and C. M. Rice, "Highly Permissive Cell Lines for Subgenomic and Genomic Hepatitis C Virus RNA Replication Highly Permissive Cell Lines for Subgenomic and Genomic Hepatitis C Virus RNA Replication," *J. Virol.*, vol. 76, no. 24, pp. 13001–13014, 2002.
- [322] A. Basu, R. Steele, R. Ray, and R. B. Ray, "Functional properties of a 16 kDa protein translated from an alternative open reading frame of the core-encoding genomic region of hepatitis C virus," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 85, no. 8, pp. 2299–2306, 2004.
- [323] W. Bin Wu, S. W. Shao, L. J. Zhao, J. Luan, J. Cao, J. Gao, S. Y. Zhu, and Z. T. Qi, "Hepatitis C virus F protein up-regulates c-myc and downregulates p53 in human hepatoma HepG2 cells," *Intervirology*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 341–346, 2007.
- [324] M. Fiorucci, S. Boulant, A. Fournillier, J. D. Abraham, J. P. Lavergne, G. Paranhos-Baccala, G. Inchauspé, and C. Bain, "Expression of the alternative reading frame protein of hepatitis C virus induces cytokines involved in hepatic injuries," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 88, no. 4, pp. 1149–1162, 2007.

- [325] M. Okochi, T. Nomura, T. Zako, T. Arakawa, R. lizuka, H. Ueda, T. Funatsu, M. Leroux, and M. Yohda, "Kinetics and binding sites for interaction of the prefoldin with a group II chaperonin. Contiguous non-native substrate and chaperonin binding sites in the archaeal prefoldin," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 279, no. 30, pp. 31788–31795, 2004.
- [326] M. L. Tsao, C. H. Chao, and C. T. Yeh, "Interaction of hepatitis C virus F protein with prefoldin 2 perturbs tubulin cytoskeleton organization," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 348, no. 1, pp. 271–277, 2006.
- [327] J. Martín-Benito, J. Boskovic, P. Gómez-Puertas, J. L. Carrascosa, C. T. Simons, S. a. Lewis, F. Bartolini, N. J. Cowan, and J. M. Valpuesta, "Structure of eukaryotic prefoldin and of its complexes with unfolded actin and the cytosolic chaperonin CCT," *EMBO J.*, vol. 21, no. 23, pp. 6377–6386, 2002.
- [328] A. G. Bost, D. Venable, L. Liu, and B. a Heinz, "Cytoskeletal Requirements for Hepatitis C Virus (HCV) RNA Synthesis in the HCV Replicon Cell Culture System," *J. Virol.*, vol. 77, no. 7, pp. 4401–4408, 2003.
- [329] Y. a Suh, R. S. Arnold, B. Lassegue, J. Shi, X. Xu, D. Sorescu, a B. Chung, K. K. Griendling, and J. D. Lambeth, "Cell transformation by the superoxide-generating oxidase Mox1.," *Nature*, vol. 401, no. 6748, pp. 79–82, 1999.
- [330] J. D. Lambeth, G. Cheng, R. S. Arnold, and W. a. Edens, "Novel homologs of gp91 phox," *Trends Biochem Sci*, vol. 0004, no. 10, pp. 459–461, 2000.
- [331] B. M. Babior, J. D. Lambeth, and W. Nauseef, "The neutrophil NADPH oxidase.," *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.*, vol. 397, no. 2, pp. 342–344, 2002.
- [332] S. R. Lee, K. S. Kwon, S. R. Kim, and S. G. Rhee, "Reversible inactivation of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B in A431 cells stimulated with epidermal growth factor.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 273, no. 25, pp. 15366–15372, 1998.
- [333] S. R. Lee, K. S. Yang, J. Kwon, C. Lee, W. Jeong, and S. G. Rhee, "Reversible inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by H2O2," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 277, no. 23, pp. 20336–20342, 2002.
- [334] T. C. Meng, T. Fukada, and N. K. Tonks, "Reversible oxidation and inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases in vivo," *Mol. Cell*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 387–399, 2002.
- [335] B. Bánfi, G. Molnár, A. Maturana, K. Steger, B. Hegedûs, N. Demaurex, and K. H. Krause, "A Ca2+-activated NADPH Oxidase in Testis, Spleen,

and Lymph Nodes," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 276, no. 40, pp. 37594–37601, 2001.

- [336] J. Zeng and R. E. Fenna, "X-ray crystal structure of canine myeloperoxidase at 3 A resolution.," *J. Mol. Biol.*, vol. 226, no. 1, pp. 185–207, 1992.
- [337] W. a. Edens, L. Sharling, G. Cheng, R. Shapira, J. M. Kinkade, T. Lee, H. a. Edens, X. Tang, C. Sullards, D. B. Flaherty, G. M. Benian, and J. David Lambeth, "Tyrosine cross-linking of extracellular matrix is catalyzed by Duox, a multidomain oxidase/peroxidase with homology to the phagocyte oxidase subunit gp91phox," *J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 154, no. 4, pp. 879–891, 2001.
- [338] M. Sundaresan, Z. X. Yu, V. J. Ferrans, K. Irani, and T. Finkel, "Requirement for generation of H2O2 for platelet-derived growth factor signal transduction.," *Science (80-. ).*, vol. 270, no. 5234, pp. 296–299, 1995.
- [339] R. H. Burdon, "Superoxide and hydrogen peroxide in relation to mammalian cell proliferation," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 775–794, 1995.
- [340] K. Irani, Y. Xia, J. L. Zweier, S. J. Sollott, C. J. Der, E. R. Fearon, M. Sundaresan, T. Finkel, and P. J. Goldschmidt-Clermont, "Mitogenic signaling mediated by oxidants in Ras-transformed fibroblasts.," *Science*, vol. 275, no. 5306, pp. 1649–1652, 1997.
- [341] T. Finkel, "Oxygen radicals and signaling," Curr. Opin. Cell Biol., vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 248–253, 1998.
- [342] a R. Simon, U. Rai, B. L. Fanburg, and B. H. Cochran, "Activation of the JAK-STAT pathway by reactive oxygen species.," *Am. J. Physiol.*, vol. 275, no. 6 Pt 1, pp. C1640–52, Dec. 1998.
- [343] D. P. Jones, "Redox sensing: Orthogonal control in cell cycle and apoptosis signalling," J. Intern. Med., vol. 268, no. 5, pp. 432–448, 2010.
- [344] P. Chiarugi, T. Fiaschi, M. L. Taddei, D. Talini, E. Giannoni, G. Raugei, and G. Ramponi, "Two vicinal cysteines confer a peculiar redox regulation to low molecular weight protein tyrosine phosphatase in response to platelet-derived growth factor receptor stimulation.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 276, no. 36, pp. 33478–33487, 2001.
- [345] S. G. Rhee, S. W. Kang, W. Jeong, T. S. Chang, K. S. Yang, and H. A. Woo, "Intracellular messenger function of hydrogen peroxide and its regulation by peroxiredoxins," *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 183–189, 2005.
- [346] C. C. Winterbourn and M. B. Hampton, "Thiol chemistry and specificity in redox signaling," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 45, no. 5, pp. 549–561, 2008.
- [347] D. Barford, "The role of cysteine residues as redox-sensitive regulatory switches," *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 679–686, 2004.
- [348] H. Kamata, S. I. Honda, S. Maeda, L. Chang, H. Hirata, and M. Karin, "Reactive oxygen species promote TNFalpha-induced death and sustained JNK activation by inhibiting MAP kinase phosphatases.," *Cell*, vol. 120, no. 5, pp. 649–661, 2005.
- [349] N. K. Tonks, "Redox redux: Revisiting PTPs and the control of cell signaling," *Cell*, vol. 121, no. 5, pp. 667–670, 2005.
- [350] B. F. Chiarugi P, "Protein tyrosine phosphorylation and reversible oxidation: two cross-talking posttranslation modifications.," *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–24, 2007.
- [351] J. D. Lambeth and A. S. Neish, "Nox Enzymes and New Thinking on Reactive Oxygen: A Double-Edged Sword Revisited," *Annu. Rev. Pathol. Mech. Dis.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 119–145, 2014.
- [352] H. Nohl, L. Gille, A. Kozlov, and K. Staniek, "Are mitochondria a spontaneous and permanent source of reactive oxygen species?," *Redox Rep.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 135–141, 2003.
- [353] D. C. Wallace and W. Fan, "The pathophysiology of mitochondrial disease as modeled in the mouse," *Genes Dev.*, vol. 23, no. 15, pp. 1714–1736, 2009.
- [354] I. Migeotte, D. Communi, and M. Parmentier, "Formyl peptide receptors: A promiscuous subfamily of G protein-coupled receptors controlling immune responses," *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.*, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 501–519, 2006.
- [355] J. L. Gao, E. J. Lee, and P. M. Murphy, "Impaired antibacterial host defense in mice lacking the N-formylpeptide receptor.," *J. Exp. Med.*, vol. 189, no. 4, pp. 657–662, 1999.
- [356] G. Leoni, A. Alam, P. Neumann, J. D. Lambeth, G. Cheng, J. Mccoy, R. S. Hilgarth, K. Kundu, N. Murthy, D. Kusters, C. Reutelingsperger, M. Perretti, C. a Parkos, A. S. Neish, and A. Nusrat, "Annexin A1, formyl peptide receptor, and NOX1 orchestrate epithelial repair.," *J. Clin. Invest.*, vol. 123, no. 1, pp. 443–54, 2013.
- [357] J. D. Lambeth, "NOX enzymes and the biology of reactive oxygen.," *Nat. Rev. Immunol.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 181–9, Mar. 2004.

- [358] E. Ogier-Denis, S. Ben Mkaddem, and A. Vandewalle, "NOX enzymes and Toll-like receptor signaling," *Semin. Immunopathol.*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 291–300, 2008.
- [359] Y. S. Kim, M. J. Morgan, S. Choksi, and Z. G. Liu, "TNF-Induced Activation of the Nox1 NADPH Oxidase and Its Role in the Induction of Necrotic Cell Death," *Mol. Cell*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 675–687, 2007.
- [360] Y. S. Bae, S. W. Kang, M. S. Seo, I. C. Baines, E. Tekle, P. B. Chock, and S. G. Rhee, "Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)-induced Generation of Hydrogen Peroxide," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 272, no. 1, pp. 217–221, 1997.
- [361] H. N. Ranjan P, Anathy V, Burch PM, Weirather K, Lambeth JD,
  "Redox-dependent expression of cyclin D1 and cell proliferation by Nox1 in mouse lung epithelial cells.," *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, vol. 8, no. 9–10, pp. 1447–59, 2006.
- [362] H. Tsukagoshi, W. Busch, and P. N. Benfey, "Transcriptional regulation of ROS controls transition from proliferation to differentiation in the root," *Cell*, vol. 143, no. 4, pp. 606–616, 2010.
- [363] E. Owusu-Ansah and U. Banerjee, "Reactive oxygen species prime Drosophila haematopoietic progenitors for differentiation.," *Nature*, vol. 461, no. 7263, pp. 537–541, 2009.
- [364] C. E. Hochmuth, B. Biteau, D. Bohmann, and H. Jasper, "Redox regulation by keap1 and Nrf2 controls intestinal stem cell proliferation in drosophila," *Cell Stem Cell*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 188–199, 2011.
- [365] T. W. Kensler, N. Wakabayashi, and S. Biswal, "Cell survival responses to environmental stresses via the Keap1-Nrf2-ARE pathway.," *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, vol. 47, pp. 89–116, 2007.
- [366] J. L. Arbiser, J. Petros, R. Klafter, B. Govindajaran, E. R. McLaughlin, L. F. Brown, C. Cohen, M. Moses, S. Kilroy, R. S. Arnold, and J. D. Lambeth, "Reactive oxygen generated by Nox1 triggers the angiogenic switch.," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 99, no. 2, pp. 715–720, 2002.
- [367] J. M. Li J, Stouffs M, Serrander L, Banfi B, Bettiol E, Charnay Y, Steger K, Krause KH, "The NADPH oxidase NOX4 drives cardiac differentiation: Role in regulating cardiac transcription factors and MAP kinase activation.," *Mol. Biol. Cell*, vol. 17, no. 9, pp. 3978–88, 2006.
- [368] M. Y. Lee, A. S. Martin, P. K. Mehta, A. E. Dikalova, A. M. Garrido, S. R. Datla, E. Lyons, K. H. Krause, B. Banfi, J. D. Lambeth, B. Lassègue, and K. K. Griendling, "Mechanisms of vascular smooth muscle NADPH">Marticle NADPH

oxidase 1 (Nox1) contribution to injury-induced neointimal formation," *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 480–487, 2009.

- [369] A. Sadok, V. Bourgarel-Rey, F. Gattacceca, C. Penel, M. Lehmann, and H. Kovacic, "Nox1-dependent superoxide production controls colon adenocarcinoma cell migration.," *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, vol. 1783, no. 1, pp. 23–33, 2008.
- [370] K. Schröder, I. Helmcke, K. Palfi, K.-H. Krause, R. Busse, and R. P. Brandes, "Nox1 mediates basic fibroblast growth factor-induced migration of vascular smooth muscle cells.," *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.*, vol. 27, no. 8, pp. 1736–1743, 2007.
- [371] S. Pendyala, I. a Gorshkova, P. V Usatyuk, D. He, A. Pennathur, J. D. Lambeth, V. J. Thannickal, and V. Natarajan, "Role of Nox4 and Nox2 in hyperoxia-induced reactive oxygen species generation and migration of human lung endothelial cells.," *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 747–764, 2009.
- [372] S. K. Mitra, D. a Hanson, and D. D. Schlaepfer, "Focal adhesion kinase: in command and control of cell motility.," *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 56–68, 2005.
- [373] P. Chiarugi, G. Pani, E. Giannoni, L. Taddei, R. Colavitti, G. Raugei, M. Symons, S. Borrello, T. Galeotti, and G. Ramponi, "Reactive oxygen species as essential mediators of cell adhesion: The oxidative inhibition of a FAK tyrosine phosphatase is required for cell adhesion," *J. Cell Biol.*, vol. 161, no. 5, pp. 933–944, 2003.
- [374] P. a Swanson, A. Kumar, S. Samarin, M. Vijay-Kumar, K. Kundu, N. Murthy, J. Hansen, A. Nusrat, and A. S. Neish, "Enteric commensal bacteria potentiate epithelial restitution via reactive oxygen speciesmediated inactivation of focal adhesion kinase phosphatases.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 108, no. 21, pp. 8803–8808, 2011.
- [375] H. Y. Ji, W. L. Joo, H. K. Kyung, T. Morio, and H. Kim, "NADPH oxidase and apoptosis in cerulein-stimulated pancreatic acinar AR42J cells," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 590–602, 2005.
- [376] S. Kobayashi, Y. Nojima, M. Shibuya, and Y. Maru, "Nox1 regulates apoptosis and potentially stimulates branching morphogenesis in sinusoidal endothelial cells," *Exp. Cell Res.*, vol. 300, no. 2, pp. 455– 462, 2004.
- [377] J. Huang, V. Canadien, G. Y. Lam, B. E. Steinberg, M. C. Dinauer, M. a O. Magalhaes, M. Glogauer, S. Grinstein, and J. H. Brumell, "Activation of antibacterial autophagy by NADPH oxidases.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 106, no. 15, pp. 6226–6231, 2009.

- [378] E. C. Vaquero, M. Edderkaoui, S. J. Pandol, I. Gukovsky, and A. S. Gukovskaya, "Reactive oxygen species produced by NAD(P)H oxidase inhibit apoptosis in pancreatic cancer cells," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 279, no. 33, pp. 34643–34654, 2004.
- [379] M. Fukuyama, K. Rokutan, T. Sano, H. Miyake, M. Shimada, and S. Tashiro, "Overexpression of a novel superoxide-producing enzyme, NADPH oxidase 1, in adenoma and well differentiated adenocarcinoma of the human colon," *Cancer Lett.*, vol. 221, no. 1, pp. 97–104, 2005.
- [380] J. W. Heineckes, W. Li, H. L. Daehnke, and J. a Goldstein, "Dityrosine, a specific marker of oxidation, is synthesized by the myeloperoxidasehydrogen peroxide system of human neutrophils and macrophages.," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 268, no. 6, pp. 4069–77, 1993.
- [381] J. L. Meitzler and P. R. Ortiz De Montellano, "Caenorhabditis elegans and human dual oxidase 1 (DUOX1) 'Peroxidase' domains: Insights into heme binding and catalytic activity," *J. Biol. Chem.*, vol. 284, no. 28, pp. 18634–18643, 2009.
- [382] G. Salazar, J. M. Falcon-Perez, R. Harrison, and V. Faundez, "SLC30A3 (ZnT3) oligomerization by dityrosine bonds regulates its subcellular localization and metal transport capacity," *PLoS One*, vol. 4, no. 6, p. e5896, 2009.
- [383] G. J. Kuhns DB, Alvord WG, Heller T, Feld JJ, Pike KM, Marciano BE, Uzel G, DeRavin SS, Priel DA, Soule BP, Zarember KA, Malech HL, Holland SM, "Residual NADPH Oxidase and Survival in Chronic Granulomatous Disease," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 363, no. 27, pp. 2600– 2610, 2010.
- [384] S. D. Kobayashi, J. M. Voyich, K. R. Braughton, A. R. Whitney, W. M. Nauseef, H. L. Malech, and F. R. DeLeo, "Gene expression profiling provides insight into the pathophysiology of chronic granulomatous disease.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 172, no. 1, pp. 636–643, 2004.
- [385] V. Chávez, A. Mohri-Shiomi, and D. a. Garsin, "Ce-Duox1/BLI-3 generates reactive oxygen species as a protective innate immune mechanism in Caenorhabditis elegans," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 77, no. 11, pp. 4983–4989, 2009.
- [386] E. M. Ha, C. T. Oh, J. H. Ryu, Y. S. Bae, S. W. Kang, I. H. Jang, P. T. Brey, and W. J. Lee, "An antioxidant system required for host protection against gut infection in Drosophila," *Dev. Cell*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 125–132, 2005.

- [387] E.-M. Ha, C.-T. Oh, Y. S. Bae, and W.-J. Lee, "A direct role for dual oxidase in Drosophila gut immunity.," *Science*, vol. 310, no. 5749, pp. 847–850, 2005.
- [388] K. Bedard and K.-H. Krause, "The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology.," *Physiol. Rev.*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 245–313, 2007.
- [389] M. Geiszt, J. Witta, J. Baffi, K. Lekstrom, and T. L. Leto, "Dual oxidases represent novel hydrogen peroxide sources supporting mucosal surface host defense.," *FASEB J.*, vol. 17, no. 11, pp. 1502–1504, 2003.
- [390] N. Corcionivoschi, L. a Alvarez, T. H. Sharp, M. Strengert, A. Alemka, J. Mantell, P. Verkade, and U. G. Knaus, "Mucosal reactive oxygen species decrease virulence by disrupting Campylobacter jejuni phosphotyrosine signaling," *Cell Host Microbe*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 47–59, 2012.
- [391] A. Levine, R. Tenhaken, R. Dixon, and C. Lamb, "H2O2 from the oxidative burst orchestrates the plant hypersensitive disease resistance response," *Cell*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 583–593, 1994.
- [392] J. Aguirre and J. D. Lambeth, "Nox enzymes from fungus to fly to fish and what they tell us about Nox function in mammals," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 1342–1353, 2010.
- [393] T. H. Truong and K. S. Carroll, "Redox regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling through cysteine oxidation," *Biochemistry*, vol. 51, no. 50, pp. 9954–9965, 2012.
- [394] J. M. Denu and K. G. Tanner, "Specific and reversible inactivation of protein tyrosine phosphatases by hydrogen peroxide: Evidence for a sulfenic acid intermediate and implications for redox regulation," *Biochemistry*, vol. 37, no. 16, pp. 5633–5642, 1998.
- [395] C. E. Paulsen, T. H. Truong, F. J. Garcia, A. Homann, V. Gupta, S. E. Leonard, and K. S. Carroll, "Peroxide-dependent sulfenylation of the EGFR catalytic site enhances kinase activity," *Nat. Chem. Biol.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 57–64, 2011.
- [396] W. Jeong, S. H. Bae, M. B. Toledano, and S. G. Rhee, "Role of sulfiredoxin as a regulator of peroxiredoxin function and regulation of its expression," *Free Radic. Biol. Med.*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp. 447–456, 2012.
- [397] A. Drazic and J. Winter, "The physiological role of reversible methionine oxidation," *Biochim. Biophys. Acta - Proteins Proteomics*, vol. 1844, no. 8, pp. 1367–1382, 2014.

- [398] K. M. Holmström and T. Finkel, "Cellular mechanisms and physiological consequences of redox-dependent signalling.," *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 411–21, 2014.
- [399] B. Rager-Zisman, M. Kunkel, Y. Tanaka, and B. R. Bloom, "Role of macrophage oxidative metabolism in resistance to vesicular stomatitis virus infection," *Infect. Immun.*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 1229–1237, 1982.
- [400] C. N. Paiva and M. T. Bozza, "Are reactive oxygen species always detrimental to pathogens?," *Antioxid. Redox Signal.*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1000–37, 2014.
- [401] H. Indukuri, S. M. Castro, S. M. Liao, L. A. Feeney, M. Dorsch, A. J. Coyle, R. P. Garofalo, A. R. Brasier, and A. Casola, "Ikkepsilon regulates viral-induced interferon regulatory factor-3 activation via a redox-sensitive pathway," *Virology*, vol. 353, no. 1, pp. 155–165, 2006.
- [402] D. Olagnier, S. Peri, C. Steel, N. van Montfoort, C. Chiang, V. Beljanski, M. Slifker, Z. He, C. N. Nichols, R. Lin, S. Balachandran, and J. Hiscott, "Cellular Oxidative Stress Response Controls the Antiviral and Apoptotic Programs in Dengue Virus-Infected Dendritic Cells," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 10, no. 12, p. e1004566, 2014.
- [403] M. Roederer, F. J. Staal, P. a Raju, S. W. Ela, L. a Herzenberg, and L. a Herzenberg, "Cytokine-stimulated human immunodeficiency virus replication is inhibited by N-acetyl-L-cysteine.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 87, no. 12, pp. 4884–4888, 1990.
- [404] J. Geiler, M. Michaelis, P. Naczk, A. Leutz, K. Langer, H. W. Doerr, and J. Cinatl, "N-acetyl-I-cysteine (NAC) inhibits virus replication and expression of pro-inflammatory molecules in A549 cells infected with highly pathogenic H5N1 influenza A virus," *Biochem. Pharmacol.*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 413–420, 2010.
- [405] F. Ye, F. Zhou, R. G. Bedolla, T. Jones, X. Lei, T. Kang, M. Guadalupe, and S. J. Gao, "Reactive oxygen species hydrogen peroxide mediates Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus reactivation from latency," *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 7, no. 5, p. e1002054, 2011.
- [406] T. Wakita, T. Pietschmann, T. Kato, T. Date, Z. Zhao, K. Murthy, A. Habermann, H. Kräusslich, M. Mizokami, R. Bartenschlager, and T. J. Liang, "Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome.," *Nat. Med.*, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 791–796, 2005.
- [407] D. H. Mathews, J. Sabina, M. Zuker, and D. H. Turner, "Expanded sequence dependence of thermodynamic parameters improves prediction of RNA secondary structure.," *J. Mol. Biol.*, vol. 288, no. 5, pp. 911–940, 1999.

- [408] A. Tuplin, D. J. Evans, and P. Simmonds, "Detailed mapping of RNA secondary structures in core and NS5B-encoding region sequences of hepatitis C virus by RNase cleavage and novel bioinformatic prediction methods," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 85, no. 10, pp. 3037–3047, 2004.
- [409] N. Soledad, R. De Mochel, S. Seronello, S. H. Wang, C. Ito, J. X. Zheng, T. J. Liang, J. D. Lambeth, and J. Choi, "Hepatocyte NAD(P)H oxidases as an endogenous source of reactive oxygen species during hepatitis C virus infection.," *Hepatology*, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 47–59, 2010.
- [410] R. S. Jr, Y. Loo, E. Foy, K. Li, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, S. M. Lemon, M. G. Jr, R. N. a Helicase, R. Sumpter, and M. Gale, "Regulating intracellular antiviral defense and permissiveness to hepatitis C virus RNA replication through a cellular RNA helicase, RIG-I.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 5, pp. 2689–2699, 2005.
- [411] S. Seronello, C. Ito, T. Wakita, and J. Choi, "Ethanol enhances hepatitis C virus replication through lipid metabolism and elevated NADH/NAD+.," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 285, no. 2, pp. 845–54, Jan. 2010.
- [412] T. Saito, D. M. Owen, J. Fuguo, J. Marcotrigiano, and M. Gale Jr, "Innate immunity induced by composition-dependent RIG-I recognition of Hepatitis C virus RNA," *Nature*, vol. 454, no. 7203, pp. 523–527, 2008.
- [413] S. A. Li JM, Mullen AM, Yun S, Wientjes F, Brouns GY, Thrasher AJ, "Essential Role of the NADPH Oxidase Subunit p47phox in Endothelial Cell Superoxide Production in Response to Phorbol Ester and Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha," *Circ. Res.*, vol. 90, no. 2, pp. 143–150, 2002.
- [414] T. Kato, T. Date, M. Miyamoto, Z. Zhao, M. Mizokami, and T. Wakita, "Nonhepatic cell lines HeLa and 293 support efficient replication of the hepatitis C virus genotype 2a subgenomic replicon.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 1, pp. 592–596, 2005.
- [415] E. Szabó, G. Lotz, C. Páska, A. Kiss, and Z. Schaff, "Viral hepatitis: new data on hepatitis C infection.," *Pathol. Oncol. Res.*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 215–221, 2003.
- [416] F. Poordad and J. M. Jr, "Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 364, no. 13, pp. 1195–1206, 2011.
- [417] I. M. Jacobson, J. G. McHutchison, G. Dusheiko, A. M. Di Bisceglie, K. R. Reddy, N. H. Bzowej, P. Marcellin, A. J. Muir, P. Ferenci, R. Flisiak, J. George, M. Rizzetto, D. Shouval, R. Sola, R. a Terg, E. M. Yoshida, N. Adda, L. Bengtsson, A. J. Sankoh, T. L. Kieffer, S. George, R. S. Kauffman, and S. Zeuzem, "Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic

hepatitis C virus infection.," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 364, no. 25, pp. 2405–2416, 2011.

- [418] M. P. Manns, J. G. McHutchison, S. C. Gordon, V. K. Rustgi, M. Shiffman, R. Reindollar, Z. D. Goodman, K. Koury, M.-H. Ling, and J. K. Albrecht, "Peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin compared with interferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin for initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a randomised trial," *Lancet*, vol. 358, no. 9286, pp. 958–965, 2001.
- [419] D. Moradpour, F. Penin, and C. M. Rice, "Replication of hepatitis C virus.," *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 453–463, 2007.
- [420] M. Gale and E. M. Foy, "Evasion of intracellular host defence by hepatitis C virus.," *Nature*, vol. 436, no. 7053, pp. 939–945, 2005.
- [421] C. Bain, P. Parroche, J. P. Lavergne, B. Duverger, C. Vieux, F. Komurian-pradel, C. Tre, L. Gebuhrer, G. Paranhos-baccala, C. B. L. I, T. Cervi, and B. L. Gerland, "Memory T-Cell-Mediated Immune Responses Specific to an Alternative Core Protein in Hepatitis C Virus Infection," *J. Virol.*, vol. 78, no. 19, pp. 10460–10469, 2004.
- [422] W. C.-M. Chuang and J.-P. Allain, "Differential reactivity of putative genotype 2 hepatitis C virus F protein between chronic and recovered infections.," *J. Gen. Virol.*, vol. 89, no. Pt 8, pp. 1890–900, Aug. 2008.
- [423] M. B. Iversen and S. R. Paludan, "Mechanisms of type III interferon expression.," *J. Interferon Cytokine Res.*, vol. 30, no. 8, pp. 573–8, Aug. 2010.
- [424] M. Otsuka, N. Kato, M. Moriyama, H. Taniguchi, Y. Wang, N. Dharel, T. Kawabe, and M. Omata, "Interaction between the HCV NS3 protein and the host TBK1 protein leads to inhibition of cellular antiviral responses," *Hepatology*, vol. 41, no. 5, pp. 1004–1012, 2005.
- [425] A. Breiman, N. Grandvaux, R. Lin, C. Ottone, S. Akira, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, J. Hiscott, and E. F. Meurs, "Inhibition of RIG-I-Dependent Signaling to the Interferon Pathway during Hepatitis C Virus Expression and Restoration of Signaling by IKK ε Inhibition of RIG-I-Dependent Signaling to the Interferon Pathway during Hepatitis C Virus Expression and Restorati," *J. Virol.*, vol. 79, no. 7, pp. 3969–3978, 2005.
- [426] S. Nitta, N. Sakamoto, M. Nakagawa, S. Kakinuma, K. Mishima, A. Kusano-Kitazume, K. Kiyohashi, M. Murakawa, Y. Nishimura-Sakurai, S. Azuma, M. Tasaka-Fujita, Y. Asahina, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, and M. Watanabe, "Hepatitis C virus NS4B protein targets STING and abrogates RIG-I-mediated type I interferon-dependent innate immunity," *Hepatology*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 46–58, 2013.

- [427] K. Inoue, K. Tsukiyama-Kohara, C. Matsuda, M. Yoneyama, T. Fujita, S. Kuge, M. Yoshiba, and M. Kohara, "Impairment of interferon regulatory factor-3 activation by hepatitis C virus core protein basic amino acid region 1," *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, vol. 428, no. 4, pp. 494–499, 2012.
- [428] A. Sundararajan, W. A. Michaud, Q. Qian, G. Stahl, and P. J. Farabaugh, "Near-cognate peptidyl-tRNAs promote +1 programmed translational frameshifting in yeast.," *Mol. Cell*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 1005– 1015, 1999.
- [429] K. Yuksek, W.-L. Chen, D. Chien, and J.-H. J. Ou, "Ubiquitinindependent degradation of hepatitis C virus F protein.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 83, no. 2, pp. 612–621, 2009.
- [430] Y. Morice, M. Ratinier, A. Miladi, S. Chevaliez, G. Germanidis, H. Wedemeyer, S. Laperche, J. P. Lavergne, and J. M. Pawlotsky, "Seroconversion to hepatitis C virus alternate reading frame protein during acute infection," *Hepatology*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 1449–1459, 2009.
- [431] F. Komurian-Pradel, A. Rajoharison, J. L. Berland, V. Khouri, M. Perret, M. Van Roosmalen, S. Pol, F. Negro, and G. Paranhos-Baccalà, "Antigenic relevance of F protein in chronic hepatitis C virus infection," *Hepatology*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 900–909, 2004.
- [432] F. J. Eng, J. L. Walewski, A. L. Klepper, S. L. Fishman, S. M. Desai, L. K. McMullan, M. J. Evans, C. M. Rice, and A. D. Branch, "Internal initiation stimulates production of p8 minicore, a member of a newly discovered family of hepatitis C virus core protein isoforms.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 83, no. 7, pp. 3104–3114, 2009.
- [433] L. K. McMullan, A. Grakoui, M. J. Evans, K. Mihalik, M. Puig, A. D. Branch, S. M. Feinstone, and C. M. Rice, "Evidence for a functional RNA element in the hepatitis C virus core gene.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A., vol. 104, no. 8, pp. 2879–2884, 2007.
- [434] N. Vassilaki, P. Friebe, P. Meuleman, S. Kallis, A. Kaul, G. Paranhos-Baccalà, G. Leroux-Roels, P. Mavromara, and R. Bartenschlager, "Role of the hepatitis C virus core+1 open reading frame and core cis-acting RNA elements in viral RNA translation and replication.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 82, no. 23, pp. 11503–11515, 2008.
- [435] T. Kawai and S. Akira, "TLR signaling.," *Cell Death Differ.*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 816–825, 2006.
- [436] X. Xu, X. Yu, X. Deng, M. Yue, J. Zhang, D. Zhu, Z. Zhou, X. Zhai, K. Xu, and Y. Zhang, "Hepatitis C virus alternate reading frame protein

decreases interferonalpha secretion in peripheral blood mononuclear cells," *Mol Med Rep.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 730–736, 2014.

- [437] W. M. Nauseef, "Biological roles for the NOX family NADPH oxidases," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 283, no. 25, pp. 16961–16965, 2008.
- [438] W. Dröge, "Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function.," *Physiol. Rev.*, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 47–95, 2002.
- [439] P. V. Vignais, "The superoxide-generating NADPH oxidase: Structural aspects and activation mechanism," *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.*, vol. 59, no. 9, pp. 1428–1459, 2002.
- [440] A. R. Cross and O. T. Jones, "The effect of the inhibitor diphenylene iodonium on the superoxide-generating system of neutrophils. Specific labelling of a component polypeptide of the oxidase.," *Biochem. J.*, vol. 237, no. 1, pp. 111–6, Jul. 1986.
- [441] W. M. Nauseef, "How human neutrophils kill and degrade microbes: An integrated view," *Immunol. Rev.*, vol. 219, no. 1, pp. 88–102, 2007.
- [442] F. W. Ru, Z. Ma, D. P. Myers, and L. S. Terada, "HIV-1 tat activates dual nox pathways leading to independent activation of ERK and JNK MAP kinases," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 282, no. 52, pp. 37412–37419, 2007.
- [443] K. Fink, a. Duval, a. Martel, a. Soucy-Faulkner, and N. Grandvaux,
  "Dual Role of NOX2 in Respiratory Syncytial Virus- and Sendai Virus-Induced Activation of NF- B in Airway Epithelial Cells," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 180, no. 10, pp. 6911–6922, 2008.
- [444] A. T. Comstock, S. Ganesan, A. Chattoraj, A. N. Faris, B. L. Margolis, M. B. Hershenson, and U. S. Sajjan, "Rhinovirus-induced barrier dysfunction in polarized airway epithelial cells is mediated by NADPH oxidase 1.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 85, no. 13, pp. 6795–6808, 2011.
- [445] D. M. Chiang E, Dang O, Anderson K, Matsuzawa A, Ichijo H, "Cutting edge: apoptosis-regulating signal kinase 1 is required for reactive oxygen species-mediated activation of IFN regulatory factor 3 by lipopolysaccharide.," *J. Immunol.*, vol. 176, no. 10, pp. 5720–5724, 2006.
- [446] M. C. Tal, M. Sasai, H. K. Lee, B. Yordy, G. S. Shadel, and A. Iwasaki, "Absence of autophagy results in reactive oxygen species-dependent amplification of RLR signaling.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 106, no. 8, pp. 2770–2775, 2009.
- [447] D. Soulat, T. Bürckstümmer, S. Westermayer, A. Goncalves, A. Bauch, A. Stefanovic, O. Hantschel, K. L. Bennett, T. Decker, and G. Superti-

Furga, "The DEAD-box helicase DDX3X is a critical component of the TANK-binding kinase 1-dependent innate immune response.," *EMBO J.*, vol. 27, no. 15, pp. 2135–2146, 2008.

[448] J.-F. Clément, A. Bibeau-Poirier, S.-P. Gravel, N. Grandvaux, E. Bonneil, P. Thibault, S. Meloche, and M. J. Servant, "Phosphorylation of IRF-3 on Ser 339 generates a hyperactive form of IRF-3 through regulation of dimerization and CBP association.," *J. Virol.*, vol. 82, no. 8, pp. 3984–3996, 2008.